博士論文

Perceived Family Support, Depression, and Suicidal Ideation Among People Living With HIV/AIDS

in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal

(ネパール国カトマンズ渓谷における HIV/AIDS 感染者

の家族支援認識、うつ症状、および自殺念慮)

網谷 レイチェル マリー

Rachel Marie Amiya

Perceived Family Support, Depression, and Suicidal Ideation Among People Living With HIV/AIDS in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal

ネパール国カトマンズ渓谷におけるHIV/AIDS感染者の家族支援認識、 うつ症状、および自殺念慮

> Department of Community and Global Health The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan Research supervisor: Prof. Masamine Jimba March 2014

> > 国際保健学専攻 東京大学 指導授員:神馬征峰 教授 2014年3月

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Medicine in partial fulfillment of requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> 平成 23 年 4 月通学 41-117101 網谷 レイチェル マリー Rachel Marie Amiya

© Rachel Marie Amiya, 2014

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	ii
Lists of Tables and Figures	v
List of Appendices	vii
Abbreviations	viii
Abstract	ix
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Depression, suicidal ideation, and HIV/AIDS	1
1.1.1. HIV/AIDS and mental health in Nepal	4
1.2. Social and family support as a psychosocial resource	6
1.2.1. The special role of family in times of illness	10
1.2.2. The double-edged sword of social and family interactions:	
negative support	11
1.3. Research framework and rationale	13
1.3.1. The HIV/AIDS context	15
1.3.2. The social support context: perceived family support	16
1.3.3. Methodological research gaps	17
1.3.4. The cultural context: Nepal	18
1.4. Study objectives	20
2. Methods	21
2.1. Study design and setting	21
2.2. Participants	22
2.3. Ethical considerations	24
2.4. Procedures	25
2.5. Measures	26
2.6. Statistical analysis	35
2.6.1. Description of variables and data screening	36
2.6.2. Cross-sectional analyses	37
2.6.3. Longitudinal analyses	37
2.6.4. Sample size power	42

3.	Results		43
	3.1. Des	scription of the study sample	43
	3.1.1.	Sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics	43
	3.1.2.	Depression and suicidality prevalence rates	43
	3.1.3.	Correlations between sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial variables	46
	3.1.4.	Correlations between covariates and major variables	48
	3.2. Cro	ss-sectional results	49
	3.2.1.	Factors associated with depression and suicidal ideation at baseline	49
	3.2.2.	Family support as a correlate of depression and suicidal ideation	53
	3.2.3.	Factors associated with perceived family support	57
	3.3. Lor	ngitudinal results	58
	3.3.1.	Participants lost and retained at follow-up	58
	3.3.2.	Assessment of changes in depression and PFS from baseline to 18-month follow-up	63
	3.3.3.	Influence of baseline perceived family support on adjusted follow-up depression	65
	3.3.4.	Structural equation models of PFS effects on depressive symptoms and suicidality	69
	3.3.5.	Influence of delta changes in PFS on incidence of depression and suicidal ideation	73
	3.3.6.	Influence of delta changes in PFS on delta changes in depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation	75
4.	Discuss	ion	77
	4.1. Cro	ss-sectional associations at baseline	78
	4.1.2.	Perceived family support	78
	4.1.2.	Sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics	80
	4.2. Lor	ngitudinal associations	83
	4.2.2.	Perceived family support	83
	4.2.2.	Sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics	86

4.3. Study limitations	87
4.4. Methodological strengths	92
4.5. Policy, practice, and research implications	93
4.5.1. Policy and practice implications	93
4.5.2. Directions for future research	97
Conclusions	99
Acknowledgments	102
Works Referenced	104
Appendices	129

Lists of Tables and Figures

Table		Page
1.	Correlation matrix among baseline Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale items	30
2.	Pattern and structure matrix for principal component analysis with oblimin rotation of two-factor solution of the Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale	32
3.	Background characteristics of participants at baseline	44
4.	Correlation matrix among baseline demographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics	47
5.	Multivariable analysis of factors associated with depression and suicidal ideation	51
6.	Multivariable analyses of individual perceived family support items associated with depression and suicidal ideation	55
7.	Multivariable analysis of factors associated with perceived family support	57
8.	Baseline background characteristics of participants who completed the 18- month follow-up interview compared to those who did not complete the follow-up interview	59
9.	Delta change scores for depressive symptoms and family support from baseline to 18-month follow-up	63
10.	Hierarchical regression results showing additional variance in adjusted follow-up depressive symptoms explained by perceived family support	
	score at baseline	65

11.	Hierarchical regression results showing additional variance in adjusted	
	follow-up depressive symptoms explained by positive and negative	
	perceived family support sub-scale scores at baseline	67
12.	Multivariable analyses of changes in perceived family support dimensions	
	from baseline to follow-up associated with incident depression and suicidal	
	ideation at 18-month follow-up	74
13.	Multivariable analyses of changes in perceived family support dimensions	
	from baseline to follow-up associated with changes in depressive	
	symptoms and suicidal thoughts from baseline to follow-up, with stratified	
	analysis by baseline PFS scores	76

Figure		Page
1.	Conceptual framework for the study	14
2.	Recruitment of participants and study completion	23
3.	Proposed model of direct relationship between perceived family support at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and 18-month follow-up	40
4.	Proposed model of moderated relationship between perceived family support sub-scale scores at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and 18-month follow-up	41
5.	Correlation between depressive symptoms at baseline and at 18-month follow-up	64
6.	Structural equation model findings for direct relationship between perceived family support at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and 18-month follow-up	70
7.	Structural equation model findings for moderated relationship between perceived family support sub-scale scores at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and 18-month follow-up	72

List of Appendices

Appendix		Page
1.	Map of the study area	129
2.	Ethical approval from the Nepal Health Research Council	130
3 a.	Information sheet for participants (English)	131
3b.	Information sheet for participants (Nepalese)	134
4a.	Informed consent form (English)	136
4b.	Informed consent form (Nepalese)	138
5a.	Study questionnaire (English)	139
5b.	Study questionnaire (Nepalese)	146
6.	Scree plot and table of unrotated loadings for principal component analysis with oblimin rotation of two-factor solution of Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale	153
7.	Reliability analysis of 7-item version of the Internalized AIDS-related Stigma Scale	154

Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
AOR	Adjusted Odds Ratio
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
AUC	Area Under the (Receiver Operating Characteristic) Curve
BDI	Beck Depression Inventory
BMI	Body Mass Index
CI	Confidence Interval
DALYs	Disability-Adjusted Life Years
DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual
HAART	Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IQR	Interquartile Range
LMICs	Low- and Middle-Income Countries
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
NRs	Nepalese Rupees
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PFS	Perceived Family Support
PLWHA	People Living With HIV/AIDS
SEM	Structural Equation Modeling
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
US \$	United States Dollars
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor
WHO	World Health Organization

Abstract

Background

Depression and suicidality occur frequently alongside HIV/AIDS, with profoundly detrimental impacts. Yet modifiable psychosocial correlates remain underexplored, particularly in low-resource contexts. This study examined influences of perceived family support (PFS) on depression and suicidality among people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) in Nepal.

Methods

A prospective cohort study collected data from 322 PLWHA residing in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. Multiple logistic regression analyses identified cross-sectional correlates of Beck Depression Inventory (BDI)-Ia-defined depression and suicidal ideation. Linear regressions assessed variance in adjusted follow-up depressive symptoms explained by total PFS and negative/positive PFS sub-scale scores, along with impacts of PFS changes on depression and suicidality changes at 18-month follow-up. Structural equation models further examined concurrent and prospective associations among variables.

Results

Baseline depression and suicidal ideation occurred in 25.5% and 14.0% of participants, respectively, with significantly lower rates among those with total PFS scores in highest (depression: AOR=.16, p<.001; suicidality: AOR=.35, p=.050) and middle (depression: AOR=.34; p=.003; suicidality: AOR=.43, p=.049) tertiles relative to lowest-tertile scorers. Among 254 participants retained at follow-up, baseline total and positive PFS inversely predicted follow-up depressive symptoms (p<.05). Prospective increases/decreases in total

PFS correlated with lower/higher follow-up depression incidence (p<.05), while changes in *negative* PFS predicted follow-up suicidal ideation (p<.001).

Conclusions

Findings highlight the importance of both supportive and *un*supportive family interactions in determining experiences of depression and suicidality among PLWHA. Psychosocial interventions to mobilize positive family resources and minimize negative dynamics may help improve mental health and, thereby, clinical outcomes and quality of life for PLWHA in Nepal and similar settings.

KEY WORDS: depression; suicidal ideation; HIV/AIDS; social support; family relations; Nepal; longitudinal studies; prospective studies; cohort studies

1. Introduction

1.1. Depression, suicidal ideation, and HIV/AIDS

Expanding access to highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) has transformed HIV from an imminent death sentence into something akin to a chronic disease in many parts of the world, high- and low-income alike.^{1,2} Yet living longer may not always mean living *well*. With the improved health outlook and prolonged life expectancy facilitated through treatment advances,³⁻⁷ mental health issues are coming to the fore as a critical concern among people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA).⁸⁻¹¹

Since the earliest stages of the epidemic, HIV has been associated with considerable mental stress and elevated psychiatric comorbidity. Especially common among the several mental health problems comorbid with HIV/AIDS are depression and suicidal ideation.⁸⁻¹⁶ Though reported rates of depression in PLWHA vary widely depending on regional context, diagnostic criteria, methods of measurement, and study sample, estimates are consistently high across countries - between 12% and 71% as measured by the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) alone.^{9,17} Against an estimated lifetime depressive disorder prevalence of 6.7% in the general population,¹⁸ estimated depression prevalence rates (both lifetime and current) are at least two to four times higher in PLWHA relative to general community samples and comparable HIV-negative individuals.^{9,12,17} On top of this, the greater prevalence of comorbid psychiatric conditions among PLWHA contributes to an elevated suicide risk.¹⁹⁻²¹ Suicidal ideation, attempts, and completions remain alarmingly common and, compared to the general population, more than three times higher among PLWHA,^{11,15,19,22-25} despite a recorded decline in suicide rates since the advent of HAART in the 1990s to levels comparable with those of other chronic disease-afflicted populations.^{13,15,19,26}

Worldwide, mental health problems are a serious and growing public health concern – constituting the brunt of the non-fatal burden of disease in 2010. Under this umbrella, depressive disorders represent the leading cause of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) attributable to mental, neurological, and substance use disorders in high-income and low-and middle-income countries (LMICs) alike.²⁷ Suicide, meanwhile, accounts for roughly one million deaths annually worldwide.²⁸ Yet in the context of HIV, the ramifications are uniquely deleterious and important clinically.

Depressive symptoms in PLWHA have been associated with adverse medical outcomes including greater risk for comorbid disorders, faster progression from HIV to AIDS, and higher mortality from both AIDS-related and non-AIDS-related causes.^{9,29-36} Moreover, PLWHA with depression are more likely to exhibit poor adherence to medical appointments and antiretroviral therapy (ART)^{37,38} and more prone to HIV risk behaviors.^{9,39-45} Medication non-adherence is particularly problematic in the context of HIV/AIDS, as sub-optimal adherence can promote viral drug resistance⁴⁶ and lead to poor immune and viral load response.⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹

Conversely, PLWHA who are effectively treated for their depressive symptoms are more likely to adhere to ART over time, with sustained virologic suppression, and to enjoy better health, higher quality of life, and improved sexual risk behaviors.⁵⁰ Failure to recognize and address depression in the context of HIV may thus endanger not only the individual, but the community as well. On top of this, high rates of suicidal ideation among PLWHA are a serious concern in that suicidal thoughts generally precede suicidal behaviors.⁵¹ Such psychosocial health problems are critically important to address among PLWHA, particularly inasmuch as they can act syndemically to the detriment of efforts to curb HIV.⁵²⁻⁵⁹ The causal associations that account for linkages between HIV/AIDS and poor mental health are complex, still incompletely understood, and likely characterized by a bidirectional cause-effect dimension.^{9,60,61} On the one hand, people with baseline mental illness are at higher risk for contracting HIV through heightened social vulnerability, poor health-seeking behavior and access to treatment,^{62,64} associated substance misuse, and an increased propensity toward HIV risk behaviors.^{9,44,52-58,65-72} Elevated rates of depression observed after HIV infection may thus reflect new episodes of pre-existing disorders rather than new-onset depression. Yet on the other hand, PLWHA are also more susceptible to developing psychiatric illnesses due to a complex tangle of social, psychological, and biological factors.^{9,60}

Adjusting to and living with an HIV diagnosis entails profound physical and psychosocial stressors that naturally strain mental health. PLWHA face a number of the same challenges confronted by other chronic disease-affected populations, including long-term discomfort, physical deterioration,⁷³⁻⁷⁸ complex medical treatment regimens, medication side effects,⁷⁹⁻⁸² illness-related changes in social roles and lifestyle patterns, stigma and discrimination,⁸³⁻⁹⁰ financial and material resource concerns, stress and traumatic events,⁹¹⁻⁹⁴ and the prospect of impending death.⁹⁵⁻⁹⁷ Living with HIV/AIDS may thus bring about dramatic shifts in an individual's self-perception, relationship to others, and overall sense of meaning and purpose.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰¹ These adjustments can be stressful and cause a certain amount of despair or sadness that, over time, may lead to depression and other serious mental health complications.

On top of acute and ongoing psychosocial stressors, actual neurological changes in the physical and chemical structures of the central nervous system that occur as a result of the HIV virus, opportunistic infections, or related treatments might predispose PLWHA to developing a depressive illness.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁷ Certain antiretroviral medications, notably the non-

nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor efavirenz, have been linked to central nervous system toxicity, depressive symptoms, and worsening suicidal ideation.^{81,108-111} In individuals with more advanced HIV/AIDS, some depressive symptoms may further be linked to disease progression^{31,112} or co-infection with hepatitis C virus.¹¹³⁻¹¹⁶ Taken together, these psychological, biological, and social vulnerability factors could accentuate the negative impact of stressful life events and promote cognitive and behavioral patterns of responding that increase risk for both depression and suicidality in PLWHA.

Despite growing recognition of the diverse and interrelated factors that mediate the interplay between HIV and psychological disturbances, adequate integration of mental health services into the continuum of care for PLWHA remains sorely lacking.¹⁰ Moreover, most of the available data on correlates of poor mental health in this population are generated from high-income countries, though the risks may be heightened in LMICs due to higher levels of poverty, political instability, exposure to trauma, and lower access to services and treatment, among other factors.

1.1.1. HIV/AIDS and mental health in Nepal

Among the 43,239 adult (15-49 years) PLWHA residing in Nepal as of 2011,¹¹⁷ a number of qualitative and quantitative studies have already highlighted signs of deeply rooted and widespread psychological distress.^{95,118-120} One study, utilizing a grounded theory approach to explore the lived experience of HIV/AIDS in Nepal, underlined the immediate and longlasting psychosocial effects of the disease, including a prolonged "death phobia" – in the sense of both physical death and a more abstract "social death" – and heavy burden of care. Moreover, their HIV-positive diagnosis led some men to take fatalistic approaches, such as resorting to drugs and alcohol as coping mechanisms, while women were more likely to succumb to suicidal ideation and attempts.⁹⁵

Its recognized public health importance notwithstanding, mental health remains a low priority in most LMICs, and unmet needs for treatment are pervasive.¹²¹⁻¹²³ In Nepal, among the poorest countries in South Asia,¹²⁴ mental health is a largely neglected area and faces numerous barriers to improvement, including social stigma, inadequate personnel and health system resources, and a virtual absence of formal mental health services in isolated rural areas, where approximately 90% of the population resides.¹²⁵ No national epidemiological data on Nepal's rates of mental illness, including depression and suicide, have been published. Overall, less than 1% of the national health budget is allocated to mental health, and there is no mental health legislation.^{126,127} Though a national mental health policy was adopted in 1997 that proposed mental health as an element of primary care, little progress has been made in implementing this policy framework, and human resources for identifying and treating mental health problems remain inadequate. In the Kathmandu Valley, there was just one psychiatrist per 39,000 people, one psychologist per 126,000 people, and one psychosocial counselor per 35,000 people in 2010; outside of Kathmandu, the situation is even more dire.¹²⁸

Beyond the lack of available mental health treatment resources, Asian cultural values of self-reliance and reservation, and a fear of shaming the family, may keep those with mental health problems from seeking assistance – besides which depression, along with other forms of mental illness, is not commonly recognized as a treatable disease entity in many Asian cultures, Nepal included.^{129,130} Instead, mental illness is widely considered an out-of-control behavior, a sign of weakness, a danger to society, and something threatening to bring disgrace to the family.¹³⁰⁻¹³² In Nepal, as in many other Asian societies, mental illness is a highly stigmatized condition, in part, because an individual's ailments or behavior are perceived to affect the whole family, bringing the threat of social, economic, employment, and educational marginalization.^{130,133} The "shame" of a family member considered *paagal*, or "mad" (the local slang for mentally troubled, which encompasses

severe depression), can, for instance, affect other family members' marriage prospects because of the assumption that "madness" is contagious.¹³⁰ Moreover, long-standing cultural practices and even some laws discriminate against those with mental problems. For example, the husband of a woman deemed *paagal* is entitled to divorce or marry a second wife,¹²⁵ and families can withhold portions of land from *paagal* members.¹³⁴

On top of the stigma associated with mental illness in Nepalese culture, there are many layers of stigma associated with HIV status in Nepal, intertwined with deeply rooted religious and cultural associations. The general public perception is that HIV transmission affects sex workers, their clients, those who seek intercourse outside marital relationships, and injecting drug users (IDUs) – all behaviors that invite considerable stigma as it is.^{135,136} PLWHA in Nepal may thus face discrimination from society, health facilities, and family members alike. In families, forms of discrimination may include restrictions on venturing outside the home, limited exposure to media, use of different utensils for eating purposes, and financial constraints. Female PLWHA in particular may also be prone to experience of violence in the home.^{137,138} Such conditions pose a further major barrier to necessary psychosocial and mental health treatment for PLWHA in Nepal, highlighting the great need for potential environmental support mechanisms to be identified and enhanced.

1.2. Social and family support as a psychosocial resource

Countervailing the heavy burden of mental health comorbidities associated with a chronic illness such as HIV/AIDS, social and family support may serve as a source of psychological resilience and exert a buffering effect to help minimize psychological stress.¹³⁹ Such psychosocial resources may thus present a promising mechanism through which the mental health needs of PLWHA might fruitfully be addressed, with especially important applications in low-resource settings like Nepal.

As outlined by Cohen, Underwood, and Gottlieb,¹⁴⁰ the construct of social support can be broadly conceptualized as the "social resources that persons perceive to be available or that are actually provided to them by non-professionals in the context of both formal support groups and informal helping relationships". Although specific definitions of social support vary in the literature, most include both tangible components (e.g., financial assistance and physical aid) and intangible components (e.g., emotional encouragement and guidance).¹⁴¹ House, Landis, and Umberson¹⁴² outlined in 1988 the following four broad types of social support, the spectrum of which still forms the basis for research conducted today:

- Instrumental support (also referred to as tangible support) involves the provision of tangible assistance, in the form of financial aid, material goods, labor, time, or any direct help.^{142,143}
- 2. *Emotional support* entails both verbal and nonverbal demonstrations of love, caring, encouragement, esteem, empathy, and group belonging.^{142,143}
- 3. *Informational support* involves the provision of information, education, advice, or guidance toward managing personal and health-related problems.^{142,143}
- 4. Appraisal support (also referred to as affiliative support or social integration) involves the number of social relationships an individual maintains with others having mutual interests. This type of support also provides information relevant to self-evaluation in the form of affirmation, feedback, and social comparison.¹⁴²

Assessments of social support have also focused on the source of support, which can include family, friends, coworkers, and community members alike. Overall, different types of social resources may serve different purposes with varying degrees of impact depending on the nature of the stressor and the type of support needed.

To further dissect the social support construct, a synthesis of current literature renders the consensus that there are at least two conceptually distinct aspects of the social support system: *structural* social support (i.e., quantity and density of the social network) and *functional* social support (i.e., quality and diversity of the supportive functions of the social network).¹³⁹ Structural support measures the extent (i.e., size and strength) of supportive resources consisting of the network of relationships that bind an individual to the surrounding community, whereas functional support is defined in the *perceived* or *actual* support received – be it instrumental, emotional, or informational.¹³⁹ In general, functional measures of support are considered to hold more relevance in actively buffering the effects of stressors on well-being, and have been found to exert more enduring direct effects on positive affect.^{139,144} In many cases, the perception of available functional support may be even more important that the actual receipt or utility thereof.^{139,145,147}

Overall, strong, supportive interactions and the presence of supportive relationships with others are regarded as universal, fundamental human needs and a critical element to achieving optimal physical and mental health.¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵¹ In this, researchers have proposed both main effects¹⁵²⁻¹⁵⁴ and buffering effects^{139,152,155} of social support. The *main effects model* hypothesizes that social support provides beneficial effects on mental health independent of life stressors. These beneficial main effects are thought to stem from a sense of wellbeing due to group acceptance, assistance, and stable environments. The *buffering* or *mediating model*, meanwhile, posits that social support alleviates the impact of life stressors on mental health. Within this framework, social support mitigates the adverse effects of stressors on depression only in times of high stress, thus significantly reducing the psychological impacts thereof.

Whatever its mode of action, social support is associated with a decreased risk of mental and physical illness, as well as lower mortality,¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁹ and positively affects

cardiovascular, endocrine, and immune functioning in the general population.¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶² Those with higher levels of social support are better equipped to cope with stress,^{139,163} exhibit improved medication adherence,¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁶ and experience higher quality of life.¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹ Even apart from actual receipt of support, the *perception* of available social support itself has shown a consistent direct beneficial impact on health and mood^{139,170} and appears to buffer against the risk for depressive episodes or suicidality conferred by chronic disease and other stressful life events.¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷³

Recognizing the potential in this observed buffering effect, the role of social support in chronic diseases has been extensively researched over the past several decades. Numerous studies demonstrate the positive impacts of social support on adjustment to and coping with physical illness,^{174,175} recovery, positive immune response, and reduced risk of mortality.^{142,176,177} Overall, social support is associated with better outcomes and improved survival in chronic illnesses including cancer, end-stage renal disease, coronary heart disease, and diabetes.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸¹ Though the mechanism by which social support exerts such salutary effects is not fully understood, practical aid in achieving compliance, better access to health care, improved psychosocial and nutritional status and immune function, and decreased levels of stress may all play key roles.^{182,183} Lack of perceived social support and lower perceived adequacy of such psychosocial resources, meanwhile, have been linked to poorer mental and physical health^{184,185} as well as poorer clinical outcomes,¹⁸⁶ and can serve as a significant predictor of psychological distress in chronic disease populations.^{147,187,188}

In this vein, the social environment of PLWHA in particular has been the subject of increased attention,^{189,190} as it is believed that the quality of social relationships may be particularly important for successful psychological adaptation to and coping with an HIV diagnosis.^{33,169,191} Indeed, the World Health Organization (WHO) has recommended that concerted efforts be made to integrate the unique psychosocial needs of PLWHA into HIV

care and treatment.¹⁹² Social support in PLWHA is associated with improvements in access and adherence to ART, medication uptake, retention in care, physical functioning, CD4 cell progression, virologic suppression, body weight, and mortality.¹⁹³ On top of such benefits, numerous studies have demonstrated a strong inverse relationship between supportive social interactions and psychiatric disorders in diverse samples of PLWHA; those satisfied with the amount of support available to them tend to experience less psychological distress, higher quality of life, and higher self-esteem,^{85,147,194-198} whereas those who perceive low levels of social support experience increased distress.¹⁹⁹ In the context of HIV/AIDS, the various functions performed by the social support, a sympathetic sounding board for emotional feelings and choices (emotional support), and health-related and other information (informational support) – each of which may be needed in varying proportions at different stages of the disease.²⁰⁰

1.2.1. The special role of family in times of illness

Among the different categories of social resources, support from family is generally one of the most important factors affecting how patients adapt to stressors like illness.^{201,202} Family is frequently the main source of support in times of illness, whether through instrumental support, such as preparing meals and administering medication, or through emotional support.²⁰³ Overall, family relationships have greater emotional intensity than do most other social relationships, and research suggests that there is a substantive, positive association between the specific bonds within families and chronic disease management and outcomes.

Numerous studies have identified the importance of the family environment as a social support resource for those suffering from a chronic illness, in which context the

perception of high levels of family support may be protective against the potential psychopathological effects stemming from the physical and social impacts of the disease. In cancer and end-stage renal disease patients, higher levels of family support are associated with lower levels of depression,²⁰⁴⁻²⁰⁶ while lack of family support has been linked with increased suicide rates in chronic disease patients.^{207,208} Similarly, one study among HIV-positive women in the U.S. found that those reporting suicidal thoughts also reported less family cohesion, while higher levels of family cohesion buffered the suicidal thought-inducing potential of HIV-related symptoms.⁸⁸ In this context, social support – and perceived functional support from family in particular – would appear to represent a clear mechanism through which the mental health needs of PLWHA could fruitfully and feasibly be addressed, especially in low-income communities with poor structural facilities,^{209,210} where dependence on informal support networks is likely to be heavier.

1.2.2. The double-edged sword of social and family interactions: negative support

While the beneficial impacts of support from social and family networks are widely recognized, the same intimate relationships can also be a source of tension and discord. Yet it is only recently that investigators have begun to examine the negative along with the positive dimensions of social interaction in teasing out the link between social support and mental health. Though the components that underlie the negative side of social relationships are poorly defined in the literature, researchers have typically distinguished social negativity from the mere absence of aid and from efforts to provide support which have negative consequences, defining negative social interactions as affectively unpleasant, resistive, conflictual, hostile, or hurtful transactions.²¹¹

Although negative interactions typically occur with less frequency compared to positive exchanges with network members,²¹² they have the potential to detract

considerably from health and well-being. Previous research identifies negative interaction as a risk factor for poor psychological functioning,²¹³ psychological distress,²¹⁴ mood and anxiety disorders,²¹⁵⁻²¹⁹ declines in physical functioning,²²⁰ and even mortality.²²¹ In fact, most researchers classify negative interaction as an acute source of stress or as a chronic strain, and studies of common everyday stressors suggest that those of an interpersonal nature (particularly within family relationships) arouse more distress than do other kinds of stressors.^{222,223} Additionally, the adverse effects of interpersonal stressors persist over several days, whereas the effects of other stressors typically dissipate more quickly.²²²

A small but growing body of empirical research examining the simultaneous impacts of positive and negative aspects of social support suggests that these types of social exchanges are distinct, frequently co-occur, and have opposing effects on mental health outcomes.²²⁴ Some of this work has demonstrated that negative social interactions may, in fact, have more potent effects on psychological well-being than positive interactions.^{219,224} It has even been argued that the *absence* of negative social interactions might be yet more important for health and well-being than the *presence* of positive social interactions.²²⁵ Other studies, meanwhile, report a stronger effect from positive interactions on psychological well-being,²¹⁴ whereas still others report equal effects of the two constructs.²²⁶⁻²²⁸ Although empirical evidence is mixed, previous research has repeatedly posited the *stress-buffering* effect of positive social interactions and the *stressexacerbating* effect of negative social interactions.^{229,230} Moreover, studies of the interactive effects of social support and social undermining have further conceptualized negative support as a stressor in its own right and social support as a moderator of the effects thereof – a phenomenon Walen and Lachman²³¹ have termed the *joint effects hypothesis*.

Studies of negative interactions alongside positive dimensions of support have much to offer toward revealing additional linkages between experiences of family support and

mental health. This is particularly true in the context of the unique lived experiences and myriad other psychosocial stressors confronted by PLWHA – and where the hardship of HIV-related stigma in combination with the burden of care may place a considerable added strain on existing relationships.²³²

1.3. Research framework and rationale

Advances in HIV treatment have created the need for a shift in the research away from an emphasis on coping with a disease that was invariably fatal to gaining a better understanding of how PLWHA adapt and recover through ongoing treatment and long-term survival. Identifying the modifiable psychosocial risk and resistance factors associated with mental health problems can help to target those who are particularly vulnerable and to identify and implement sound proactive intervention strategies.

As elaborated upon in previous sections, research to date has shown that adverse mental health outcomes in PLWHA may be influenced by a complex interaction of genetic, biochemical, and environmental factors. In particular, environmental factors may encompass a wide array of sociodemographic (e.g., age, sex, education), clinical (e.g., symptom burden, CD4 cell count, viral load), health behavioral (e.g., substance use, diet, physical activity), and psychosocial (e.g., social support, stigma, stress) dimensions. Within this broader framework of risk and protective factors, the present study focuses on family support, an understudied through potentially important sub-category of social support, as a modifiable psychosocial factor potentially impacting psychological distress in PLWHA. Hence, the overarching research framework was formulated as depicted in **Figure 1** to guide the present study, with particular focus on those pathways highlighted in bolded colors.

Figure 1. Conceptual framework for the study



Namely, based on available evidence, it appears that, in PLWHA, (i) psychological distress (e.g., depression, suicidal ideation) is a function of an interactive set of sociodemographic, genetic and biochemical, clinical, and health behavioral characteristics along with key psychosocial factors; (ii) both depression/suicidal ideation and perceived family support (PFS) correlate with sociodemographic, genetic and biochemical, clinical, and health behavioral characteristics; (iii) perceived family support is likely to be a particularly important psychosocial variable predicting psychological distress, both contemporaneous and lagged; (iv) positive dimensions of perceived family support may have an inverse association with depression/suicidal ideation, acting as a social resource; (v) negative dimensions of perceived family support may have a direct association with depression/suicidal ideation, acting as a social stressor; and (vi) positive perceived family support may have a buffering effect on the aforementioned potential impact of negative perceived family support on depression/suicidal ideation (*joint effects hypothesis*).

While research has highlighted the important mental health impacts of sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and other psychosocial factors in the context of HIV/AIDS, few studies so far have examined the multi-dimensional impacts of family support. Moreover, studies examining suicidal ideation along with depressive symptoms as longitudinal outcomes of both positive and negative dimensions of support have been sparse, particularly in the developing country context.^{119,147,188,199,233-236}

1.3.1. The HIV/AIDS context

The need to consider the influences of both supportive and unsupportive interactions on mental health is particularly salient when examining potentially stigmatizing diseases such as HIV/AIDS, which may impact directly on the support available and create high risk for

social isolation, even within families. Indeed, those diagnosed with HIV face what has been called the "double stigma",²³⁷ with the stigma attached to HIV itself layered upon the pre-existing stigma associated with membership of the marginalized groups most at risk of contracting the disease.²³⁸ This makes HIV unique and unlike other progressive and terminal diseases in its psychosocial ramifications.

Discrimination because of HIV status may influence the presence and perceptions of supportive social and family relations, both for those giving and those receiving support. Moreover, close relationships between family and friends may be broken as a result of the onset and progression of the disease, and PLWHA are often alienated, both emotionally and geographically, from the natural support group of their own families. The social unacceptability of an HIV diagnosis is reported to be one of the major concerns of PLWHA,^{239,240} and may lead to self-imposed familial estrangement, decreased socialization, or withdrawal.^{240,242} Previous studies have shown lower levels of emotional and instrumental support from family among PLWHA,²⁴³ and, compared to men with cancer, men with HIV/AIDS have reported lower satisfaction with social support, even when the actual availability of support is not significantly lower.²⁴⁴

1.3.2. The social support context: perceived family support

Importantly, sustained interpersonal strains tend to be more characteristic of relationships with family than with non-related peers overall, as friendships high in unsupportive elements are generally less likely to be maintained relative to the more obligatory bonds of family.²⁴⁵ Indeed, clinical and empirical findings suggest that family can be a significant source of stress among PLWHA.²⁴⁶⁻²⁵⁰ Yet few studies to date have considered the way that each discrete aspect of perceived family support, both negative and positive, may differentially impact mental health. Moreover, little research has conceptualized perceived

family support in terms of specific supportive or unsupportive behaviors as in the present study. By asking participants to judge the frequency with which they have experienced or felt each of a set of interpersonal interactions falling into the two categories of functional social support generally deemed most impactful on mental health – emotional and instrumental support – along with several items measuring difficult or problematic interactions (e.g., feeling disliked, experiencing physical abuse), a fuller picture of the types of family support perceived as most helpful or harmful among PLWHA may be gained. Such information could be of particular value in the design of targeted psychosocial interventions in affected populations.

1.3.3. Methodological research gaps

The few previous studies on the mental health impacts of family support have been limited by their reliance on qualitative²⁴¹ or cross-sectional data^{119,236,242,251,252} and the fact that most have come from treatment settings,^{188,253} which often cater almost exclusively to a single transmission group, many of which are at a symptomatic stage of the disease. There is thus a clear need for longitudinal data in community-based settings to provide stronger evidence on temporal relationships between negative and positive dimensions of family support and psychological distress among a more diverse sample of PLWHA.

Utilizing longitudinal data permits measurements of risk factors for depression and suicidal ideation at earlier points in time. This design allows for stronger inferences to be drawn regarding temporal ordering and thus facilitates a closer exploration of whether perceived family support is actually a determining factor in the experience of depression and suicidal ideation among PLWHA. In this way, a better understanding of the manifestations and meanings of perceived family support – in forms both positive and negative – as a potentially modifiable risk factor influencing depression and suicidality in

the context of HIV/AIDS may be achieved. Although longitudinal designs are not unambiguous in determining the direction of causality, they represent an improvement over cross-sectional designs in this respect. Further, the importance of longitudinal designs is underscored by evidence showing that main and joint effects of social support and undermining on depressive symptoms differ when assessed cross-sectionally and longitudinally.

1.3.4. The cultural context: Nepal

In Nepal, as in much of South Asia, very few epidemiological studies have been conducted on psychological disorders in the general population, let alone in vulnerable groups such as PLWHA. In the context of the limited resources of LMICs, mental health remains a low priority in general, both in policy and in research terms.¹²⁶ In particular, almost all studies of suicidal ideation, attempts, and completions have taken place in the developed as opposed to the developing world, where 85% of suicides occur and where the brunt of the HIV burden lies.¹³

The myopically Western-focused perspective in much of the mental health literature may be problematic when extrapolating to other populations, as fundamental differences in the historical, cultural, and sociological fabric of a country can come into heavy play and limit generalizability of findings.^{254,255} In North America and Western Europe, for example, suicide has traditionally been associated with mental illnesses, particularly depression and alcohol abuse. However, studies in Asian countries suggest that different risk factors play a greater role in suicide, including impulsiveness, financial stress, and interpersonal conflict.¹³ There is thus a need for research studying factors at play in these populations, as there is much to be learned and understood regarding the potentially unique role that social and family relationships play in contributing to dimensions of mental health.

In the same vein, the restricted focus of much of the social support research, the vast majority of which has been conducted in Western Europe and North America, demands expanded attention in that differences in support-seeking and perceptions of support are closely interwoven into culture.²⁵⁶⁻²⁵⁸ Given that much of the research on social support has been conducted in Western cultures, which tend to place particular value on independence²⁵⁹ whereas many other cultures are more rooted in interdependence, it is important to understand how and whether the protective factors associated with social support differ across cultures. In Asian societies, for example, familial relationships are typically marked by a higher level of responsibility and obligation; consequently, individuals may be more reticent to discuss problems openly out of concern for the potential negative ramifications to the group.²⁶⁰ In traditional Nepali society, pursuing one's own goals is often superseded by a collectivist emphasis on the family welfare and serving the needs of family members. Hence, valued personal traits include "sacrifice for the common good" and "maintaining harmonious relationships with close others",²⁶¹ part of a distinctively collectivist orientation.

Given the high cultural value assigned to family in more collectivistic, interdependent societies and the greater extent to which kin are bound to one another to fulfill emotional and instrumental needs,^{262,263} perceived support from family may well be equally or more important to well-being in such settings. In this context, a better understanding of the role of perceived family support as a potentially modifiable factor influencing depression and suicidality among PLWHA in the underexplored context of an Asian LMIC such as Nepal is needed toward developing appropriate psychosocial intervention approaches for those most in need.

1.4. Study objectives

Within this framework, the broad objective of the present study is to contribute stronger evidence on the specific elements of perceived family support (i.e., positive vs. negative dimensions, along with specific supportive or unsupportive behaviors) impacting, both directly and in their interactive effects, on concurrent and future experiences of depression and suicidal ideation using longitudinal data collected from a community-based sample of PLWHA in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. Specifically, this research aims:

- To describe depression, suicidal ideation, and perceived family support in adult PLWHA and changes therein from one point to another over time.
- 2. To assess the concurrent (cross-sectional) associations of depression and suicidal ideation with perceived family support elements.
- To determine the extent to which perceived family support dimensions at one point account prospectively for variations in subsequent experience of depression and suicidal ideation.
- To examine potential moderating interactions between positive and negative dimensions of perceived family support in predicting subsequent experiences of depression and suicidal ideation.
- 5. To determine whether changes in perceived family support dimensions from one point to another predict incident depression and suicidal ideation, as well as continuous changes in the severity of depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts over the same period.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design and setting

This prospective cohort study surveyed a community-based sample²⁶⁴⁻²⁶⁶ of 322 HIVpositive residents of the Kathmandu Valley in Nepal (see **Appendix 1**), among the poorest countries in South Asia.¹²⁴ Baseline and 18-month follow-up interviews were conducted face-to-face during February-March 2010 and June-August 2011, respectively, as part of an ongoing Healthy Living Intervention Study. Data were collected at both time points using pre-tested, structured, Nepali language questionnaires that included measures of depressive symptoms, suicidal ideation, perceived family support, and other demographic, clinical, and psychosocial characteristics. Through such a longitudinal design, the study was able to statistically control for prior levels of depression and to determine whether perceived family support, along with changes therein, prospectively predicted future depression and suicidality levels as well as incident depression and suicidal ideation at follow-up.

A small, landlocked country in South Asia, Nepal was placed at 157 out of 187 countries worldwide on the most recent Human Development Index ranking, putting the country above only Pakistan in comparison with other South Asian countries in terms of social and economic development.¹²⁴ About one-third of the Nepali population lives below the poverty line,²⁶⁷ with wide gaps between rich and poor. The life expectancy at birth is 68 years and the literacy rate is 59%.²⁶⁸

From its first reported case of HIV in 1988, Nepal has faced an escalating concentrated epidemic, with key at-risk populations – men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, female sex workers, and male labor migrants – constituting 58% of all

adult (15-49 years) HIV infections.²⁶⁹ As of 2011, national estimates indicate that approximately 43,000 adults are HIV-infected, yielding an overall adult prevalence of about 0.3% in the general population.²⁶⁹ Of those eligible for treatment, 23.7% were receiving ART in 2011.²⁷⁰ At the end of 2006, almost 16% of the country's HIV-positive population was residing in the Kathmandu Valley,²⁷¹ a region in central Nepal comprising three densely populated districts (Kathmandu, Lalitpur, and Bhaktapur) with an estimated population of around 2.5 million as of 2011.²⁷²

2.2. Participants

Participants were recruited between February and March 2010 in the baseline phase and between June and August 2011 during follow-up. Potentially eligible participants were identified and referred through staff members of five local non-governmental organizations (NGOs) working within HIV-positive communities in the study area. Individuals recruited for participation fulfilled the following inclusion criteria: (1) aged 18 to 60 years, (2) selfreported diagnosis of HIV-positive status, and (3) willing provision of written informed consent for voluntary participation.

Details of the recruitment are presented in **Figure 1**. A total of 322 PLWHA completed the baseline interview and were included in the final cross-sectional analyses, of whom 254 (78.9%) completed the 18-month follow-up interview and were included in the final longitudinal analyses. The 68 individuals lost to follow-up, meanwhile, were excluded from longitudinal analyses.



Figure 2. Recruitment of participants and study completion

2.3. Ethical considerations

Both the Research Ethics Committee of the Graduate School of Medicine at the University of Tokyo and the Nepal Health Research Council reviewed and approved all study protocols and procedures (see **Appendix 2**).

Participation in the study was voluntary. All participants were briefed on the study procedures with the aid of a prepared information sheet (see **Appendix 3**), after which each was asked to provide written informed consent (see **Appendix 4**) prior to being interviewed at both baseline and follow-up. If a patient scored above the established threshold on the depression scale or reported suicidal ideation, at either the baseline or follow-up assessment, psychological referral was duly provided. Moreover, an HIV specialist physician was among the research team members and available for consultation as needed.

Any questions or concerns arising at any stage of the interview process were addressed by the investigator or research assistant. Participants were further informed that their decision about whether to participate in the study would not affect the subsequent care and services received from the NGO, and were advised of their right to discontinue participation at any time without explanation or prejudice. Although complete answering of all questionnaire items was encouraged, participants were also assured that they were not obliged to do so. Confidentiality was strictly preserved throughout the study, with numerical identification numbers used in place of names on all instruments and analyses. Contact information collected for the purposes of scheduling future study visits was stored separately from completed questionnaires.

2.4. Procedures

A structured Nepali language questionnaire was used to conduct the interviews (see **Appendix 5**). This instrument was developed originally in English, translated into the Nepali language, and subsequently back-translated into English to ensure semantic equivalence. Based on the back-translation, the Nepali questionnaire was further revised and modified. At this stage, the questionnaire was then pre-tested in November 2009 among 30 PLWHA drawn from the population of interest. Based on the feedback and observations garnered during pre-testing, additional modifications were made to the final questionnaire. Participants included in the pre-test were not included in the main survey.

After confirming eligibility and seeking informed consent, all participants were asked to complete a structured questionnaire lasting roughly 45-60 minutes, administered by trained interviewers in the Nepali language. All interviews at baseline and follow-up took place at the facilities of the referring NGOs. Interviewers were native Nepali speakers and underwent a one-day training session covering questionnaire content and interview technique to ensure accurate and sensitive administration of the questionnaire.

Approximately 32 individuals were interviewed daily during the baseline period. All surviving participants who had completed the baseline assessment were contacted by telephone at follow-up to arrange interviews during the appointed time period. Participants were reimbursed 100 Nepalese Rupees (NRs) (about US 1.35; US 1.00 = 74.16 NRs on February 16, 2010)²⁷³ for their transportation costs to and from the interview venues at baseline assessment and 250 NRs at the 18-month follow-up assessment. The principal investigator also regularly visited the study sites and supervised the fieldwork.
2.5. Measures

Depression and suicidal ideation. The psychological and psychiatric literature generally uses the term "depression" in two ways: as a psychiatric disorder, and as a point above a given limit of severity on a continuum of depressive symptoms.²⁷⁴ In the present study, both categorical diagnostic and symptom continuity perspectives on depression were explored. To this end, the 21-item BDI-Ia, Nepali version,^{119,275,276} was used to assess the presence and intensity of various cognitive, affective, and somatic signs of depression in participants over the prior 2 weeks (Cronbach's alpha = .89). The BDI-Ia is a gold standard in measuring depressive symptoms and has been used by different researchers to detect depression among PLWHA in public health settings with high reliability and validity.^{119,277} Items are scored on a 4-point Likert scale, with an instrument range of 0 to 62; higher scores indicate more depressed mood. Although the BDI-II was released in 1996 as the most recent revision of the BDI, developed in response to the American Psychiatric Association's publication of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM)-IV, the decision was made to use the BDI-Ia in this study as this is the only version available in a validated Nepalese format.²⁷⁸ In the process of cultural validation, several important changes were made to the wording of the items, without which the content would not translate appropriately to the context of Nepal. Moreover, the BDI-Ia remains in use for studies of depression etiology in Nepal and other settings.^{119,277,279,280}

The BDI-Ia has been validated for use in Nepal with clinical DSM-IV²⁷⁸ diagnoses of major depressive disorder (area under the curve [AUC] = .92), based on which a score of 20 or higher suggests moderate to severe depressive symptoms with the need for mental health intervention (sensitivity = .73, specificity = .91).²⁷⁵ This cut-off score is intended only to reflect symptom burden at the level requiring intervention and does not indicate diagnosis of major depressive disorder.

Beyond this categorical approach, researchers are increasingly using measurement approaches that assess depression as a continuum of symptoms with varying degrees of severity, rather than as a strictly threshold-defined diagnosis. This approach fits in with the physiology of depression, which is likely to represent a spectrum of increasing pathology with escalating severity of depression. Accordingly, depressive symptoms were also assessed herein as a continuous variable in longitudinal analyses.

Assessment of suicidal ideation was based on BDI-Ia item #9 ("During the past two weeks, have you thought about ending your life?"), which was used as a dichotomous variable indicating the presence or absence of suicidal thoughts or wishes. Suicidal ideation endorsement was defined as responding to BDI-Ia item #9 with either (1) "I have thoughts of killing myself but I would not carry them out," (2) "I would like to kill myself," or (3) "I would kill myself if I had the chance".²⁸¹ Also included on the questionnaire were items asking about ever-experience of suicidal ideation and number of suicide attempts (if any) since being diagnosed with HIV.

Perceived family support. Perceived family support (PFS) is defined herein as the felt availability or provision of different forms of emotional and instrumental services and assistance from family members, along with negative, or *un*supportive, forms of family interaction. The 10-item Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale^{119,282} (Cronbach's alpha = .87) was used to measure this construct, based on recall of the frequency of given types of social exchanges with family members within the past year.

The scale was developed specifically for use in Nepal based on a review of the social support literature, as broadly detailed in the previous chapter, and with a view to cultural applicability.²⁸² Focusing specifically on the functional perceived support aspect, which is widely regarded as a stronger predictor of health-related outcomes than actual received

support or such structural aspects as network size,^{283,284} items were generated based on typologies of general social support. In particular, item generation was designed to include two major categories of perceived functional family support known to be especially important for mental health-related outcomes –tangible assistance (i.e., instrumental support) and emotional support (see Chapter 1 for more detailed descriptions of these constructs). Additionally, several items were generated to reflect the potential negative side of family social exchanges, the importance of which was discussed in Chapter 1, including experience of specific *un*supportive behaviors from family members (i.e., family difficulty) in the form of failure to provide emotional affirmation or closeness and abusive or exploitative behavior.

For each item, participants were asked to rate how true each statement was for their own family, or how often a type of support was available if needed, on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all" (0) to "All the time" (3). For the purposes of the present study, the concept of "family" was defined for respondents as encompassing co-residing members of a household. After reversing the scores for negatively formulated items (i.e., measuring unsupportive or problematic experiences of family interaction), the total score was derived by summing all items, with higher scores indicating greater perceived family support (instrument range: 0-30). For the purposes of select cross-sectional analyses, total scores were categorized into *low* (0-22), *moderate* (23-26), and *high* (27-30) levels of perceived support based on tertiles in order to reduce the effect of outliers and random error and to facilitate interpretation of effect sizes. Otherwise and for all longitudinal analyses, scores were assessed continuously.

The 10 items of the Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale were subjected to principal component analysis (PCA) using SPSS version 18.0 for Macintosh (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA) to verify which items in the scale formed coherent, relatively

independent subsets. Prior to performing PCA, the suitability of data for exploratory factor analysis was assessed. Inspection of the correlation matrix revealed the presence of many coefficients of .30 and above (**Table 1**). Additionally, the Kaiser-Meyer-Oklin value was .88, exceeding the recommended value of .60,^{285,286} and Bartlett's Test of Sphericity²⁸⁷ reached statistical significance, supporting the factorability of the correlation matrix.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Item #1		47**	.44**	50**	.54**	.35**	.62**	20**	.48**	36**
2. Item #2			32**	.69**	44**	48**	52**	.32**	31**	.43**
3. Item #3				36**	.45**	.33**	.41**	14*	.38**	24**
4. Item #4					49**	42**	47**	.24**	36**	.39**
5. Item #5						.36**	.55**	16**	.50**	27**
6. Item #6							.50**	23**	.22**	22**
7. Item #7								21**	.40**	30**
8. Item #8									17**	.27**
9. Item #9										24**
10. Item #10										

 Table 1. Correlation matrix among baseline Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale items (N = 322)

* p < .05; ** p < .01 level. *Note*: All item scores were assessed as continuous variables.

The number of factors to retain for the solution was decided on the basis of scree plots, eigenvalues, and ease of interpretability. PCA revealed the presence of two components with eigenvalues exceeding 1, explaining 46.4% and 11.3% of the variance, respectively. An inspection of the scree plot revealed a clear break after the first component and another break between the second and third components (see **Appendix 6**). Using Catell's scree test,²⁸⁸ it was decided to retain two components for further investigation. This was further supported by the results of parallel analysis, which showed only two components with eigenvalues exceeding the corresponding criterion values for a randomly generated data matrix of the same size (10 variables x 322 respondents).

The two-component solution explained a total of 57.7% of the variance. To aid in the interpretation of these two components, oblimin (i.e., oblique) rotation was subsequently performed. This rotation method was chosen because it was believed that the factors would be correlated due to the common underlying construct. Pre-rotation factor loadings are presented in **Appendix 6**, and the pattern and structure matrices and communalities are presented in **Table 2**. The rotated solution revealed the presence of simple structure,²⁸⁹ with both components showing a number of strong loadings and all variables loading substantially on only one component.

Table 2. Pattern and structure matrix for principal component analysis with oblimin rotation of two-factor solution of the Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale

	Pattern co	oefficients	Structure	coefficients	
Item	Component 1	Component 2	Component 1	Component 2	Communalities
5. Feeling involved in family decision making	.810	.023	.800	323	.648
9. Feeling able to share feelings with family	.780	.143	.799	435	.715
1. Feeling shown love and caring by family	.749	115	.783	517	.523
3. Feeling have an important role in family	.732	.021	.723	291	.688
7. Feeling supported by family when sick	.687	223	.719	190	.641
6. Feeling basic needs (e.g., food, clothes) met in family	.396	375	.556	544	.424
8. Experience of being physically hurt/beaten by family member(s)	.170	.779	564	.810	.653
2. Feeling disliked by family	267	.696	640	.750	.523
10. Feeling exploited (e.g., for domestic labor or farming) by family	021	.641	163	.707	.534
4. Feeling (emotionally) distant from family	392	.583	294	.650	.423

Note: Major loadings for each item are bolded.

Examination of the items that loaded onto each component revealed a clear pattern of results, with the six positively oriented PFS items (e.g., *Feeling shown love and caring by family*) loading strongly on Component 1 and the four negatively oriented PFS items (e.g., *Feeling disliked by family*) loading strongly on Component 2. A moderate negative correlation was observed between the two components (r = -.59). The results of this analysis thus support the use of the positively and negatively oriented PFS items as separate sub-scales, defining variables hereafter referred to as *positive perceived family support* (*positive PFS*; Cronbach's alpha = .83) and *negative perceived family support* (*negative PFS*; Cronbach's alpha = .74), respectively.

Sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial covariates. Standard single questionnaire items assessed basic sociodemographic, HIV-specific clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial variables. Participants were asked to report the date on which they had learned of their HIV-positive diagnosis, from which duration of HIV-positive status was calculated in months, and, if relevant, the date on which ART had been initiated, from which duration of ART use was calculated in the same manner. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated from the measurement of height and body weight, with underweight status defined as a BMI of less than 18.5 kg/m² according to the WHO BMI classification standard for Asians.²⁹⁰

A modified 13-item version of the HIV Symptom Index,²⁹¹ which assesses the presence and degree of 20 symptoms commonly experienced by HIV-positive individuals, was used to measure HIV symptom burden based on a 1-month recall period (Cronbach's alpha = .90). In previous research, similar measures of symptom burden have been associated with both physical and mental health measures of quality of life as well as

provider assessments of disease severity, independent of a patient's viral load or CD4 count. The HIV Symptom Index has evidence of construct validity and is more sensitive and more reproducible than provider-reported HIV symptoms.^{291,292}

Though the original version of the HIV Symptom Index assesses the presence and degree of 20 symptoms commonly experienced by PLWHA, seven symptoms (*Fatigue or loss of energy; Loss of appetite or change in the taste of food; Changes in the way your body looks such as weight gain; Problems with weight loss or wasting; Felt sad, down or depressed; Felt nervous or anxious; and Difficulty falling or staying asleep*) were omitted for the purposes of this study to focus on the strictly somatic aspect and avoid overlap with the measure of depressive symptoms (BDI-Ia scores). Participants reported whether each symptom was present, and if so, whether it was bothersome, by using a five-point Likert scale ranging from "I do not have this symptom" (0) to "I have it and it bothers me a lot" (4). Scores were summed to obtain a scale with a possible range of 0-52.²⁹¹ For the baseline cross-sectional analyses, total scores were dichotomized into lower and higher levels of HIV symptom burden by the median (12).

A modified 7-item version of a theoretically based and psychometrically sound measure of community-held AIDS-related stigmas, originally developed to measure AIDSrelated stigma beliefs in general South African populations,^{293,294} was used to assess internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma (Cronbach's alpha = .82). The scale focuses on internalized stigma, a process through which PLWHA accept their discredited status as valid and develop self-defacing internal representations of themselves.²⁹⁵ The modified version incorporates seven items from the original scale and reframes the wording to represent negative self-perceptions and self-abasement in relation to being a person living with HIV/AIDS. The items focus on self-blame (e.g., "I sometimes feel worthless because I am HIV positive") and concealment of HIV status from others (e.g., "I hide my HIV

status from others"). Responses were given dichotomously (0 = disagree, 1 = agree); scale scores represent the sum total of endorsed items, with higher scores indicating more negative attitudes or perceived discrimination (instrument range: 0-6). For the baseline cross-sectional analysis, total scores were dichotomized into lower and higher levels of stigma by the median (3).

Though 7 items were originally included in the questionnaire, one item ("It is my own fault that I am HIV positive") with a negative item-total correlation was omitted from further analyses following reliability analysis (see **Appendix 7**). Moreover, "Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted" results showed that this item was decreasing the reliability of the scale slightly, suggesting that it may have been tapping a slightly different concept than originally intended in the Nepalese context.

2.6. Statistical analysis

After describing the data, multivariate regression analyses were carried out, conceptualizing the data first cross-sectionally based on data from all participants surveyed at baseline and then longitudinally using 18-month follow-up data. All major sociodemographic characteristics and other factors having previously established or theoretically feasible associations with the dependent variables were included as covariates or potential confounders in the analyses. Variance inflation factors (VIFs) were low (< 2.0) in all cases, indicating no problematic multicollinearity among independent variables. All statistical tests were 2-sided, evaluated as significant at the 95% confidence level (p < .05), and executed using SPSS version 18.0 for Macintosh (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA).

The approach for selecting factors for covariate control was based on substantive knowledge of their possible associations with both the dependent variables and the

psychosocial independent variables, and thus on their potential effect as confounders for the association of interest. The inclusion of these factors in the analyses, therefore, was based on existing literature, rather than on statistical significance.²⁹⁶⁻²⁹⁸ Moreover, as the common practice of univariate pre-screening of the predictor variables for inclusion in the analyses is less desirable, multiple regression models in which the variables are predetermined a priori would substantiate the findings and also yield results more likely to be reproducible in other samples.²⁹⁹

2.6.1. Description of variables and data screening

Descriptive statistics were calculated for all relevant sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics of the study sample – to examine missing values, to evaluate the accuracy of the values, to explore potential univariate outliers, and to characterize the study sample. For all continuous variables, medians, standard deviations, skewness, kurtosis, minimum, and maximum values were inspected for plausibility and for extreme values. Univariate outliers for all continuous variables were inspected by graphical methods (stem-and-leaf and box plots) as well as by inspection of z scores. For discrete variables, meanwhile, frequency tables were examined to ensure that the minimum and maximum values for each item were within the range of potential responses. Finally, similar related variables, such as years of education (continuous variable) and formal education (categorical variable) were compared with cross tabulation tables to identify possible discrepancies between variables.

Inconsistencies and missing values in the data were thus identified and cleaned manually at the outset. Non-response to the individual survey items was low (< 5%), distributed without a noticeable pattern, and hence assumed random and unproblematic.

2.6.2. Cross-sectional analyses

Multiple logistic regression analysis was used to examine factors associated with depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation, with particular emphasis on the association between level of perceived family support and the two mental health outcomes, while controlling for the effect of the covariates identified a priori for inclusion. Additionally, interactions between perceived family support and each of the other variables included as covariates were tested by evaluating the statistical significance of the corresponding first-order cross product terms in separate models; only those identified as statistically significant are presented in the results.

Further multivariate models were also separately constructed to assess potential effects of each of the perceived family support sub-scores and individual scale items on depression and suicidal ideation among the participants, adjusting for the same set of potential confounders. Finally, multiple linear regression was performed to explore factors associated with perceived family support toward assessing the endogeneity of this variable as a function of covariates. Independent variables were entered into each regression using a direct (simultaneous) entry method.

2.6.3. Longitudinal analyses

The longitudinal aspect of the study was designed to facilitate a better understanding of and capture the possible variations in depression that could occur between the two assessment times, and thus to more rigorously examine how perceived family support might relate to such changes temporally. Family support, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation data obtained at baseline assessment were compared to data obtained subsequently at 18-month follow-up. In addition, predictive potential and causal

directionality between family support and both mental health outcomes as well as changes in these factors over time were examined.

A longitudinal design provides the best information about the continuity of behavior, or lack thereof, over time. It allows for individual tracking of patterns of behavior, as well as trends of development, within a similar group. Research on the epidemiology of depression suggests that symptoms of depression fluctuate markedly in severity over time. These fluctuations may be influenced in part by physical health problems, as are apt to occur among PLWHA. In this context, it was anticipated that fluctuations in depressive symptoms would be observed between the two assessment points in the present study.

Research on the assessment of change has traditionally been carried out at the group level, comparing the change observed in a single group (mean before vs. after treatment), or the change between two groups (mean in the treatment vs. mean in the control group), or the difference in mean change scores between two groups (mean change in the treatment vs. mean change in the control group). However, because group mean comparisons use an estimate that is an average, such an assessment of change at the group level summarizes or aggregates all individual changes in a sample and therefore does not allow for full exploration of changes at the individual level. Intra-individual changes are much more informative in terms of identifying personal and psychological determinants of change. For this reason, the statistical approaches undertaken in the present study were restricted to methods for intra-individual assessment of change.

Analyses were conducted in five stages. First, data were checked for any differences in proportions and means of sociodemographic and mental health variables between PLWHA lost and retained at follow-up using Chi-square (for categorical variables) and Mann-Whitney U (for continuous variables) tests as appropriate.

Second, hierarchical multiple linear regression analyses were conducted to assess the proportion of variance in 18-month depressive symptoms that could be explained by baseline perceived family support, while adjusting for baseline covariates as well as the baseline measure of depression. In psychosocial research, it is common practice to use the initial score of the outcome as an adjustment variable in multiple linear regression analysis as a means of accounting for the baseline status of the outcome measure. This *adjusted follow-up score* provides an adjustment for the initial score, and thus allows one to correct for the variance that is accounted for by the baseline score.

As an initial step in the multiple linear regression models, the baseline BDI-Ia score was thus forced into the regression, followed by the sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial covariates. Next, the contribution of the total PFS scale score was explored using a partial F test to assess whether perceived family support at baseline still explained a significant proportion of the variance in depression at follow-up, given that depression at baseline was already in the model, as well as other covariates. The same was done for each of the two PFS sub-scale scores – positive perceived family support and negative perceived family support.

Third, structural equation modeling (SEM) was then used to examine the concurrent and lagged, main and interactive effects of perceived family support dimensions on depression and suicidal ideation, respectively, accounting simultaneously for the associations of covariates with both perceived family support and the outcome variables. The first hypothesized model examined the cross-sectional and longitudinal relationships between baseline total perceived family support and, separately, both depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts, adjusting for baseline sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and other psychosocial covariates as depicted in **Figure 3** below.



Figure 3. Proposed model of direct relationship between perceived family support at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and 18-month follow-up

The second hypothesized model, meanwhile, examined the cross-sectional and longitudinal relationships between baseline negative and positive PFS dimensions and, separately, both depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts, adjusting for baseline sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and other psychosocial covariates as depicted in **Figure 4** below. This second model looked at negative and positive PFS sub-scales simultaneously in terms of their main as well as interactive effects on depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts, examining negative PFS as a potential stressor and positive PFS as a potentially buffering factor in predicting psychological distress.

Figure 4. Proposed model of moderated relationship between perceived family support subscale scores at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and 18month follow-up



All structural equation models were estimated by means of full-information maximum likelihood estimation using Stata 13 software (Stata Corp., College Station, Texas, USA). Perceived family support dimensions, depressive symptoms (total BDI-Ia score), and suicidal thoughts (BDI-Ia item #9 score) were all evaluated as continuous variables.

Fourth, multiple logistic regressions were used to assess associations between changes in perceived family support dimensions from baseline to follow-up associated with incident depression and suicidal ideation at the 18-month assessment. For the sake of these analyses, PFS changes were classified into two categories: (1) decreased score or sustained low-level (i.e., 1st tertile) score and (2) increased score or sustained high-level (i.e. 3rd tertile) score. Membership of each of these categorized was then used in separate logistic regression models to predict depression incidence and suicidal ideation at 18-month follow-up.

Finally, to supplement these analyses, multiple linear regressions were also used to assess the associations of continuous changes in PFS dimensions against corresponding changes in depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation over the 18-month follow-up period (i.e., changes vs. changes). Toward addressing PFS score ceiling and floor effects on the associations, the analyses were further stratified by "low" and "high" baseline PFS levels based on the median levels within each dimension.

All longitudinal analyses were adjusted for baseline status of the outcome of interest and the same covariates as used in the cross-sectional multiple regression analyses. Underweight status and HIV status disclosure were, however, omitted in longitudinal analyses for the sake of preserving sample size and avoiding over-fitting of the model.

2.6.4. Sample size power

Given that sample size analyses for multivariate multiple linear regression analyses are not readily accessible, power analyses were computed post hoc using G*Power version 3.1 (Franz Faul, Universitat Kiel, German).³⁰⁰ Such analyses are important to rule out that non-significant findings are not due to lack of power. Power analysis revealed that the sample size retained at follow-up (N = 254) used in longitudinal analyses had well over 80% power to detect medium effect sizes ($t^2 = .15$)³⁰¹ in a linear multiple regression model with 13 tested predictors and an alpha level of .05, though the power to detect small effect sizes ($t^2 = .02$)³⁰¹ was only 37%.

3. Results

3.1. Description of the study sample

3.1.1. Sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics

Table 3 presents the basic background characteristics of the 322 PLWHA surveyed at baseline. Participants were 58% male and had a median age of 33 (interquartile range [IQR] = 30, 39) years; 82% had at least some formal education, with 59% educated at an above-primary level, and 71% were gainfully employed. Median period since testing HIV-positive was 53 (IQR = 25, 85) months and 73% of participants were on ART at the time of survey, among whom the median length of time on treatment was 24 (IQR = 13, 33) months. Based on BMI (< 18.5), 9% of participants were underweight.

Median HIV Symptom Index score was 12 (IQR = 6, 24), and median internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score was 3 (IQR = 2, 5). Overall, 41% of participants had a lifetime history of injecting drug use, while 15% had used some form of illicit drug in the past 6 months. Only 18% had *not* disclosed their HIV status to any of their family members. Median perceived family support, meanwhile, was 25 (IQR = 19, 27), out of a total possible score of 30; median scores on the positive and negative PFS sub-scales were 13 (IQR = 9, 16; out of a total possible score of 18) and 0 (IQR = 0, 2; out of a total possible score of 8), respectively.

3.1.2. Depression and suicidality prevalence rates

Among all participants, 26% met the BDI-Ia threshold for depression. Suicidal ideation in the previous 2 weeks was reported by 14% of respondents. Taking a broader perspective, 43% had *ever* thought about ending their lives and 17% had actually attempted suicide since

being diagnosed with HIV, with 35 individuals reporting more than one such suicide attempt

(Table 3).

Sociodemographics Gender Male 18: Female 13' Median (IQR) Age, years ^a (Range: 20-60) 13' Marital status 10' Unmarried 10' Married 22' Any children 10' No 10' Yes 22' Education level ^b 5' No formal education 5' Primary (1-5 yrs.) 7' Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.) 16' Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.) 3		
Gender18Male18Female13Median (IQR) Age, years ^a (Range: 20-60)13Marital status10Unmarried10Married22Any children100No100Yes220Education level ^b 74No formal education57Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3		
Male18:Female13'Median (IQR) Age, years* (Range: 20-60)13'Marital status10'Unmarried10'Married22'Any children10'No10'Yes220Education level*10'No formal education5'Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3		
Female13Median (IQR) Age, years ^a (Range: 20-60)Marital statusUnmarried10Married22Any children100No100Yes220Education level ^b 57No formal education57Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3	,	(57.5)
Median (IQR) Age, years* (Range: 20-60)Marital statusUnmarriedUnmarriedMarriedAny childrenNoYesEducation level*No formal education5'Primary (1-5 yrs.)Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3		(42.5)
Marital statusUnmarried10Married22Any children102No102Yes220Education levelb57No formal education57Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3	33	(30, 39)
Unmarried10Married22Any children22No102Yes220Education levelb220Education levelb57Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3		
Married22Any children102No102Yes220Education levelb57Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3		(31.4)
Any childrenNo102Yes220Education levelb220No formal education57Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3		(68.6)
No102Yes220Education levelb220No formal education5'Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3		
Ites220Education levelb220No formal education5'Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3	;)	(31.7)
Education level5'No formal education5'Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3	,	(00.5)
No formal education5Primary (1-5 yrs.)74Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3	,	(17.7)
Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)160Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)3	Ĺ	(1/./)
Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs))	(49.7)
ingher secondary and above (iii yis.)	-	(9.6)
Employment status ^e		
Unemployed 92	2	(28.7)
Employed 229)	(71.3)
Clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics		
Median (IQR) Time since HIV diagnosis, months	53	(25, 86)
ART status		
Not currently receiving ART 8'	,	(27.0)
Receiving ART (Median $[IQR] = 24 [13, 33]$ months) 233)	(73.0)
Underweight (BMI<18.5) ^d		
No 28'	,	(90.8)
Yes 29	,	(9.2)
Any illicit drug use, last 6 months		
No 275	,	(85.4)
Yes 47	,	(14.6)
Median (IQR) HIV Symptom Index score (Range: 0-52)	12	2 (6, 24)
Median (IQR) internalized HIV/AIDS stigma score (Range: 0-6)		(-,)

 Table 3. Background characteristics of participants at baseline (N = 322)

(Table continues)

Characteristic	n	(%)
Disclosure of HIV status to any family member		
No	58	(18.0)
Yes	264	(82.0)
Family support and mental health variables		
Total perceived family support (Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale score) (Median [IQR]: 25 [19, 27]	27])	
Low (1 st tertile; Total score: 0-22)	117	(36.3)
Moderate (2 nd tertile; Total score: 23-26)	113	(35.1)
High (3 rd tertile; Total score: 27-30)	92	(28.6)
Positive perceived family support (sub-scale score) (Median [IQR]: 13 [9]	, 16])	
Low (1 st tertile; Total score: 0-11)	121	(37.6)
Moderate (2 nd tertile; Total score: 12-14)	95	(29.5)
High (3 rd tertile; Total score: 15-18)	106	(32.9)
Negative perceived family support (sub-scale score) (Median [IQR]: 0 [0,	2])	
Low (1 st tertile; Total score: 0)	186	(57.8)
Moderate (2 nd tertile; Total score: 1)	44	(13.7)
High (3 rd tertile; Total score: 2-8)	92	(28.6)
Depressive symptoms ^e		
None to mild (BDI-Ia<20)	240	(74.5)
Moderate to severe (BDI-Ia > 20)	82	(25.5)
Suicidal ideation, last 2 weeks		
No	277	(86.0)
Yes	45	(14.0)
Ever thought about ending life since learning of HIV+ status		
No	184	(57.1)
Yes	138	(42.9)
Ever attempted suicide since learning of HIV+ status		
No	268	(83.2)
Yes	54	(16.8)

Table 3 (*continued*). Background characteristics of participants at baseline (N = 322)

IQR, interquartile range; ART, antiretroviral therapy; BMI, body mass index; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory.

^a Two individuals did not respond to this item; their ages were set as the median (33 years) for the sake of analyses.

^bEducation level categories were defined based on the structure of the Nepalese education system.

^c One individual did not respond to this item.

^d Height and weight measurements were not collected for six individuals, for whom BMI could thus not be calculated.

^e A score of 20 or more on the Beck Depression Inventory indicates moderate-to-severe depression with the need for mental health intervention, based on clinical validation of the scale in Nepal (sensitivity = .73, specificity = .91).³⁰²

3.1.3. Correlations between sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial variables

The correlation matrix for sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics of the 322 participants surveyed at baseline is presented in **Table 4**.

Significant correlations were identified between gender and nearly all measured sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial covariates in the univariate analyses; female participants were significantly younger (r = -.22, p < .001), more likely to have children (r = .14, p = .012), less likely to be educated beyond the primary level (r = -.31, p < .001), less likely to be gainfully employed (r = -.19, p = .001), more recently diagnosed with HIV (r = -.14, p = .012), more likely to be receiving ART (r = .16, p = .005), less likely to report any illicit drug use in the past 6 months (r = -.32, p < .001), and saddled with heavier burdens of internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma (r = .16, p = .004). Married participants were both more likely to have children (r = .35, p < .001) and less likely to be underweight (r = -.12, p = .039). Those on ART, meanwhile, were more likely not only to be female, but also to be older (r = .22, p < .001), to have children (r = .14, p = .011), to not be educated beyond the primary level (r = -.16, p = .004), and to report no illicit drug use in the past 6 months (r = -.16, p = .004), and to

Lower levels of internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma were correlated not only with male gender but also with gainful employment (r = -.12, p = .032). Also more likely to report lower internalized stigma scores were those who had disclosed their HIV status to at least one family member (r = -.12, p = .036). Such disclosure, meanwhile, was further correlated with being currently married (r = .21, p < .001) and having any children (r = .22, p < .001).

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
1. Female gender	22**	10*	.14**	31**	19**	14*	.16**	08	32**	.04	.16**	.03	35**	.15**	.02
2. Age		.08	.23**	.03	.01	.11*	.21**	.06	.11	06	.04	01	.11	.08	01
3. Currently married			.35**	04	.09	06	.07	12*	06	.09	09	.21**	.17**	04	06
4. Any children				14**	.01	06	.14**	04	06	08	.01	.22**	.08	.03	03
5. Above-primary educat	ion				.01	.10	16**	05	.11*	.01	05	.02	.28**	17**	09
6. Gainfully employed						.11*	<.01	01	04	07	12*	.04	.09	20**	16**
7. Time since HIV diagno	osis						.03	07	.05	06	09	.10	<.01	16**	08
8. Currently receiving Al	RT							.02	15**	03	.07	.01	08	.13*	.04
9. Underweight (BMI<18	3.5)								.15**	01	.01	.01	.01	.17**	.03
10. Any illicit drug use, la	ast 6 mont	ths								04	.02	08	.08	.15**	.19**
11. HIV Symptom Index	score										.06	.09	.05	.05	06
12. Internalized HIV/AII	DS-related	l stigma	score									12*	26**	.37**	.14**
13. Disclosure of HIV sta	tus to any	family i	nember										.15**	10	02
14. Total PFS score														36**	22**
15. Total BDI-Ia score															.54**
16. Suicidal ideation															

Table 4. Correlation matrix among baseline demographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics (N = 322)

ART, antiretroviral therapy; BMI, body mass index; PFS, Perceived Family Support; BDI; Beck Depression Inventory.

* p < .05; ** p < .01.

Note: Continuous variables were Age, Time since HIV diagnosis, HIV Symptom Index score, Internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score, Total PFS score, and Total BDI-Ia score; all others were binary or categorical.

3.1.4. Correlations between covariates and major variables

Table 4 also presents significant correlations between selected background characteristics
 of the participants at baseline and the major psychosocial variables of interest. Overall perceived family support showed a negative correlation with female gender (r = -.35, p < .001) and higher internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma (r = -.26, p < .001), and a positive correlation with being married (r = .17, p = .002), having above-primary-level education (r = .28, p < .001), and disclosure of HIV status to at least one family member (r = .15, p = .008). Female participants (r = .15, p = .006), those not educated beyond the primary level (r = -.17, p = .003), those not gainfully employed (r = -.20, p < .001), those who had been diagnosed with HIV more recently (r = -.16, p = .004), those receiving ART (r = .13, p = .019), those who were underweight (r = .17, p = .002), those reporting any illicit drug use in the past 6 months (r = .15, p = .009), and those with higher levels of internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma (r = .37, p < .001) presented with higher BDI-Ia scores (i.e. more depressive symptoms). Finally, suicidal ideation was more likely to be endorsed by those without gainful employment (r = -.16, p = .004), those who had been diagnosed with HIV more recently (r = -.12, p = .031), those reporting any illicit drug use in the past 6 months (r = .19, p = .001), and those with higher levels of internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma (r = .14, p = .011).

3.2. Cross-sectional results

3.2.1. Factors associated with depression and suicidal ideation at baseline

Baseline correlates of depression (BDI-Ia ≥ 20) and suicidal ideation (BDI-Ia item #9 > 0) identified from multivariate regression models are presented in **Table 5**. Significantly lower rates of both depression and suicidal ideation were observed among those with PFS scores in the highest (depression: adjusted odds ratio [AOR] = .16, 95% confidence interval [CI] = .06, .39 / suicidal ideation: AOR = .35; 95% CI = .12, 1.00) and middle (depression: AOR = .34; 95% CI = .17, .68 / suicidal ideation: AOR = .43; 95% CI = .18, 1.00) tertiles relative to lowest-tertile PFS scorers.

In addition to the observed inverse relationships with perceived family support, one further variable was negatively associated with *both* psychiatric comorbidities: being gainfully employed (depression: AOR = .43; 95% CI = .22, .82 / suicidal ideation: AOR = .39; 95% CI = .19, .83). On the other side, depression was positively correlated with being on ART for less than 2 years relative to not being on treatment (AOR = 2.66; 95% CI = 1.17, 6.08), with a similar, though statistically non-significant, pattern observed for suicidal ideation. Similarly, suicidal ideation was positively associated with using any illicit drugs in the last 6 months (AOR = 3.19; 95% CI = 1.24, 8.22); again, a similar pattern was observed for depression, though the association was just short of reaching statistical significance. Higher rates of depression were also associated with being underweight (AOR = 3.41; 95% CI = 1.29, 9.03), higher internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma (AOR = 2.18; 95% CI = 1.16, 4.11), and older age (AOR = 2.14; 95% CI = 1.11, 4.13).

Regarding the moderated regression equations of depression on perceived family support, the interaction term (Family support x Time since HIV diagnosis) was significant at both moderate (AOR = .15; 95% CI = .05, .46) and high (AOR = .08; 95% CI = .02, .31)

PFS levels relative to low PFS levels. This interaction term was also significant in the moderated regression equation of suicidal ideation on perceived family support at moderate PFS levels (AOR = .18; 95% CI = .04, .80), with a similar, though statistically non-significant pattern also observed at high PFS levels. This suggests that the negative relationship between perceived family support and psychological distress was stronger in those individuals who had been living with their HIV diagnosis for longer periods (54 months or more).

V			Depres	sion (BD)	[-Ia <u>></u> 20)	Suicio	lal ideatio	on (BDI-I	I-Ia Item #9>0)			
	Ν	n	(%)	AOR	(95% CI)	n	(%)	AOR	(95% CI)			
Gender												
Female	135	39	(28.9)	.85	(0.40, 1.82)	20	(14.8)	.72	(.29, 1.80)			
Male (Ref)	180	41	(22.8)			23	(12.8)					
Age, years (Median=33)												
34-60	154	49	(31.8)	2.14	(1.11, 4.13)*	19	(12.3)	.81	(.37, 1.74)			
20-33 (Ref)	161	31	(19.3)			24	(14.9)					
Marital status												
Married	217	56	(25.8)	1.40	(.69, 2.81)	27	(12.4)	.87	(.38, 1.97)			
Unmarried (Ref)	98	24	(24.5)			16	(16.3)					
Any children												
Yes	214	58	(27.1)	1.08	(.54, 2.19)	28	(13.1)	.82	(.36, 1.88)			
No (Ref)	101	22	(21.8)			15	(14.9)					
Education level												
Secondary or higher	186	39	(21.0)	.85	(.45, 1.60)	20	(10.8)	.67	(.31, 1.42)			
Primary or lower (Ref)	129	41	(31.8)			23	(17.8)					
Employment status												
Employed	223	45	(20.2)	.43	(.22, .82)*	22	(9.9)	.39	(.19, .83)*			
Unemployed (Ref)	92	35	(38.0)			21	(22.8)					
Time since HIV diagnosis, months (Median=53)												
54-258	160	34	(21.3)	.85	(.45, 1.60)	16	(10.0)	.73	(.34, 1.57)			
0-53 (Ref)	155	46	(29.7)			27	(17.4)					
Time on ART, months (Median=24)												
24-120	116	25	(21.6)	1.42	(.56, 3.59)	10	(8.6)	1.17	(.38, 3.56)			
0-23	114	41	(36.0)	2.66	(1.17, 6.08)*	24	(21.1)	2.54	(.99, 6.49)			
Not currently receiving ART (Ref)	85	14	(16.5)			9	(10.6)					

 Table 5. Multivariable analysis of factors associated with depression and suicidal ideation (N = 315^a)

(Table continues)

Variable			Depres	sion (BDI	[-Ia <u>≥</u> 20)	Suicid	lal ideatio	on (BDI-I	a Item #9>0)
	Ν	n	(%)	AOR	(95% CI)	n	(%)	AOR	(95% CI)
Underweight (BMI<18.5)									
Yes	29	14	(48.3)	3.41	(1.29, 9.03)*	5	(17.2)	.98	(.31, 3.09)
No (Ref)	286	66	(23.1)			38	(13.3)		
Any illicit drug use, last 6 months									
Yes	45	17	(37.8)	2.34	(.99, 5.52)	12	(26.7)	3.19	(1.24, 8.22)*
No (Ref)	270	63	(23.3)			31	(11.5)		
HIV Symptom Index score (Median=12)									
13-52	156	44	(28.2)	1.16	(.63, 2.11)	19	(12.2)	.62	(.30, 1.29)
0-12 (Ref)	159	36	(22.6)			24	(15.1)		
Internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score (Median=3)									
4-6	147	54	(36.7)	2.18	(1.16, 4.11)*	26	(17.7)	1.54	(.71, 3.35)
0-3 (Ref)	168	26	(15.5)			17	(10.1)		
Disclosure of HIV status to any family member									
Yes	257	65	(25.3)	1.65	(.75, 3.67)	34	(13.2)	1.69	(.66, 4.33)
No (Ref)	58	15	(25.9)			9	(15.5)		
Perceived family support									
High (3 rd tertile; Total score: 27-30)	89	11	(12.4)	.16	(.06, .39)**	7	(7.9)	.35	(.12, 1.00)*
Moderate (2 nd tertile; Total score: 23-26)	111	23	(20.7)	.34	(.17, .68)**	12	(10.8)	.43	(.18, 1.00)*
Low (1 st tertile; Total score: 0-22) (Ref)	115	46	(40.0)			24	(20.9)		
Interaction terms									
Perceived family support x Time since HIV diagnosis									
High PFS x 54+ months HIV+	44	3	(6.8)	.08	(.02, .31)**	2	(4.5)	.22	(.04, 1.16)
Moderate PFS x 54+ months HIV+	58	7	(12.1)	.15	(.05, .46)**	3	(5.2)	.18	(.04, .80)*
Low PFS x 54+ months HIV+ (Ref)	60	24	(40.0)			11	(18.3)		

Table 5 (continued). Multivariable analysis of factors associated with depression and suicidal ideation (N = 315^a)

BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; AOR, adjusted odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; BMI, body mass index; PFS, perceived family support.

* p < .05; ** p < .01.

^a Seven individuals were omitted from the analysis due to missing information regarding employment status (one individual) and BMI (six individuals).

3.2.2. Family support as a correlate of depression and suicidal ideation

Table 6 presents the results for multiple logistic regression analyses of sub-scale scores and individual items from the perceived family support scale associated with depression and suicidal ideation among participants. Of the two different sub-types of support measured, only negative PFS was significantly associated with *both* measures of psychological disturbance; those perceiving high levels of negative interaction with their family were nearly four times more likely to be depressed (AOR = 3.77; 95% CI = 1.90, 7.47) and over four times more likely to report suicidal ideation (AOR = 4.17; 95% CI = 1.80, 9.67) than were their counterparts perceiving low levels of such unsupportive family exchanges. Those reporting high levels of positive PFS were also nearly four times *less* likely to register depression as were those reporting low levels of such support (AOR = .26; 95% CI = .12, .60), but this same significant association was not observed with suicidal ideation as the dependent variable.

Turning to the item-wise analysis of the perceived family support scale elements, only one item from the positive PFS sub-scale (a distinctly *emotional* support element) had a significant inverse association with both mental health outcomes: *Feeling shown love and caring by family* (depression: AOR = .61; 95% CI = .43, .85 / suicidal ideation: AOR = .66; 95% CI = .44, 0.98). In contrast, among the four negative PFS sub-scale items, a total of three showed significant positive associations with both depression and suicidal ideation: *Feeling disliked by family* (depression: AOR = 1.59; 95% CI = 1.14, 2.21 / suicidal ideation: AOR = 2.08; 95% CI = 1.45, 2.99), *Feeling (emotionally) distant from family* (depression: AOR = 1.63; 95% CI = 1.14, 2.33 / suicidal ideation: AOR = 2.14; 95% CI = 1.43, 3.20), and *Feeling exploited (e.g., for housework or farming) by family* (depression: AOR = 2.06; 95% CI = 1.44, 2.95; suicidal ideation: AOR = 1.80; 95% CI = 1.23, 2.65).

Regarding the moderated regression equations of depression on perceived family support sub-scale elements, the interaction term (Negative PFS sub-score x Any kids) was significant at high negative PFS levels relative to low negative PFS levels (AOR = 12.72; 95% CI = 2.53, 63.99). This suggests that the association between experiences of negative family interaction and depression was substantially stronger among those with children.

Item ^c	Der (BD	oression I-Ia <u>></u> 20)	Suicidal ideation (BDI-Ia item #9>0)		
	AOR	(95% CI)	AOR	(95% CI)	
Positive perceived family support					
Feeling shown love and caring by family	.61	(.43, .85)**	.66	(.44, .98)*	
Feeling have an important role in family	.87	(.62, 1.22)	.73	(.49, 1.07)	
Feeling involved in family decision making	.71	(.54, .93)*	.73	(.52, 1.01)	
Feeling basic needs (e.g., food, clothes) met in family	.79	(.51, 1.20)	.66	(.42, 1.03)	
Feeling supported by family when sick	.75	(.55, 1.02)	.66	(.46, .93)*	
Feeling able to share feelings with family	.67	(.50, .90)**	.93	(.65, 1.33)	
Positive PFS sub-scale score					
High (15-18)	.26	(.12, .60)**	.52	(.20, 1.34)	
Moderate (12-14)	.49	(.24, 1.03)	.53	(.21, 1.30)	
Low (0-11) (Ref)					
Negative perceived family support					
Feeling disliked by family	1.59	(1.14, 2.21)**	2.08	(1.45, 2.99)**	
Feeling (emotionally) distant from family	1.63	(1.14, 2.33)**	2.14	(1.43, 3.20)**	
Being physically hurt/beaten by family member(s)	0.85	(.42, 1.72)	1.23	(.61, 2.45)	
Feeling exploited (e.g., for housework or farming) by family	2.06	(1.44, 2.95)**	1.80	(1.23, 2.65)**	
Negative PFS sub-scale score					
High (2-12)	3.77	(1.90, 7.47)**	4.17	(1.80, 9.67)**	
Moderate (1) Low (0) (Ref)	1.48	(.61, 3.60)	1.58	(.54, 4.60)	

Table 6. Multivariable analyses^a of individual perceived family support items associated with depression and suicidal ideation (N = 315^b)

(Table continues)

Item ^c	Dep (BD	pression I-Ia>20)	Suicio (BDI-I	lal ideation a item #9>0)	
	AOR	(95% CI)	AOR	(95% CI)	
Interaction terms					
Negative PFS sub-scale score x Any kids					
High negative PFS x Any kids	12.72	(2.53, 63.99)**	2.40	(.43, 13.31)	
Moderate negative PFS x Any kids	.47	(.08, 2.92)	2.80	(.33, 23.84)	
Low negative PFS x Any kids (Ref)					

Table 6 (continued). Multivariable analyses^a of individual perceived family support items associated with depression and suicidal ideation (N = 315^b)

AOR, adjusted odds ratio; *CI*, confidence interval; *ART*, antiretroviral therapy; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; PFS, perceived family support. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01.

^a Separate analyses were carried out for each of the ten individual items on the family support scale, adjusting as well for all variables listed in Table 2.

^bSeven individuals were omitted from the analysis due to missing information regarding employment status (one individual) and BMI (six individuals). ^c Each individual item was assessed as a continuous variable, with responses ranging from 0 (Not at all) to 3 (All the time).

3.2.3. Factors associated with perceived family support

Three variables were significantly associated with global perceived family support among participants at baseline: gender, education level, and internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma. Namely, female participants and those reporting higher levels of internalized stigma perceived lower levels of family support. On the other side, those educated to the primary level or higher enjoyed higher perceived family support levels (**Table 7**).

Table 7. Multivariable analysis of factors associated with perceived family support (N = 315^a)

			95%	O CI
Variable	Coefficient (B)	SE	Lower	Upper
Gender (Female)	-3.31	.72	-4.72	-1.89**
Age, years	.04	.05	05	.13
Marital status	.72	.71	68	2.12
Any children	1.35	.73	08	2.78
Above-primary education	2.50	.64	1.25	3.75**
Gainfully employed	.03	.67	-1.29	1.35
Time since HIV diagnosis, months	01	.01	02	<.01
Receiving ART	14	.71	-1.52	1.25
Underweight (BMI<18.5)	.18	1.04	-1.87	2.23
Any illicit drug use, last 6 months	40	.91	-2.19	1.39
HIV Symptom Index score	.03	.03	02	.08
Internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score	54	.14	82	25**
Disclosure of HIV status to any family member	1.41	.81	18	2.99

SE, standard error; ART, antiretroviral therapy; BMI, body mass index.

* p < .05; ** p < .01.

^a Seven individuals were omitted from the analysis due to missing information regarding employment status (one individual) and BMI (six individuals).

3.3. Longitudinal results

3.3.1. Participants lost and retained at follow-up

Overall, 254 participants completed the 18-month follow-up interview, yielding a retention rate of 78.5%. Those lost to follow-up were more likely to be male (p = .028), to be employed (p = .008), to be underweight (p = .004), and to report not using any illicit drugs in the past 6 months (p < .001). Among participants on ART at the time of the baseline survey, those not available to participate in the follow-up interview also reported a significantly lower median time since initiating treatment (13 months vs. 24 months; p = .004; **Table 8**).

	Baseline (N	e + Follow-up I = 254)	Baseli (N	ine only = 68)	
Characteristic	n	(%)	n	(%)	<i>p</i> -value ^a
Sociodemographics					
Gender					.028
Male	138	(54.3)	47	(69.1)	
Female	116	(45.7)	21	(30.9)	
Median (IQR) Age, years ^b (Range: 20-60)	33 ((33, 38)	34	(30, 42)	.138
Marital status					.169
Unmarried	75	(29.5)	26	(38.2)	
Married	179	(70.5)	42	(61.8)	
Any children					.456
No	83	(32.7)	19	(32.7)	
Yes	171	(67.3)	49	(67.3)	
Education level ^c					.795
No formal education	45	(17.7)	12	(17.6)	
Primary (1-5 yrs.)	61	(24.0)	13	(19.1)	
Lower secondary (6-10 yrs.)	125	(49.2)	35	(51.5)	
Higher secondary and above (11+ yrs.)	23	(9.1)	8	(11.8)	
Employment status ^d					.008
Unemployed	64	(25.2)	28	(41.8)	
Employed	190	(74.8)	39	(58.2)	

Table 8. Baseline background characteristics of participants who completed the 18-month follow-up interview (N = 254) compared to those who did not complete the follow-up interview (N = 68)

(Table continues)

	Baseline + Follow-up (N = 254)	Baseline only (N = 68)	
Characteristic	n (%)	n (%)	<i>p</i> -value ^a
Clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics			
Median (IQR) Time since HIV diagnosis, months	57 (27, 90)	39 (13, 86)	.069
ART status Not currently receiving ART Receiving ART	66 (26.0) 188 (74.0)	21 (30.9) 47 (69.1)	.419
Median (IQR) Time since initiating ART, months	24 (11, 42)	13 (2, 34)	.004
Underweight (BMI < 18.5) ^e No Yes	17 (6.8) 234 (93.2)	12 (18.5) 53 (81.5)	.004
Any illicit drug use, last 6 months No Yes	226 (89.0) 28 (11.0)	49 (72.1) 19 (27.9)	<.001
Median (IQR) HIV Symptom Index score (Range: 0-52)	12 (6, 24)	12 (12, 22)	.573
Median (IQR) internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score (Range: 0-6)	3 (1, 5)	3 (2, 5)	.873
Disclosure of HIV status to any family No Yes	45 (17.7) 209 (82.3)	13 (19.1) 55 (80.9)	.789
Family support and mental health variables			
Perceived family support (Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale sco	re)		.802
Low (1 st tertile; Total score: 0-22) Moderate (2 nd tertile; Total score: 23-26) High (3 rd tertile; Total score: 27-30)	90 (35.4) 90 (35.4) 74 (29.1)	27 (39.7) 23 (33.8) 18 (26.5)	

Table 8 (*continued*). Baseline background characteristics of participants who completed the 18-month follow-up interview (N = 254) compared to those who did not complete the follow-up interview (N = 68)

(Table continues)

	Baseline + Follow-up (N = 254)		Baseline only (N = 68)		
Characteristic	n	(%)	n	(%)	<i>p</i> -value ^a
Positive family support (sub-scale score)					.180
Low (1 st tertile; Total score: 0-11)	89	(35.0)	32	(47.1)	
Moderate (2 nd tertile; Total score: 12-14)	79	(31.1)	16	(23.5)	
High (3 rd tertile; Total score: 15-18)	86	(33.9)	20	(29.4)	
Negative family support (sub-scale score)					.746
Low $(1^{st}$ tertile; Total score: 0)	149	(58.7)	37	(54.4)	
Moderate (2 nd tertile; Total score: 1)	33	(13.0)	11	(16.2)	
High (3 rd tertile; Total score: 2-8)	72	(28.3)	20	(29.4)	
Depressive symptoms ^f					.400
None to mild (BDI-Ia<20)	192	(75.6)	48	(70.6)	
Moderate to severe (BDI-Ia > 20)	62	(24.4)	20	(29.4)	
Suicidal ideation, last 3 months					.556
No	220	(86.6)	57	(83.8)	
Yes	34	(13.4)	11	(16.2)	
Ever thought about ending life since learning of HIV+ status					.620
No	156	(61.4)	44	(64.7)	
Yes	98	(38.6)	24	(35.3)	
Ever attempted suicide since learning of HIV+ status					.943
No	212	(83.5)	57	(83.8)	
Yes	42	(16.5)	11	(16.2)	

Table 8 (*continued*). Baseline background characteristics of participants who completed the 18-month follow-up interview (N = 254) compared to those who did not complete the follow-up interview (N = 68)

IQR, interquartile range; ART, antiretroviral therapy; BMI, body mass index; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory.

^a For categorical variables, the Chi-square test was used to assess the differences between those submitting for both baseline and follow-up interviews and those unavailable for follow-up. For continuous variables, the Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare distributions across the groups.

^bTwo individuals did not respond to this item; their ages were set as the median (33 years) for the sake of analyses.

^cEducation level categories were defined based on the structure of the Nepalese education system.
^d One individual did not respond to this item.

^e Height and weight measurements were not collected for six individuals, for whom BMI could thus not be calculated.

^f A score of 20 or more on the Beck Depression Inventory indicates moderate-to-severe depression with the need for mental health intervention, based on clinical validation of the scale in Nepal (sensitivity = 0.73, specificity = 0.91).³⁰²

Delta change scores, calculated as the difference between follow-up and baseline scores, were computed for both depressive symptoms and perceived family support in order to provide an assessment of intra-individual changes over the follow-up period (**Table 9**). An inspection of the distribution of these scores revealed notable fluctuations over time in both variables. Delta change scores for depressive symptoms ranged from a low of -40 (indicating an improvement in depression symptoms over time) to a high of 29 (indicating a worsening in depression symptoms over time). For perceived family support, meanwhile, delta change scores ranged from -20 to 23.

		Perceived Family Support (Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale score)				
Changes scores	Depressive symptoms (BDI-Ia score)	Total PFS score	Positive PFS sub-scale score	Negative PFS sub-scale score		
Median change	-6	0	0	0		
Minimum change	-40	-20	-14	-12		
Maximum change	29	23	23	9		
25 th percentile	-13	-2	-1	-1		
75 th percentile	0	4	3	0		

Table 9. Delta change scores for depressive symptoms and family support from baseline to 18-month follow-up (N = 254)

BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; PFS, perceived family support.

Of particular note for the present analyses, there were notable variations in the individual scores of depression between baseline and follow-up assessments. Out of the 254 participants retained at baseline, most (70.4%, n = 179) showed either a decrease or an increase of 5 points or more (corresponding to a clinically important difference³⁰³) in their BDI-Ia scores. Among the 62 participants who met the BDI-Ia threshold for moderate-to-severe depression at baseline and completed follow-up interviews, 16.1% (n = 10) were still depressive (BDI-Ia \geq 20) at follow-up. Meanwhile, of the 192 participants interviewed

at follow-up who fell below the BDI-Ia-defined threshold for depression at baseline, 8.3% (n=16) were newly depressive (BDI-Ia ≥ 20) at follow-up.

This instability in the scores of depressive symptoms over time among participants is reflected in the low, though significant, correlation coefficient between baseline and follow-up BDI-Ia scores (r = .22; p < .01), as depicted in the scatterplot of baseline and follow-up depressive symptoms shown in **Figure 5**.





This instability has implications for the analysis. In the longitudinal approach, baseline perceived family support is defined as a predictor variable for follow-up depressive symptoms, adjusting for baseline BDI-Ia scores. As the majority of participants showed important variations in depression over the follow-up period, even after adjusting for baseline depressive symptoms, much variance remains to be explained by the independent variables. The relative instability of depressive symptoms over the follow-up period of this study therefore contributes to the utility of the longitudinal analysis.

3.3.3. Influence of baseline perceived family support on adjusted follow-up depression

Table 10 presents results of the multiple linear regression using baseline perceived family support scores as the dependent variable predicting adjusted follow-up depressive symptoms. The baseline BDI-Ia scores explained 5% of the variability (\mathbb{R}^2) in depression at follow-up. After addition of sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial covariates, Model 2 explained 15% of the variability in depression at follow-up. Finally, results from the addition of total score on the Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale in Model 3 showed that perceived family support contributed significantly (p = .001) to the variance in depression at follow-up, beyond that afforded by demographic and clinical covariates, explaining an additional 3% for a total of 19% variance in follow-up depression explained by the model. In the final model, perceived family support (B = -.31, 95% CI = -.51, -.12) and gainful employment (B = -2.67; 95% CI = -4.94, -.40) were statistically significant in their protective effects on adjusted follow-up depressive symptoms, while female gender (B = 3.31; 95% CI = .95, 5.68) and using illicit drugs in the past 6 months (B = 3.46; 95% CI = .30, 6.62) emerged as risk factors for depressive symptoms at follow-up.

Table 10.	Hierarchical regression	results showing	additional varianc	e in adjusted follow-up
depressive	e symptoms explained by	v total perceived	family support sco	re at baseline (N = 254)

Variable			95% CI	
Variable	В	SE	Lower	Upper
Model 1: Baseline BDI-Ia score adjustment				
(Constant)	4.93	.87	3.21	6.65
Baseline depressive symptoms	.19	.05	.09	.29**
R ² change = .05 R ² _{adj} = .05 F (1, 252) = 13.08 p < .001				
			(Table	continues

Variable			95% CI				
variable	В	SE	Lower	Upper			
Model 2: + Sociodemographic/clinical/health behavioral/psychosocial covariate adjustment							
(Constant)	-1.75	3.32	-8.30	4.79			
Baseline depressive symptoms	.11	.06	-(<.01)	.22			
Gender (Female)	4.37	1.18	2.05	6.69**			
Age	.07	.08	10	.23			
Marital status (Married)	.99	1.13	-1.24	3.23			
Any children	1.44	1.16	84	3.72			
Above-primary education	41	1.06	-2.50	1.68			
Gainfully employed	-2.54	1.17	-4.85	23*			
Months since HIV diagnosis	.02	.01	<.01	.04*			
On ART	.86	1.17	-1.44	3.15			
Any illicit drug use, last 6 months	2.99	1.63	21	6.20			
HIV Symptom Index score	.06	.04	02	.14			
Internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score	.18	.25	32	.67			
F (11, 241) = 3.91 p < .001 Model 3: + Total perceived family support							
(Constant)	5 57	3 07	2.26	13 30			
Baseline depressive symptoms	05	06	-2.20	15.57			
Gender (Female)	3 31	1 20	.00	5 68**			
A ge	10	08	- 07	26			
Marital status (Married)	1 20	1.12	-1.00	3 39			
Any children	1.20	1 14	- 47	4 02			
Above-primary education	.09	1.05	-1.99	2.16			
Gainfully employed	-2.67	1.15	-4.94	40*			
Months since HIV diagnosis	.02	01	< .01	.04			
On ART	.82	1.14	-1.43	3.07			
Any illicit drug use last 6 months	3.46	1.60	.30	6.62*			
HIV Symptom Index score	.07	04	01	.15			
Internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score	.10	.25	39	.58			
Total perceived family support	31	.10	51	12**			
R ² change = .03 R ² _{adj} = .19 F (1, 240) = 10.34 p = .001							

Table 10 (*continued*). Hierarchical regression results showing additional variance in adjusted follow-up depressive symptoms explained by total perceived family support score at baseline (N = 254)

SE, standard error; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; ART, antiretroviral therapy. * p < .05; ** p < .01.

Table 11, meanwhile, presents the hierarchical regression results for the additional variance in adjusted follow-up depressive symptoms explained by baseline positive and negative PFS sub-scale scores. These showed that negative perceived family support was a significant (p = .04) predictor of depressive symptoms beyond sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial covariates in the third step (i.e., when considered separately from positive perceived family support). Namely, individuals who reported higher perceptions of negative family interaction at baseline also reported higher levels of depression at follow-up. However, the effect disappeared once positive family support was also added to the model; hence, perceptions of negative family interaction did not appear to have a main effect on depression at follow-up after accounting for the effect of positive family interaction perceptions. Positive perceived family support, however, contributed significantly (p = .04) to the variance in depression at follow-up – beyond that afforded by sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial covariates and by negative perceived family support – explaining an additional 1% for a total of 18% variance in follow-up depression explained by the final model (Model 4).

Table 11. Hierarchical regression results showing additional variance in adjusted follow-up depressive symptoms explained by positive and negative perceived family support sub-scale scores at baseline (N=254)

Variable	В	SE	95% CI		
		SE	Lower	Upper	
Model 1:					
Baseline BDI-Ia score adjustment					
R ² change = .05 R ² _{adj} = .05 F (1, 252) = 13.08 p < .001					
Model 2:					
+ Sociodemographic/clinical/health behav	ioral/psycho	osocial cova	ariate adjus	tment	
R^2 change = .14					
$\mathbf{R}^2_{\mathrm{adj}} = .15$					
F(11, 241) = 3.91					
p < .001					

(Table continues)

Table 11 (*continued*). Hierarchical regression results showing additional variance in adjusted follow-up depressive symptoms explained by positive and negative perceived family support sub-scale scores at baseline (N=254)

Variable	D	SE	95% CI	
Variable	В		Lower	Upper
Model 3:				
+ Negative perceived family support				
(Constant)	-2.36	3.31	-8.88	4.16
Baseline depressive symptoms	.07	.06	04	.18
Gender (Female)	3.89	1.19	1.55	6.24**
Age	.09	.08	08	.26
Marital status (Married)	1.06	1.13	-1.16	3.28
Any children	1.46	1.15	80	3.73
Above-primary education	28	1.06	-2.36	1.80
Gainfully employed	-2.64	1.17	-4.93	34*
Months since HIV diagnosis	.02	.01	<.01	.04*
On ART	.62	1.16	-1.67	2.91
Any illicit drug use, last 6 months	3.16	1.62	02	6.35
HIV Symptom Index score	.07	.04	02	.15
Internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score	.19	.25	31	.68
Negative perceived family support	.47	.22	.03	.91*
R^2 change = .02				
$\mathbf{R}_{adj}^{2} = .17$				
F(1, 240) = 4.47				
$\mathbf{p} = .04$				
Model 4:				
+ Positive perceived family support				
(Constant)	2.24	3.97	-5.59	10.06
Baseline depressive symptoms	.06	.06	06	.17
Gender (Female)	3.44	1.20	1.07	5.81**
Age	.09	08	08	25
Marital status (Married)	1 31	1 1 3	- 91	3 53
Any children	1.81	1.15	- 47	4 07
Above-primary education	.17	1.07	-1.94	2.28
Gainfully employed	-2.69	1.16	-4.97	40*
Months since HIV diagnosis	.02	01	< 01	04
On ART	.88	1.16	-1.41	3.16
Any illicit drug use last 6 months	3.48	1.61	.30	6.65*
HIV Symptom Index score	.07	04	01	15
Internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score	.07	25	- 41	59
Negative perceived family support	14	.25	_ 39	68
Positive perceived family support	- 35	.27	- 68	- 02*
		•1 /	-100	•••
R^2 change = .01				
$\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{adj}}^{2} = .18$				
F(1, 239) = 4.26				
p = .04				

SE, standard error; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; ART, antiretroviral therapy. * p < .05; ** p < .01.

3.3.4. Structural equation models of PFS effects on depressive symptoms and suicidality

Figure 6 shows the path coefficients calculated by SEM of the direct relationship between perceived family support at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and at 18-month follow-up. Consistent with regression results presented above, baseline perceived family support inversely predicted depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts both concurrently (depressive symptoms: B = -.41, SE = .09, p < .001; suicidal thoughts: B = -.01, SE < .01, p = .004) and prospectively (at 18-month follow-up; depressive symptoms: B = -1.02, SE = .42, p = .02; suicidal thoughts: B = -.94, SE = .44, p = .03), adjusting for other covariates. Figure 6. Structural equation model findings for direct relationship between perceived family support at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and 18-month follow-up



* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.

Note: Values shown are unstandardized regression coefficients with standard errors. Only significant (p < .05) pathways are shown.

Figure 7 shows the path coefficients calculated by SEM of the moderated relationship between perceived family support sub-scale scores at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and at 18-month follow-up. This second structural model examined the interrelationships among baseline negative PFS, baseline positive PFS as a potential moderator, and baseline and 18-month depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts. Expanding upon regression results presented earlier, SEM revealed baseline negative PFS, when considered in conjunction with the effects of baseline positive PFS, to be a significant predictor of baseline depressive symptoms (B = .87, SE = .27, p = .001) and suicidal thoughts (B = .05, SE = .02, p = .02) but not of follow-up depressive symptoms or suicidal thoughts, consistent with a possible buffering effect through positive PFS. Baseline positive PFS, meanwhile, inversely predicted follow-up depressive symptoms (B = .2.18, SE = .68, p = .001) and suicidal thoughts (B = .2.02, SE = .73, p = .01) but was not associated with baseline mental health outcomes when considered alongside negative PFS. Figure 7. Structural equation model findings for moderated relationship between perceived family support sub-scale scores at baseline and depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts at baseline and 18-month follow-up



* p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001. ART, antiretroviral therapy; PFS, perceived family support.

Note: Values shown are unstandardized regression coefficients with standard errors. Only significant (p < .05) pathways are shown.

3.3.5. Influence of delta changes in PFS on incidence of depression and suicidal ideation

Table 12 shows the results of logistic regression analyses of categorical changes in perceived family support dimensions from baseline to follow-up associated with incident depression and suicidal ideation at 18-month follow-up. Regarding total PFS scores, a decrease (i.e., negative delta change) or sustained low level in perception of family support from baseline to follow-up was associated with higher incidence of BDI-Ia-defined depression at follow-up among those not depressed at baseline (AOR = 4.21; 95% CI = 1.17, 15.16). Conversely, an increased or sustained high level in perception of family support from baseline to follow-up was associated with lower incidence of new depression at follow-up (AOR = .22; 95% CI = .06, .83).

Analyzing the impacts of changes in the PFS sub-scale scores separately in the same manner, the largest effect sizes and most significant associations observed were between changes in negative perceived family support from baseline to follow-up and suicidal ideation observed at follow-up. Namely, participants who experienced decreased or sustained low levels of negative perceived family support from baseline to follow-up (AOR = .15; 95% CI = .05, .45). By the same token, those who experienced increased or sustained high levels of negative perceived family support from baseline to follow-up were over seven times *more* likely to report suicidal ideation at follow-up were over seven times *more* likely to report suicidal ideation at follow-up were support from baseline to follow-up were over seven times *more* likely to report suicidal ideation at follow-up (AOR = 7.30; 95% CI = 2.33, 22.87). In contrast, those reporting increased or sustained high levels of *positive* support from baseline to follow-up were significantly less likely to experience new depression at follow-up (AOR = .26; 95% CI = .07, .95).

Table 12. Multivariable analyses^a of changes in perceived family support dimensions from baseline to follow-up associated with incident depression and suicidal ideation at 18-month follow-up

PFS change category ^a	Depression (BDI-Ia≥20) incidence (N=189 ^b)		Suicid (BDI-Ia (N=	al ideation a item #9>0) =254°)
	AOR	(95% CI)	AOR	(95% CI)
Total Perceived Family Support				
Decrease (negative Δ change) or sustained lowest-tertile level ^d	4.21	(1.17, 15.16)*	2.49	(.81, 7.64)
Increase (positive Δ change) or sustained highest-tertile level ^e	.22 (.06, .83)*		.47	(.16, 1.44)
Positive Family Support (sub-scale score)				
Decrease (negative Δ change) or sustained lowest-tertile level ^d	2.38	(.71, 8.01)	1.10	(.36, 3.32)
Increase (positive Δ change) or sustained highest-tertile level ^e	.26	(.07, .95)*	1.11	(.37, 3.31)
Negative Family Support (sub-scale score)				
Decrease (negative Δ change) or sustained lowest-tertile level ^d	.49	(.14, 1.69)	.15	(.05, .45)**
Increase (positive Δ change) or sustained highest-tertile level ^e	2.27	(.65, 7.99)	8.09	(2.72, 24.11)**

BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; AOR, adjusted odds ratio. CI, confidence interval. PFS, perceived family support.

* p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01.

^a Separate logistic regression analyses were carried out for each category of perceived family support change, adjusting as well for sex, age, baseline marital status, baseline education level, baseline employment status, time since HIV diagnosis, ART status, recent illicit drug use, baseline HIV Symptom Index score, baseline internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score, and (in the case of the regression on suicidal ideation) baseline suicidal ideation.

^b Analyses of depression incidence were limited to those 189 participants *without* BDI-Ia-defined depression at baseline who also participated in the 18month follow-up interview.

^c Analyses of suicidal ideation in the past 2 weeks (as measured at 18-month follow-up) were conducted on all 254 individuals who completed follow-up interviews.

^d Reference category: Participants showing an increase or sustained highest- or middle-tertile level of PFS dimension.

^e Reference category: Participants showing a decrease or sustained lowest- or middle-tertile level of PFS dimension.

3.3.6. Influence of delta changes in PFS on delta changes in depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation

Expanding on the analysis of impacts in changes in PFS on mental health outcomes over the 18-month follow-up period, **Table 13** shows the results of linear regression analyses of continuous changes in perceived family support dimensions from baseline to follow-up associated with corresponding changes in depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts. As in the analysis of categorically defined PFS changes associated with incident depression and suicidal ideation at follow-up, changes in total and positive PFS were negatively associated with changes in depressive symptoms over the 18-month follow-up (*Total PFS*: B = -.48, SE = .14, p = .001; *Positive PFS*: B = -.38, SE = .18, p = .037), though the same associations were not found with changes in suicidal thoughts. Notably, as indicated in the stratified analyses, these changes were only significant (or nearly significant) for individuals with *low* baseline PFS scores (*Total PFS*: B = -.50, SE = .17, p = .004; *Positive PFS*: B = -.45, SE = .24, p = .065).

Meanwhile, as in the analysis of categorically defined PFS changes associated with incident depression and suicidal ideation at follow-up, the most significant associations were observed with changes in *negative* PFS. Unlike the categorical analyses, however, these positive associations were observed for changes across mental health outcomes – in depressive symptoms (B = 1.36, SE = .32, p < .001) as well as suicidal thoughts (B = .08, SE = .02, p < .001). Moreover, the associations were significant regardless of the baseline negative PFS levels, though the coefficients were slightly larger in the case of low baseline negative PFS scores.

DFS change dimension ^a	Depressive sy	ymptoms	Suicidal thoughts		
1 F5 change unitension	(Δ change in I	BDI score)	(Δ change in BDI #9 score)		
	Coefficient				
	(B)	SE	В	SE	
Total Perceived Family Support	48	.14**	01	.01	
w/ Low baseline score	50	.17**	01	.01	
w/ High baseline score	29	.31	.02	.02	
Positive Perceived Family Support	38	.18*	.02	.01	
w/ Low baseline score	45	.24	.01	.02	
w/ High baseline score	23	.36	.04	.02	
Negative Perceived Family Support	1.36	.32***	.08	.02***	
w/ Low baseline score	1.67	.82*	.10	.04*	
w/ High baseline score	1.32	.40**	.08	.04*	

Table 13. Multivariable analyses^a of changes in perceived family support dimensions from baseline to follow-up associated with changes in depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts from baseline to follow-up, with stratified analysis by baseline PFS scores (N=254)

BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; SE, standardized error. PFS, perceived family support. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < .001.

^a Separate logistic regression analyses were carried out for each category of perceived family support change, adjusting as well for sex, age, baseline marital status, baseline education level, baseline employment status, time since HIV diagnosis, ART status, recent illicit drug use, baseline HIV Symptom Index score, and baseline internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma score.

4. Discussion

Levels of depressive symptoms among the surveyed PLWHA were high though ostensibly unstable after 18 months, suggesting the importance of immediate environmental factors in determining coping with and adaptation to life with HIV/AIDS. As Rabkin⁹ posits in his 2008 review of global evidence on HIV and depression, "most people with HIV are not depressed most of the time, and their resilience is as noteworthy as their psychopathology". Yet, whether transient or persistent, endogenous or exogenous, depression and suicidal ideation are critical burdens to be addressed in HIV prevention and care; the key, then, is to hone in on the modifiable risk and resilience factors to promote consistent and sustained mental health and well-being.

Most notably, results from the present study indicate family support perceptions as a key leverage point for psychosocial interventions in the context of HIV/AIDS in a lowincome South Asian country. Against heavy burdens of BDI-Ia-defined depression (26%) and suicidal ideation (14%) among PLWHA in the Kathmandu Valley of Nepal, crosssectional and prospective analyses showed that perceptions of positive family support – especially in the emotional realm and over time – appeared to have a protective effect and perceptions of negative family support a potentially even stronger contributing effect. Meanwhile, cross-sectional and prospective associations between the assessed mental health outcomes and a number of key sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and other psychosocial characteristics were also observed.

4.1. Cross-sectional associations at baseline

4.1.2. Perceived family support

Among the central findings of this study, the global construct of perceived family support emerged as a major correlate of both depression and suicidal ideation in baseline crosssectional analyses. Indeed, those participants reporting the highest level of perceived family support were over six times less likely than those at the lowest level to register BDI-Ia-defined depression and almost three times less likely to endorse suicidal ideation. In the case of depression, the effect was moderated somewhat by the length of time since being diagnosed with HIV, suggesting an escalating role of family support with more months lived under the unique strains of the disease. This result uniquely extends theory on the link between perceived family support and psychological distress to an HIV-specific population in a developing, non-Western country context, elucidating the strong and potentially protective effect of family support in terms of depression and suicidality risks. Although families generally function differently depending on cultural context, these findings point to overarching commonalities regarding the influence of perceived family support, beyond the specific setting or the particular nature of the stressors.

Yet, based on item-wise multivariate analysis of the perceived family support scale in relation to depression and suicidal ideation, some elements of family support appear to be more important than others to the lived experience of HIV/AIDS. Namely, consistent with certain under-explored threads in research on social support and psychological wellbeing,^{214,304} the greatest effects across both mental health outcomes were observed in the *negative* support domain, particularly with regard to suicidal ideation – an especially dangerous manifestation of psychological distress. Such variations in the effects observed suggest that these different dimensions of perceived family support are indeed related but

distinct constructs, indicating the need for tailored interventions in both areas of support. Also notable in this regard was the greater effect of negative perceived family support on depression observed among PLWHA having at least one child, suggesting a heightened vulnerability to the harmful mental health impacts of family-related interpersonal stressors among those with the stronger tethering to family life that having progeny entails. Moreover, the responsibility of caring for a child may serve as an additional stressor for PLWHA,³⁰⁵ particularly in the context of a dysfunctional family environment.

With specific reference to the individual PFS scale items as correlates, feelings of being exploited, rejected, and emotionally distant from family members played heavily into experiences of depression and suicidal ideation at baseline. One explanation for this may be that negative interactions are less frequently encountered and hence more saliently felt relative to positive ones. This may be particularly true in the case of family relationships. Moreover, negative interactions can potentially undermine an individual's sense of personal control or self-worth, erode motivation to engage in positive health behaviors, and provoke adverse physiological responses.³⁰⁶ Such results are in line with the domain-specific model of the link between interpersonal exchanges and mental health, in which interpersonal strains are more potently manifested in negative affective states like depression and suicidality, whereas supportive exchanges may be expected to exert a greater impact on positive well-being.²¹⁴

Among the positive forms of social support, emotional support is generally reported to be the most important for its clear links to health in terms of both direct and buffering effects.^{180,201} Moreover, previous studies have shown that family in particular is typically a major source of emotional support.^{307,308} Consistent with this, emotional support and nurturance elements of feeling loved, cared for, and understood within the family emerged as important correlates in buffering against negative psychological states, whereas

instrumental support factors appeared not to be as critical in determining mental health among the PLWHA surveyed. The distinct role of feeling loved and understood in relation to mental health outcomes may arise from a psychological construct, *mattering*, developed by Rosenberg and McCullough,³⁰⁹ the main components of which lie in one's perception of being an object of importance to another person and of being depended upon by others for something needed or wanted. Feelings of connectedness to the family are likely to reduce sensations of social isolation and loneliness – antecedents to suicidal thoughts and behaviors. This would appear to be true across a variety of disease states, as echoed in similar findings among patients with cancer and their families.³¹⁰ Accordingly, future psychosocial interventions should focus on identifying and enhancing sources of emotional support even more so than more practical instrumental manifestations of assistance, particularly within family networks.

4.1.2. Sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics

Beyond family support, six further independent variables had significant associations with depression and/or suicidal ideation after adjustment: *employment status* (inversely associated with both depression and suicidal ideation), *being underweight* (positively associated with depression), *ART treatment status* (positively associated with depression; statistical significance not reached with suicidal ideation), *reporting any illicit drug use in the past 6 months* (positively associated with suicidal ideation; statistical significance not reached with suicidal ideation; statistical significance not with depression), *internalized HIV/AIDS-related stigma* (positively associated with depression), and *age* (positively associated with depression).

Among all identified correlates of the measured mental health outcomes, only employment status reached statistical significance in its associations with both depression and suicidal ideation. While such a relationship with depression has previously been suggested in the general population,³¹¹ as has a link with quality of life among PLWHA in Canada,³¹² evidence of the corresponding links with suicidality in PLWHA has so far been scarce. Notably, employment is generally regarded as an integral component of health and well-being in facilitating structured time and regular activity, regular contact with people outside the immediate family, and connection with goals transcending one's own, and thus imbuing a sense of self-esteem, life satisfaction, and personal identity.³¹³ For PLWHA, the normalizing function of employment may be especially beneficial in helping to replace the "patient" identity. Moreover, unemployment is typically a major issue among PLWHA because loss of productive work days due to illness dramatically increases the likelihood of job loss.³¹⁴ With rates of unemployment at baseline placed at 29% among PLWHA in the present study, these findings highlight the critical importance of incorporating vocational training and employment counseling into psychosocial interventions for such groups.

A similar observation may be made of the observed link between recent illicit drug use and suicidal ideation. Though numerous studies point to the relationship between addiction, mental health, and suicide,³¹⁵ few have described the relationship between suicidality and substance use among PLWHA. Given the serious nature of suicidal thoughts as a precursor to actual suicidal behavior, these findings demand critical attention toward adapting HIV care and treatment programs to address co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders. Future interventions might fruitfully explore ways to more closely integrate drug dependence treatment into ongoing HIV care.

PLWHA who were underweight were also more likely to be depressed at baseline in the present study, though no such association was observed with suicidal ideation. The correlation uncovered between depression and low BMI among PLWHA in a low-income South Asian country expands on similar findings in a study of HIV-positive men who have

sex with men in the United States.³¹⁶ This likely stems from the substantial weight loss that frequently comes with disease progression and/or the side effects of treatment.³¹⁷

Relating also to the possible side effects of treatment, the results suggest that PLWHA treated with ART are more susceptible than those not receiving ART to both depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation (though this result did not reach statistical significance, likely due to inadequate sample size), particularly in the earlier treatment stages – perhaps when patients have not yet had time to adjust to the unique strains of treatment or to develop effective coping mechanisms that lead to reduced depression and suicidality risk over time. The undisputed benefits of ART notwithstanding, previous studies have shown that neuropsychiatric side-effects including cognitive disorders, anxiety, mood disorders, and suicidal ideation are seen in up to 73% of HIV-infected patients on treatment regimens.^{79,109} On top of this, profound changes in the lived experience and perception of illness resulting from ART introduction could potentially influence development of depression. In contrast, in other studies, depression symptom severity has been found to decline with cumulative duration of ART,³¹⁸ and the psychological benefits of HIV treatment have been described in cross-sectional and longitudinal studies alike, although the biological mechanisms underlying the association remains unclear.³¹⁹⁻³²² Against the backdrop of literature detailing a knotty linkage between mental health problems and treatment outcomes, results of the present study highlight the need for further work to decipher the short- and long-term impacts of ART on mental health outcomes and for interventions to address potential neuropsychiatric side effects of treatment regimens.

Meanwhile, the identification of stigma as a risk factor for depression is compounded by the fact that those with higher stigma scores also exhibited lower levels of perceived family support, pointing to a heightened and complexly interwoven vulnerability to

depression. Notably, both mental illness and HIV/AIDS are highly stigmatized conditions in Nepal, as in many other countries – in part because of the extent to which an individual's ailments and behavior are seen as negatively impacting the whole family.^{133,323} Within families, forms of discrimination against PLWHA in Nepal may include restrictions on everyday activities such as movement outside the home, exposure to media, use of communal eating utensils, and access to financial resources; in some cases, family-level discrimination can even escalate to physical abuse,¹³⁷ as underscored in the present study. Toward combatting such deeply ingrained elements contributing to the burden of mental illness in PLWHA, both community- and family-level anti-stigma interventions may be helpful.

Finally, with regard to the observed cross-sectional association between abovemedian age and depression, given the relatively limited spectrum of ages included in the present study (20-40 years), this may simply reflect age biases in assessment of depression and the masking effect of other risk factor that vary with age. Previous studies in general populations have found no consistent pattern across studies for age differences in the occurrence of depression. Notably, however, the most common trend found has been for an initial rise across age groups, followed by a drop.³²⁴ Had the present study been extended to a more elderly population, a similar pattern might also have been found in older age groups.

4.2. Longitudinal associations

4.2.2. Perceived family support

Perceived family support at baseline had main effects on both depression and suicidality at follow-up among the surveyed PLWHA. Namely, higher levels of perceived family support predicted lower levels of depressive symptoms and suicidal thoughts across time,

independent of cross-sectional relations and time effects and beyond the influences of key sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and other psychosocial covariates. Moreover, results indicated that lower levels of positive PFS significantly contributed to the variance in depressive symptoms at follow-up, when the demographic and clinical covariates as well as the baseline measure of depression were taken into account. Negative perceived family support also contributed to the variance in depressive symptoms at follow-up, but only when considered separately from positive perceived family support, suggesting the presence of cross-domain buffering effects between positive and negative aspects of family relations in the psychosocial experiences of PLWHA.

While some studies have reported that negative aspects of support are better predictors of psychological symptoms than positive aspects, this finding was only partially borne out in the present sample of PLWHA. This suggests that, the strong effects of unsupportive family interactions notwithstanding, given the relative paucity of negative family support in the experience of most individuals, positive aspects of family support may generally serve as a better prospective predictor of depression among PLWHA. When negative exchanges do occur, they may be more immediately potent or salient than positive exchanges, but, when aggregated, may be less consequential for psychological health precisely because they occur infrequently. That is, the potent-but-scarce negative exchanges may have less cumulative impact on well-being than do the comparatively weak-but-common positive exchanges.

Overall, findings point to the important role of positive perceived family support not only in its direct effect on mental health outcomes, but also for buffering the deleterious impact of negative perceived family support on depression. The ostensibly protective role of the positive dimension of perceived family support is consistent with previous research on social support and mental disorders. Additional evidence in the general population

similarly suggests that social support buffers the effects of negative interaction on depression and psychological distress.^{225,231,325} In this sense, family interactions emerge not only as a source of psychological stress but also as an asset that can potentially provide PLWHA with resources to cope with perhaps isolated incidences of negative family exchange. These results are in line with the *joint effects hypothesis* of the interaction between social support and social undermining, which conceptualizes negative social interaction as a stressor in its own right and examines social support as a moderator of the effects of such social undermining.^{214,231}

At the same time, the observed impacts of negative PFS in the immediate term and when assessed as changes over time also underscore the special importance of negative family interactions, particularly in predicting the particularly dire mental health disturbance of suicidal ideation. Considering trajectories of change in negative and positive perceived family support separately, only changes in *negative* PFS over the assessment period showed a significant association with either of the mental health outcomes at follow-up – with substantial effect sizes expressed in suicidal ideation reported at 18 months among the PLWHA surveyed. Though previous studies have shown the ameliorating effect of positive forms of family support on risk of suicide behaviors for other populations, this is among the first to demonstrate the converse effect for negative perceived family support in an HIV-positive population.

Notably, moreover, it was the *decreases* (or sustained low levels) in perception of family support that were associated with the greatest effect sizes in both depression incidence and suicidal ideation at follow-up, with similar results observed in the analysis of continuous changes vs. changes. This is consistent with stress-related research, wherein evidence indicates that negative stimulation or the potential loss of resources (material,

interpersonal, or intrapersonal) are typically more emotionally and motivationally arousing than positive stimulation or the potential acquisition of resources.³²⁶

Overall, changes in perceptions of support received from family were highly correlated with and strongly predictive of both depressive symptomatology and suicidal ideation at follow-up. Though social support has been conceptualized, primarily, as a static construct whose role has been established through snapshots at one point in time, findings from the current study suggest that perceptions of support from family may be part of a larger, dynamic process. As social learning theorists have long emphasized, it is, after all, through ongoing interactions with environmental resources (e.g., supportive or unsupportive relationships) that individuals ultimately frame their own sense of self and experience the world around them.³²⁷

4.2.2. Sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and psychosocial characteristics

Longitudinal regression results revealed just three sociodemographic and psychosocial characteristics to be significant in their prospective associations with depressive symptoms: *female gender, unemployment*, and *reported illicit drug use in the past 6 months*. While the latter two variables were previously identified in the cross-sectional analyses, female gender only emerged as a correlate of depression in the longitudinal analyses. This result is in keeping with previous findings – both in that women in the general population are at least twice as likely as men to be diagnosed with depression³²⁸ and in that gender is an important element in the experience of illness generally and HIV specifically.³²⁹

Compared with men living with HIV/AIDS, women living with HIV/AIDS often experience increased distress, lower health-related quality of life, and fewer social resources.³³⁰ Additionally, conservative values and social norms favor stigmatization of HIV-infected women in certain cultural contexts, which is likely to make them more reluctant to disclose their HIV status, further isolating female PLWHA from social and family support resources.^{187,331} In the context of the gender gap accordingly observed in levels of perceived family support in the present baseline cross-sectional analysis (a finding echoed in another study of PLWHA in Nepal¹⁶⁹), the importance of addressing family-level interactions among female PLWHA becomes especially important. Importantly, research in other populations of PLWHA has indicated that social support may be particularly important for women, as they tend to rely more on social relationships compared to men in similar situations.³³² The findings thus identify a modifiable risk factor for poor mental health that, if addressed, has the potential to improve the health of PLWHA and attenuate the widening gender inequities observed in the distribution of HIV/AIDS harms worldwide.³³³

4.3. Study limitations

Results should be interpreted in light of several limitations inherent to the present study. First, this study relies on self-report measures, leaving room for several potential sources of bias. These include biases in responding due to the personal and sensitive nature of the questions and the face-to-face interview format. The potential for such social desirability bias was carefully minimized, however, in the procedures followed for data collection. Interviews were administered in a private environment using a structured questionnaire and a confidential and sensitive approach to survey administration. Interviewers were experienced professionals in the task of survey administration and were carefully trained on specific interview techniques and survey questionnaire content in preparation for this study. Similarly, errors in recall and actor-observer bias also may have distorted some responses. Participants were asked, for example, to report their own illness-related characteristics, such as date of HIV diagnosis and date of ART initiation. It is possible that

participants were uncertain about the aforementioned variables, though the resulting impact on the primary results would likely have been minimal.

An additional bias potentially introduced through the use of self-report measures and the possible loop of causality between the dependent and independent variables is the issue of endogeneity. In particular, perceived family support, psychological distress, and health status measures were self-reported, and unmeasured personality characteristics or attributional styles may have affected such measures. This problem was at least partially mitigated by the use of measurements taken at two different time points and by the use of an analytic strategy that examined changes. However, a certain amount of caution must still be exercised in interpreting the results; it cannot necessarily be determined with complete certainty, for example, whether respondents are depressed because they perceive low levels of support available to them, or if the feelings of inadequate support are a function of some third, unmeasured variable influencing measurement of both constructs. On a related note, the possibility of reverse causality cannot be entirely ruled out, though the interpretation of the associations presented is in accordance with an established mechanism of action¹³⁹ along with a number of other studies examining social and family support as a determinant of psychological distress.¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷³ Overall, results still offer some useful indication as to the degree to which perceptions about family support are related to experiences of depression and suicidal ideation.

On the other side, one advantage of using self-report measures is that they facilitate an assessment of unobservable, internal cognitive processes. Both theory and a large volume of empirical research has indicated that it is these internal processes that play a key role in determining the effects of stress, social support, and social strain.^{334,335} Prior research also suggests that much or all of the effect of support on mental health outcomes is cognitively mediated in that the quantity and type of social interactions improve

outcomes only to the extent that they affect one's perceptions or satisfaction with support.^{139,336-338} Previous studies have found, moreover, that perception is generally a better predictor of health outcome than the actual receipt of social support and a more sensitive measure of the ability to cope with mental health challenges.^{139,145-147,338} As far as the use of self-report measures to assess perceived family support, depression, and suicidal ideation, the present study relied on scales specifically developed for use in Nepal and used with success in previous studies to measure these constructs.

Second, it should be acknowledged that there was only a moderate median level of negative family support observed within the sample. While there was also a relatively substantial amount of variation in the negative family support that participants reported, the overall level was not extreme. The fact that even relatively low levels of perceived family dysfunction appeared to substantively impact mental health thus speaks to the power of these effects and indicates how experiences of negative family interaction may be especially important to consider for PLWHA. However, this also leaves open the question of whether positive family support would have as powerful a buffering effect when individuals are faced with more extreme levels of negative family interaction. Clearly, this is an additional area for future research.

Third, it must be recognized that the analyses undertaken in the present study examine only a limited subset of factors contributing to the complex etiology of mental health problems comorbid with HIV/AIDS. In particular, the focus is placed specifically on dimensions of perceived family support as potentially modifiable factors directly influencing the experience of depression and suicidal ideation among PLWHA. Though the multivariable models used incorporate a number of key sociodemographic, clinical, health behavioral, and other psychosocial covariates, they do not, for example, include other key factors such as alcohol consumption, previous medical history, or CD4 cell count. Genetic,

biochemical, and related cognitive variables were also not measured in the present study. Moreover, constructed models do not take into account the potential influences of other sources of formal or informal support, nor do they look at the potential interactive effects of the full range of HIV-specific stressors. As such, the picture that emerges represents only a simplified snapshot of one element in a larger framework of yet-poorly-understood moderation and causation. That being said, the primary purpose of this research ultimately was not to undertake a comprehensive modeling of the etiology of mental health problems in PLWHA, but rather to examine one potential pathway toward ameliorating the observed burden of depression and suicidal ideation in this population.

Fourth, the strength of the longitudinal design notwithstanding, sample attrition and missing data have the potential to create a selection bias. There was some evidence for selective attrition in this sample among, for example those who were employed and those not reporting any illicit drug use in the past 6 months; as such, data missing due to those lost to follow-up was not missing entirely at random and may conceivably have affected the results. Ultimately, attrition, illness, and mortality factors that limited study participation at follow-up were not accounted for in the analyses. It is recognized that the results could, therefore, potentially be biased in favor of those who survived and were healthy enough to participate at follow-up, although there was no indication that attrition was attributable to failing health. At the same time, overall retention of participants in the sample was excellent (79%), particularly given the traditionally hard-to-reach nature of the population of interest, and lost-to-follow-up analyses revealed no significant differences in any of the primary variables of interest.

Fifth, despite the relatively large overall sample size achieved, the size of certain groups was still small, limiting statistical power in some of the analyses where significance was approached but not reached. This was particularly true in the case of regressions on

suicidal ideation, the rate of which was relatively low. Caution must be used in interpreting these results, as such limited numbers result in unstable rate estimates and can easily underestimate or overestimate associations. Though statistical significance was not reached for several associations, one could infer that there may be a trend for possible statistical significance with a larger sample size. Overall, an even larger sample size would have been preferable to better ascertain the differential impacts of positive and negative dimensions of support and might yield more statistically significant results concerning the specific psychosocial correlates of depression and suicidal ideation in this population. Realistically, however, a larger sample size is difficult to achieve in such a cohort for both clinical and logistic reasons.

Finally, the sample was not nationally representative, so the question of whether the pattern of results observed here will generalize to broader samples remains. Although a relatively large number of participants from multiple NGO outreach networks across the Kathmandu Valley were surveyed, findings are specifically representative of PLWHA falling within the network of partnering NGOs. Because the sample was not random, the sample surveyed cannot be said to represent a target population of all PLWHA residing in the Kathmandu Valley and biases affecting generalizability of the findings to other study populations cannot be excluded. The results of this study are limited in their generalizability to the type of PLWHA who satisfied the selection criteria, and to those who were willing and able to complete the interviews at both time points. Importantly, the present sample contained only two non-heterosexual participants, although men who have sex with men represent an important risk group in the HIV epidemic nationally. Moreover, because a control group of HIV-negative individuals was not included, the relative burden of inadequate family support or experience of negative family interactions among PLWHA cannot be estimated. Moving forward, prospective, controlled studies in diverse national

samples of PLWHA will help to disentangle the complex pathways that may link the interaction effects of family support elements to developing and ongoing mental health issues in this population.

4.4. Methodological strengths

Notwithstanding such limitations, the present study has clear value in prospectively examining an underexplored area with important implications for policy and research at the intersection of HIV/AIDS and mental health and in its use of well-validated research measures. To our knowledge, this is the first study to report the distinct effects of a set of perceived family support items – encompassing both positive and negative facets – on both depression and suicidal ideation among PLWHA in Nepal or elsewhere. The findings have strong implications for the development of targeted intervention and prevention efforts to address the heavy burden of psychological distress among PLWHA in such contexts. Critically, identified associations highlight the potential of programs to minimize the harmful psychological impacts of HIV-related stressors through enhancing perceptions of supportive family interactions while mitigating unsupportive ones.

Perhaps most notably, this study examined the influence of family support on depressive symptoms using two approaches – cross-sectional and longitudinal. The longitudinal approach allowed for examination of the association between the two variables of interest while also controlling for the additional effect of the baseline measure of depressive symptoms. Moreover, the prospective analytic approach allowed the present study to demonstrate not only the longitudinal correlation of perceived family support with depression, but also that changes in perceived family support exert prospective impacts on changes in and future-onset experiences of depression and suicidal ideation at 18-month follow-up. The consideration of temporal ordering thus allowed for a more complete and

rigorous exploration of whether perceived family support is actually a determining factor in the experience of depression and suicidal ideation among PLWHA. Establishing such temporal precedence by identifying features that predict future depression risk is especially relevant for the targeting of preventative intervention strategies.

4.5. Policy, practice, and research implications

4.5.1. Policy and practice implications

With the advent of and expansion of HAART, the entire course of HIV has been revolutionized, allowing further attention to issues around quality of life and psychosocial functioning. As such, concerns surrounding the physical and mental health consequences of a chronic illness become important outcome indicators, also inasmuch as they may impact illness management and clinical outcomes. Meanwhile, the expansion of HIV/AIDS treatment initiatives in LMICs provides an opportunity for integrating mental health care into these programs.^{10,339} Accordingly, the WHO recommends that attention to the psychosocial needs of PLWHA should be an integral part of HIV care.¹⁹² This includes assistance with employment, income, housing, informed decision-making, coping with illness and discrimination, and prevention and treatment of mild and serious mental health problems.¹⁹² In line with such recommendations, the present study supports the potential utility of specifically including psychosocial support in national guidelines for the management of HIV/AIDS, with existing family networks and the capacities of community-based NGOs presenting one potentially useful and non-cost-prohibitive avenue for bolstering such support.

This study is one of the first to examine dimensions of family support in the context of both depression and suicidal ideation among PLWHA in a developing Asian country.

Results add to the evidence from prior studies in other chronic disease-affected populations and further underline the high prevalence of depression and suicidal ideation in PLWHA and the importance of routine screening for comorbid psychiatric disorders. Most importantly, they underscore the importance of targeting perceived family support as a potentially modifiable factor influencing depressive symptoms and suicidality, as the quality of such relationships appears to be particularly important for successful psychological adaptation to life with HIV.

Accordingly, those involved in the care of PLWHA must understand the critical role of the wider social and family environment in mental health and should assess the family relationships of their clients. Efforts should be made as well to involve family members in HIV disease management as well as depression management. Findings further suggest that counseling and treatment teams should be especially aware of vulnerable periods in the course of HIV illness, particularly in the initial period, during which individuals may have greater need for support or be at greater risk for experiencing symptoms of mental illness.

In particular, the results of the present study suggest that psychosocial interventions that help PLWHA solicit or accept positive support from their families may facilitate psychological and, thereby, physiological adjustment to HIV, buffering over time against the potential detrimental impacts of such psychosocial stressors as negative family interactions. In this respect, emotional elements of support, such as feeling loved and cared for by family, appear to be especially important in alleviating symptoms of depression. Additionally, information about unsupportive family interactions (e.g., *feeling disliked or emotionally distant, feeling exploited*), which may be especially consequential in their immediate mental health impacts, can also be incorporated into preventative interventions for PLWHA, such as wellness and stress management programs. For example, PLWHA can learn specific communication skills for responding to unsupportive social interactions,

and can also learn other cognitive, affective, and behavioral strategies for reducing the adverse consequences of these interactions. Notably, individual, family, and couple's counseling as well as other mental health services are often well received and requested by PLWHA in low-income settings.³⁴⁰⁻³⁴²

Though the present research is not designed to assess a specific intervention strategy, with adaptation, existing psychosocial interventions may be usefully implemented to incorporate family support elements in multiple cultural settings. Cognitive behavioral stress management interventions, for example, have been shown to lower depression, increase perceived support, and enhance quality of life in PLWHA by changing the way individuals appraise stress, including social stress, and teaching interpersonal skills for assertively communicating concerns to others in their social network.³⁴³⁻³⁴⁵ Some evidence further suggests that those at risk for clinical depression and experiencing problems with family benefit from receiving a brief family intervention focused on reducing maladaptive social interactions.³⁴⁶ Similarly group interpersonal psychotherapy or psychoeducational interventions³⁴⁷⁻³⁵⁰ may present a low-cost intervention for PLWHA and those affected that does not require specialist mental health care providers to implement. Family relationship interventions might include, for example, methods to foster emotional expressiveness, reduce social isolation, prevent disease from dominating family life, help deal with loss, promote collaboration among family members, improve empathy, deal with stigma, reinforce developmental family roles, and resolve intra-family conflict.³⁵¹

At the same time, such psychosocial interventions must be multifaceted in light of other identified risk factors for psychological distress. Strengthening family support among PLWHA in Nepal and other LMICs cannot occur, for example, without also addressing the pervasive stigmatization and discrimination often associated with HIV in these contexts. Notably, some form of family education and counseling services appear to be provided through certain of the HIV/AIDS NGOs in Nepal already, but coverage is sparse and the evidence base inadequate.¹⁶⁹ Similarly, vocational counseling and support services to assist PLWHA in pursuing and sustaining gainful employment, along with integrated substance use treatment services may also be beneficial in working to achieve better mental health outcomes. At present, HIV/AIDS NGOs in Nepal are providing some services along such lines, but, again, coverage appears to be erratic.¹⁶⁹

In sum, using evidence from the current study, the following general package of family-focused interventions aiming to improve the psychological health of PLWHA in Nepal is recommended, to be incorporated into government-level policy guidelines and implemented primarily through community-based organizations:

- Services aimed at improving relationships and functioning of HIV/AIDS-affected families such as through social services or family therapy, with a particular emphasis on fostering emotionally supportive interactions and reducing emotionally unsupportive or exploitative interactions;
- Services aimed at improving the family-specific social skills and coping mechanisms of PLWHA such as through cognitive behavioral therapy, with the goal of improving perceptions of family support;
- Services aimed at reducing AIDS-related stigma (both within the family and more generally) such as through awareness-raising campaigns implemented at the government level and through NGOs; and
- Services aimed at integrating substance use treatment along with vocational training and support services into HIV care and treatment.

4.5.2. Directions for future research

In sum, the results of the present study provide a preliminary insight into the possible ways that both positive and negative aspects of family support may influence depression and suicidality among PLWHA, and pave the way for further exploration of the role of family relationships in this context. Namely, because perceived family support is a construct that can be assessed reliably and may play a role in the etiology and alleviation of depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation among PLWHA, findings underscore the need for increased research within community and clinical settings for optimizing individuals' levels of perceived family support. With greater knowledge of the relationships between psychosocial factors such as perceived family support and mental health among PLWHA, appropriate psychological treatment can be offered, and more effective clinical service delivery and national policies developed.

Findings imply that both positive and negative aspects of family support have a strong bearing on psychological distress among PLWHA in Nepal, highlighting mobilization of positive family support resources and mitigation of negative family interactions as a priority for future HIV research and policy work. Further research that differentiates between positive and negative experiences of family support is necessary to confirm present findings, and to give insight into how both dimensions of perceived family support may operate differently on mental health. Additionally, the measure of family support included in the present study assessed perceived support from family members collectively, and did not examine support from specific family members. Future research might fruitfully examine source-specific support from individual family members, as well as positive indicators of illness adjustment to see if similar patterns of results emerge. If prime providers of support could, for example, be identified, interventions to increase their involvement could be directed at these key family members. Moreover, on a translational
level, additional work examining the value and effectiveness of interventions aimed at reducing the occurrence and consequences of negative interactions among PLWHA and their family members is clearly needed. While a definite need for programs that seek to improve support from family has been identified, little research at this time has evaluated specific approaches in this direction.

The present study was designed to examine the impacts of positive and negative family interactions on negative affect outcomes among PLWHA. Positive affect, however, was not explored. It has been proposed that support may have a stronger effect on positive dimensions of well-being than on negative dimensions of well-being. The extension of the current study to incorporate such factors could thus help construct a more comprehensive understanding of the influences of support and strain processes in this context. Further, social support and social strain can both be considered multi-dimensional constructs, and researchers have suggested a number of different dimensions of support and strain. A logical extension of the current study would thus be to delineate the differential influence of specific dimensions of family support or strain. Considering possible contextual factors, such as certain types of stressors that may have distinct relationships to certain dimensions of support or strain may help to enhance understanding.

Another issue related to the results regarding the cross-domain buffering effects is how and under what circumstances positive family support perceptions might buffer the impacts of negative perceived family support. Conceptually, it is unclear whether, after suffering (or perceiving) negative family exchanges, the benefits of support are reaped – through the seeking of support from other family network members or via the simple perception of supportive others. This, too, is an empirical question for further study.

98

Conclusions

Using validated scales and longitudinal data, this study demonstrates that the burden of depression and suicidal ideation among PLWHA in the Kathmandu Valley of Nepal is heavy and related both concurrently and prospectively to perceived family support – inversely with positive family interactions and directly with negative family interactions. While a comparison of exact rates found by other studies is not possible, due to different sample populations and instruments used, identified levels of depression are comparable with those found by studies conducted with samples of HIV-positive or chronically ill adults in similar resource-deprived countries – consistently found to be elevated relative to general population prevalences. Specifically, participants who perceived more supportive family environments were likely to report lower levels of depression and suicidality, both immediately and after 18 months, than were their counterparts experiencing less supportive or actively *un*supportive interactions appeared to be especially important in terms of the mental health outcomes.

In summary, perceived family support has effects on the experience of depression and suicidality in PLWHA, both directly and via interactions between its sub-dimensions, with negative PFS having especially powerful effects on mental health in the immediate term but positive PFS appearing to mitigate such detrimental impacts over time. Although this expected pattern of results is conceptually similar to the prototypical stress buffering effect, the present study does not directly test the stress-buffering hypothesis. This qualification is due primarily to the uniqueness of the study population in that all participants are, in effect, chronically physically ill. Tests of the stress buffering effect typically use conventional measures of psychosocial stress (i.e., life events or daily

99

hassles) in a non-diseased population. The present research, however, extends upon stress buffering research by examining the association of perceived family support to the ongoing psychological adjustment of individuals living with HIV/AIDS – effectively a chronic physical illness.

Findings suggest that perceptions of interpersonal family dynamics play an important role in adjusting to life with HIV/AIDS and thus highlight a potentially modifiable source of both psychological resilience and stress. Particularly in contexts of limited mental health resources, developing innovative psychosocial interventions that incorporate family counseling and support elements as an integral component of HIV prevention, care, and treatment efforts may help to mitigate psychological distress and, thereby, realize improved quality of life and clinical outcomes among PLWHA in Nepal and similar settings. In particular, future programs should work with PLWHA to navigate the doubleedged sword of family support – minimizing, repairing, and preventing negative and potentially harmful family dynamics while creating, building, mobilizing, and maintaining positive family support structures to buffer against psychiatric comorbidities. Notably, the relatively low correlation between the two dimensions of family support measured in this study suggests that positive and negative family support are distinct constructs and not simply opposite poles on a single continuum. This, in turn, indicates the need for interventions in both areas of support, as an increase in one area will not necessarily imply a decrease in the other.

As the findings of the present study highlight the individual's cognitive appraisal of available support from family members rather than the actual receipt of such support, corresponding interventions to improve this variable might feasibly aim to enhance the effectiveness of family support networks by targeting both cognitive and behavioral barriers to rewarding interpersonal relationships. Though the present research has not

100

tested any such intervention and thus cannot recommend any specific measures in this direction, promising results from network enhancement interventions in other population have shown promising results, as discussed earlier. Through adaptation to focus on family and the specific cultural context of Nepal, such interventions might be expected to achieve similarly fruitful results if developed and implemented through the NGO service network utilized in the present study.

Given the identified correlates of perceived family support in the present study, such interventions would perhaps be rendered most impactful through focusing especially on female gender and low levels of education as risk factors for poor family support, and devoting special attention to those with high levels of internalized stigma. Coupled with this is a need for family- and community-level programs to decrease the stigma and discrimination experienced both within and outside of families, thus helping to foster an environment more conducive to positively supportive interactions. Given the association between internalized stigma and perceptions of family support identified in the present study, addressing the stigma felt by PLWHA from their family and surrounding communities might further contribute to improving experiences of family support and thus to alleviating the burden of depression and suicidal ideation in this population.

Acknowledgments

I would like to formally thank my thesis supervisors, Dr. Masamine Jimba and Dr. Krishna C. Poudel, for their invaluable support and guidance over the past five years – Dr. Jimba, my department chair, for his wise counsel and philosophical perspectives on public health and life in general; and Dr. Poudel for his astute analytical perspective, invaluable encouragement and mentorship, and incredibly generous investment of time and energy into me and my work, even from afar. Under their supervision and guidance, I obtained a solid foundation in conducting public health research and developed a keen interest and passion for the work. I would also like to acknowledge the contribution of others who have provided advice along the way, including Dr. Kalpana Poudel-Tandukar for her insightful analytic inputs and Dr. Kosuke Kashiwabara for his expert statistical consultation.

Special thanks to Dr. Basu Dev Pandey of the Everest International Clinic and Research Center in Nepal for his generous instrumental and logistical support in the field and to the wonderful staff at the five cooperating NGOs – Youth Vision, Sneha Samaj, Srijansil Mahila Samuha, SPARSHA Nepal, and Shakti Milan Samaj – for facilitating access to eligible participants and providing space for interviews. Their support was instrumental in achieving a high response rate and an overall smooth process. By the same token, I am grateful for the commitment of the team of trained interviewers who aided in the collection of data.

I am truly indebted to the 322 PLWHA who volunteered their time to take part in this survey. I extend my sincere gratitude to these individuals for their generous sharing of time experiences, and insights – for enduring hour-long interviews, for sharing their innermost thoughts, and for believing in the importance of this research. Their candid responses have

provided a precious window into lived experience of HIV in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal and illuminated promising paths for future strategies to improve HIV care and treatment.

This work was supported by funding from the University of Tokyo; by the Grant for Research on Global Health and Medicine (No. 21A-2) from the National Center for Global Health and Medicine; and by the Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists (B) (22790581) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science through the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan. I gratefully acknowledge the critical role of this grant.

On the academic home front, I would like to express my appreciation to my peers in the Department of Community and Global Health, whose friendship, support, and advice have enriched me greatly, both personally and academically. I also gratefully acknowledge the critical administrative support along the way of Ms. Ayako Yoshimura, Ms. Junko Kimura, Ms. Akiko Okazawa, Ms. Naoka Nagaya, Ms. Naoko Hashizume, and Ms. Takae Matsuzawa.

And finally, warmest thanks to family and friends both near and far, a constant source of emotional nourishment and perspective. I could not have completed this project without their love and support, both instrumental and emotional. In perfect alignment with the overarching message of this thesis, your support has ever been an immeasurably enriching, nourishing positive in my life and an indispensible element to my mental health and overall wellness.

"You can kiss your family and friends good-bye and put miles between you, but at the same time you carry them with you in your heart, your mind, your stomach, because you do not just live in a world but a world lives in you." -- Frederick Buechner

Works Referenced

- 1. Deeks SG, Lewin SR, Havlir DV. The end of AIDS: HIV infection as a chronic disease. *Lancet* 2013; 382(9903): 1525-33.
- 2. Wendelken L, Valcour V. HIV infection and aging: an emerging chronic medical illness. In: Yaffe K, ed. Chronic Medical Disease & Cognitive Aging: Toward a Healthy Body and Brain. New York: Oxford University Press; 2013: 251-68.
- World Health Organization (WHO), Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). Global HIV/AIDS Response: Epidemic Update and Health Sector Progress Towards Universal Access. Geneva: WHO, 2011.
- 4. Falster K, Choi JY, Donovan B, et al. AIDS-related and non-AIDS-related mortality in the Asia-Pacific region in the era of combination antiretroviral treatment. *AIDS* 2009; 23(17): 2323-36.
- 5. Ivers LC, Kendrick D, Doucette K. Efficacy of antiretroviral therapy programs in resource-poor settings: a meta-analysis of the published literature. *Clin Infect Dis* 2005; 41(2): 217-24.
- 6. Palella FJ, Baker RK, Moorman AC, et al. Mortality in the highly active antiretroviral therapy era: changing causes of death and disease in the HIV outpatient study. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2006; 43(1): 27-34.
- 7. Palella FJ, Delaney KM, Moorman AC, et al. Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection. HIV Outpatient Study Investigators. *N Engl J Med* 1998; 338(13): 853-60.
- Busby KK, Lytle S, Sajatovic M. Mental health comorbidity and HIV/AIDS. In: Loue S, ed. Mental Health Practitioner's Guide to HIV/AIDS. New York: Springer; 2013: 9-35.
- 9. Rabkin JG. HIV and depression: 2008 review and update. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2008; 5(4): 163-71.
- 10. Collins PY, Holman AR, Freeman MC, Patel V. What is the relevance of mental health to HIV/AIDS care and treatment programs in developing countries? A systematic review. *AIDS* 2006; 20(12): 1571-82.
- Catalan J, Harding R, Sibley E, Clucas C, Croome N, Sherr L. HIV infection and mental health: suicidal behaviour--systematic review. *Psychol Health Med* 2011; 16(5): 588-611.
- 12. Ciesla JA, Roberts JE. Meta-analysis of the relationship between HIV infection and risk for depressive disorders. *Am J Psychiatry* 2001; 158(5): 725-30.
- 13. Shirey KG. Suicide and HIV. Mental Health Practitioner's Guide to HIV. New York: Springer New York; 2013: 405-7.

- 14. Kalichman SC, Sikkema KJ. Psychological sequelae of HIV infection and AIDS: review of empirical findings. *Clin Psychol Rev* 1994; 14(7): 611-32.
- 15. Badiee J, Moore DJ, Atkinson JH, et al. Lifetime suicidal ideation and attempt are common among HIV+ individuals. *J Affect Disord* 2012; 136(3): 993-9.
- 16. Dubé B, Benton T, Cruess DG, Evans DL. Neuropsychiatric manifestations of HIV infection and AIDS. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* 2005; 30(4): 237-46.
- 17. Sherr L, Clucas C, Harding R, Sibley E, Catalan J. HIV and depression--a systematic review of interventions. *Psychol Health Med* 2011; 16(5): 493-527.
- Waraich P, Goldner EM, Somers JM, Hsu L. Prevalence and incidence studies of mood disorders: a systematic review of the literature. *Can J Psychiatry* 2004; 49(2): 124-38.
- 19. Keiser O, Spoerri A, Brinkhof MW, et al. Suicide in HIV-infected individuals and the general population in Switzerland, 1988-2008. *Am J Psychiatry* 2010; 167(2): 143-50.
- 20. Carrico AW, Johnson MO, Morin SF, et al. Correlates of suicidal ideation among HIV-positive persons. AIDS 2007; 21(9): 1199-203.
- 21. Rosenfeld B, Breitbart W, Gibson C, et al. Desire for hastened death among patients with advanced AIDS. *Psychosomatics* 2006; 47(6): 504-12.
- 22. Marzuk PM, Tierney H, Tardiff K, et al. Increased risk of suicide in persons with AIDS. *JAMA* 1988; 259(9): 1333-7.
- 23. Kelly B, Raphael B, Judd F, et al. Suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and HIV infection. *Psychosomatics* 1998; 39(5): 405-15.
- 24. Jin H, Hampton Atkinson J, Yu X, et al. Depression and suicidality in HIV/AIDS in China. J Affect Disord 2006; 94(1-3): 269-75.
- 25. Schlebusch L, Vawda N. HIV-infection as a self-reported risk factor for attempted suicide in South Africa. *Afr J Psychiatry (Johannesbg)* 2010; 13(4): 280-3.
- 26. Komiti A, Judd F, Grech P, et al. Suicidal behaviour in people with HIV/AIDS: a review. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2001; 35(6): 747-57.
- 27. Whiteford HA, Degenhardt L, Rehm J, et al. Global burden of disease attributable to mental and substance use disorders: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* 2013; 382(9904): 1576-86.
- 28. WHO. Suicide Prevention and Special Programmes. Geneva: WHO, 2011.
- 29. Wada N, Jacobson LP, Cohen M, French A, Phair J, Muñoz A. Cause-specific life expectancies after 35 years of age for human immunodeficiency syndrome-infected and human immunodeficiency syndrome-negative individuals followed simultaneously in long-term cohort studies, 1984-2008. *Am J Epidemiol* 2013; 177(2): 116-25.

- 30. Cook JA, Grey D, Burke J, et al. Depressive symptoms and AIDS-related mortality among a multisite cohort of HIV-positive women. *Am J Public Health* 2004; 94(7): 1133-40.
- 31. Ickovics JR, Hamburger ME, Vlahov D, et al. Mortality, CD4 cell count decline, and depressive symptoms among HIV-seropositive women: longitudinal analysis from the HIV Epidemiology Research Study. *JAMA* 2001; 285(11): 1466-74.
- 32. Leserman J. Role of depression, stress, and trauma in HIV disease progression. *Psychosom Med* 2008; 70(5): 539-45.
- 33. Leserman J, Jackson ED, Petitto JM, et al. Progression to AIDS: the effects of stress, depressive symptoms, and social support. *Psychosom Med* 1999; 61(3): 397-406.
- 34. Ironson G, O'Cleirigh C, Fletcher MA, et al. Psychosocial factors predict CD4 and viral load change in men and women with human immunodeficiency virus in the era of highly active antiretroviral treatment. *Psychosom Med* 2005; 67(6): 1013-21.
- 35. Schuster R, Bornovalova M, Hunt E. The influence of depression on the progression of HIV: direct and indirect effects. *Behav Modif* 2012; 36(2): 123-45.
- 36. Evans DL, Ten Have TR, Douglas SD, et al. Association of depression with viral load, CD8 T lymphocytes, and natural killer cells in women with HIV infection. *Am J Psychiatry* 2002; 159(10): 1752-9.
- 37. Gonzalez JS, Batchelder AW, Psaros C, Safren SA. Depression and HIV/AIDS treatment nonadherence: a review and meta-analysis. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2011; 58(2): 181-7.
- 38. Horberg MA, Silverberg MJ, Hurley LB, et al. Effects of depression and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor use on adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy and on clinical outcomes in HIV-infected patients. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2008; 47(3): 384-90.
- 39. Ryan K, Forehand R, Solomon S, Miller C. Depressive symptoms as a link between barriers to care and sexual risk behavior of HIV-infected individuals living in non-urban areas. *AIDS Care* 2008; 20(3): 331-6.
- 40. Williams CT, Latkin CA. The role of depressive symptoms in predicting sex with multiple and high-risk partners. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2005; 38(1): 69-73.
- 41. Musisi S, Wagner GJ, Ghosh-Dastidar B, Nakasujja N, Dickens A, Okello E. Depression and sexual risk behavior among clients about to start HIV antiretroviral therapy in Uganda. *Int J of STD AIDS* 2013; doi: 10.1177/0956462413495186.
- 42. Kalichman SC, Greenberg J, Abel GG. HIV-seropositive men who engage in highrisk sexual behaviour: psychological characteristics and implications for prevention. *AIDS Care* 1997; 9(4): 441-50.
- 43. Kalichman SC. Psychological and social correlates of high-risk sexual behaviour among men and women living with HIV/AIDS. *AIDS Care* 1999; 11(4): 415-27.

- 44. Meade CS, Sikkema KJ. HIV risk behavior among adults with severe mental illness: a systematic review. *Clin Psychol Rev* 2005; 25(4): 433-57.
- 45. McKinnon K, Cournos F, Herman R. HIV among people with chronic mental illness. *Psychiatr Q* 2002; 73(1): 17-31.
- 46. Hirsch MS, Conway B, D'Aquila RT, et al. Antiretroviral drug resistance testing in adults with HIV infection: implications for clinical management. International AIDS Society--USA Panel. *JAMA* 1998; 279(24): 1984-91.
- 47. Paterson DL, Swindells S, Mohr J, et al. Adherence to protease inhibitor therapy and outcomes in patients with HIV infection. *Ann Intern Med* 2000; 133(1): 21-30.
- 48. Ekstrand ML, Shet A, Chandy S, et al. Suboptimal adherence associated with virological failure and resistance mutations to first-line highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in Bangalore, India. *Int Health* 2011; 3(1): 27-34.
- 49. Vrijens B, Goetghebeur E, de Klerk E, Rode R, Mayer S, Urquhart J. Modelling the association between adherence and viral load in HIV-infected patients. *Stat Med* 2005; 24(17): 2719-31.
- 50. Pence BW. The impact of mental health and traumatic life experiences on antiretroviral treatment outcomes for people living with HIV/AIDS. *J Antimicrob Chemother* 2009; 63(4): 636-40.
- Mundt JC, Greist JH, Jefferson JW, Federico M, Mann JJ, Posner K. Prediction of suicidal behavior in clinical research by lifetime suicidal ideation and behavior ascertained by the electronic Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2013; 74(9): 887-93.
- 52. Treisman G, Angelino A. Interrelation between psychiatric disorders and the prevention and treatment of HIV infection. *Clin Infect Dis* 2007; 45 Suppl 4: S313-7.
- Meade CS, Kalichman SC, Stoff DM. Chapter 21: The role of psychiatric disorders in HIV transmission and prevention. In: Cohen MA, Gorman JM, eds. Comprehensive Textbook of AIDS Psychiatry. New York: Oxford University Press; 2008: 269-80.
- 54. Blashill AJ, Lassiter J, Wilson JM, Safren SA, Parsons JT. Mental health and substance use in the scale-up of HIV prevention. In: Eaton LA, Kalichman SC, eds. Biomedical Advances in HIV Prevention. New York: Springer; 2014: 139-59.
- 55. Mustanski B, Garofalo R, Herrick A, Donenberg G. Psychosocial health problems increase risk for HIV among urban young men who have sex with men: preliminary evidence of a syndemic in need of attention. *Ann Behav Med* 2007; 34(1): 37-45.
- 56. Singer MC, Erickson PI, Badiane L, et al. Syndemics, sex and the city: understanding sexually transmitted diseases in social and cultural context. *Soc Sci Med* 2006; 63(8): 2010-21.

- 57. Lau JT, Tsui HY, Ho SP, Wong E, Yang X. Prevalence of psychological problems and relationships with condom use and HIV prevention behaviors among Chinese female sex workers in Hong Kong. *AIDS Care* 2010; 22(6): 659-68.
- 58. Comulada WS, Rotheram-Borus MJ, Pequegnat W, et al. Relationships over time between mental health symptoms and transmission risk among persons living with HIV. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2010; 24(1): 109-18.
- 59. Kelly K, Freeman M, Nkomo N, Ntlabati P. The vicious circularity of mental health effects of HIV/AIDS: symptom and cause of poor responses to the epidemic. In: Møller V, Huschka D, eds. Quality of Life in the New Millennium: Advances in Quality-of-Life Studies, Theory and Research: Social Indicators Research Series; 2008.
- 60. Chandra PS, Desai G, Ranjan S. HIV & psychiatric disorders. *Indian J Med Res* 2005; 121(4): 451-67.
- 61. Jayarajan N, Chandra PS. HIV and mental health: An overview of research from India. *Indian J Psychiatry* 2010; 52(Suppl 1): S269-73.
- 62. Druss BG, Rosenheck RA. Mental disorders and access to medical care in the United States. *Am J Psychiatry* 1998; 155(12): 1775-7.
- 63. Ramirez-Avila L, Regan S, Giddy J, et al. Depressive symptoms and their impact on health-seeking behaviors in newly-diagnosed HIV-infected patients in Durban, South Africa. *AIDS Behav* 2012; 16(8): 2226-35.
- 64. Senn TE, Carey MP. HIV testing among individuals with a severe mental illness: review, suggestions for research, and clinical implications. *Psychol Med* 2009; 39(3): 355-63.
- 65. Chopra MP, Eranti SS, Chandra PS. HIV-related risk behaviors among psychiatric inpatients in India. *Psychiatr Serv* 1998; 49(6): 823-5.
- 66. Wright ER, Gayman M. Sexual networks and HIV risk of people with severe mental illness in institutional and community-based care. *AIDS Behav* 2005; 9(3): 341-53.
- 67. Tucker JS, Kanouse DE, Miu A, Koegel P, Sullivan G. HIV risk behaviors and their correlates among HIV-positive adults with serious mental illness. *AIDS Behav* 2003; 7(1): 29-40.
- 68. Stein MD, Solomon DA, Herman DS, Anderson BJ, Miller I. Depression severity and drug injection HIV risk behaviors. *Am J Psychiatry* 2003; 160(9): 1659-62.
- 69. Carey MP, Carey KB, Maisto SA, Gordon CM, Vanable PA. Prevalence and correlates of sexual activity and HIV-related risk behavior among psychiatric outpatients. *J Consult Clin Psychol* 2001; 69(5): 846-50.
- Otto-Salaj LL, Stevenson LY. Influence of psychiatric diagnoses and symptoms on HIV risk behavior in adults with serious mental illness. *AIDS Read* 2001; 11(4): 197-204, 6-8.

- Sagtani RA, Bhattarai S, Adhikari BR, Baral D, Yadav DK, Pokharel PK. Violence, HIV risk behaviour and depression among female sex workers of eastern Nepal. *BMJ Open* 2013; 3(6). doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002763.
- 72. Carey MP, Ravi V, Chandra PS, Desai A, Neal DJ. Prevalence of HIV, Hepatitis B, syphilis, and chlamydia among adults seeking treatment for a mental disorder in southern India. *AIDS Behav* 2007; 11(2): 289-97.
- 73. Gil F, Arranz P, Lianes P, Breitbart W. Physical symptoms and psychological distress among patients with HIV infection. *AIDS Patient Care* 1995; 9(1): 28-31.
- 74. Merlin JS, Cen L, Praestgaard A, et al. Pain and physical and psychological symptoms in ambulatory HIV patients in the current treatment era. *J Pain Symptom Manage* 2012; 43(3): 638-45.
- 75. van Servellen G, Aguirre MG. Symptoms, symptom management, and psychological morbidity among persons with HIV disease. *AIDS Patient Care* 1995; 9(3): 134-9.
- Belkin GS, Fleishman JA, Stein MD, Piette J, Mor V. Physical symptoms and depressive symptoms among individuals with HIV infection. *Psychosomatics* 1992; 33(4): 416-27.
- 77. Perkins DO, Leserman J, Stern RA, et al. Somatic symptoms and HIV infection: relationship to depressive symptoms and indicators of HIV disease. *Am J Psychiatry* 1995; 152(12): 1776-81.
- 78. Dafoe ME, Stewart KE. Pain and psychiatric disorders contribute independently to suicidal ideation in HIV-positive persons. *Arch Suicide Res* 2004; 8(3): 215-26.
- 79. Kaestner F, Anneken K, Mostert C, et al. Depression associated with antiretroviral drug therapy in HIV: case report and overview. *Int J STD AIDS* 2012; 23(6): e14-9.
- 80. Chen WT, Shiu CS, Yang JP, et al. Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) Side Effect Impacted on Quality of Life, and Depressive Symptomatology: A Mixed-Method Study. *J AIDS Clin Res* 2013; 4: 218.
- 81. Suvada J. Neuropathic and neurocongnitive complications of antiretroviral therapy among HIV-infected patients. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* 2013; 34(Suppl1): 5-11.
- 82. Siegel K, Schrimshaw EW. Stress, appraisal, and coping: a comparison of HIVinfected women in the pre-HAART and HAART eras. *J Psychosom Res* 2005; 58(3): 225-33.
- Khalife S, Soffer J, Cohen MA. Stigma of HIV and AIDS psychiatric aspects. In: Cohen MA, Goforth HW, Lux JZ, et al., eds. Handbook of AIDS Psychiatry. New York: Oxford University Press; 2010: 89-103.
- 84. Charles B, Jeyaseelan L, Pandian AK, Sam AE, Thenmozhi M, Jayaseelan V. Association between stigma, depression and quality of life of people living with HIV/AIDS (PLHA) in South India - a community based cross sectional study. *BMC Public Health* 2012; 12: 463. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-463.

- Li L, Lee SJ, Thammawijaya P, Jiraphongsa C, Rotheram-Borus MJ. Stigma, social support, and depression among people living with HIV in Thailand. *AIDS Care* 2009; 21(8): 1007-13.
- 86. Simbayi LC, Kalichman S, Strebel A, Cloete A, Henda N, Mqeketo A. Internalized stigma, discrimination, and depression among men and women living with HIV/AIDS in Cape Town, South Africa. *Soc Sci Med* 2007; 64(9): 1823-31.
- Kang E, Rapkin BD, DeAlmeida C. Are psychological consequences of stigma enduring or transitory? A longitudinal study of HIV stigma and distress among Asians and Pacific Islanders living with HIV illness. *AIDS Patient Care STDs* 2006; 20(10): 712-23.
- Demi A, Bakeman R, Sowell R, Moneyham L, Seals B. Suicidal thoughts of women with HIV infection: effect of stressors and moderating effects of family cohesion. J Fam Psychol 1998; 12(3): 344-53.
- 89. Jin C, Zhao G, Zhang F, Feng L, Wu N. The psychological status of HIV-positive people and their psychosocial experiences in eastern China. *HIV Med* 2010; 11(4): 253-9.
- 90. Schmitz MF, Crystal S. Social relations, coping, and psychological distress among persons with HIV/AIDS. *J App Soco Psych* 2000; 30(4): 665-85.
- 91. Thompson SC, Nanni C, Levine A. The stressors and stress of being HIV-positive. *AIDS Care* 1996; 8(1): 5-14.
- 92. Nightingale VR, Sher TG, Mattson M, Thilges S, Hansen NB. The effects of traumatic stressors and HIV-related trauma symptoms on health and health related quality of life. *AIDS Behav* 2011; 15(8): 1870-8.
- 93. Machtinger EL, Wilson TC, Haberer JE, Weiss DS. Psychological trauma and PTSD in HIV-positive women: a meta-analysis. *AIDS Behav* 2012; 16(8): 2091-100.
- 94. Sikkema KJ, Kochman A, DiFranceisco W, Kelly JA, Hoffmann RG. AIDS-related grief and coping with loss among HIV-positive men and women. *J Behav Med* 2003; 26(2): 165-81.
- 95. Jha CK, Plummer D, Bower R. Coping with HIV and dealing with the threat of impending death in Nepal. *Mortality* 2011; 16(1): 20-34.
- 96. Safren SA, Gershuny BS, Hendriksen E. Symptoms of posttraumatic stress and death anxiety in persons with HIV and medication adherence difficulties. *AIDS Patient Care STDs* 2003; 17(12): 657-64.
- 97. Hintze J, Templer DI, Cappelletty GG. Death depression and death anxiety in HIVinfected males. *Death Studies* 1993; 17(4): 333-41.
- 98. Lyon DE, Younger JB. Purpose in life and depressive symptoms in persons living with HIV disease. *J Nurs Scholarsh* 2001; 33(2): 129-33.

- Anderson M, Elam G, Gerver S, Solarin I, Fenton K, Easterbrook P. "It took a piece of me": initial responses to a positive HIV diagnosis by Caribbean people in the UK. *AIDS Care* 2010; 22(12): 1493-8.
- 100. Sitlhou H. Stigma and identity construction of people living with HIV/AIDS in Manipur. *J North East India Studies* 2012; 2(1): 53-62.
- 101. Schaefer SE, Coleman E. Shifts in meaning, purpose, and values following a diagnosis of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection among gay men. J Psychol Hum Sex 1992; 5(1-2): 13-29.
- 102. Heaton RK, Franklin DR, Ellis RJ, et al. HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders before and during the era of combination antiretroviral therapy: differences in rates, nature, and predictors. *J Neurovirol* 2011; 17(1): 3-16.
- 103. Robertson K, Liner J, Heaton R. Neuropsychological assessment of HIV-infected populations in international settings. *Neuropsychol Rev* 2009; 19(2): 232-49.
- 104. Spudich S. HIV and neurocognitive dysfunction. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2013; 10(3): 235-43.
- 105. Haddow LJ, Cartledge JD, Manji H. HIV and the brain: from AIDS to old age. *Clin Med* 2013; 13(Suppl 6): s24-s8.
- 106. Cysique LA, Brew BJ. Neuropsychological functioning and antiretroviral treatment in HIV/AIDS: a review. *Neuropsychol Rev* 2009; 19(2): 169-85.
- Spudich S, González-Scarano F. HIV-1-related central nervous system disease: current issues in pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 2012; 2(6): a007120.
- Clifford DB, Evans S, Yang Y, et al. Impact of efavirenz on neuropsychological performance and symptoms in HIV-infected individuals. *Ann Intern Med* 2005; 143(10): 714-21.
- 109. Lochet P, Peyrière H, Lotthé A, Mauboussin JM, Delmas B, Reynes J. Long-term assessment of neuropsychiatric adverse reactions associated with efavirenz. *HIV Med* 2003; 4(1): 62-6.
- 110. Puzantian T. Central nervous system adverse effects with efavirenz: case report and review. *Pharmacotherapy* 2002; 22(7): 930-3.
- 111. Muñoz-Moreno JA, Fumaz CR, Ferrer MJ, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptoms associated with efavirenz: prevalence, correlates, and management. A neurobehavioral review. *AIDS Rev* 2009; 11(2): 103-9.
- 112. Baldewicz TT, Leserman J, Silva SG, et al. Changes in neuropsychological functioning with progression of HIV-1 infection: results of an 8-year longitudinal investigation. *AIDS Behav* 2004; 8(3): 345-55.
- 113. Devlin KN, Gongvatana A, Clark US, et al. Neurocognitive effects of HIV, hepatitis C, and substance use history. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* 2012; 18(1): 68-78.

- 114. Parsons TD, Tucker KA, Hall CD, et al. Neurocognitive functioning and HAART in HIV and hepatitis C virus co-infection. *AIDS* 2006; 20(12): 1591-5.
- 115. Vivithanaporn P, Nelles K, DeBlock L, Newman SC, Gill MJ, Power C. Hepatitis C virus co-infection increases neurocognitive impairment severity and risk of death in treated HIV/AIDS. *J Neurol Sci* 2012; 312(1-2): 45-51.
- 116. Hilsabeck RC, Castellon SA, Hinkin CH. Neuropsychological aspects of coinfection with HIV and hepatitis C virus. *Clin Infect Dis* 2005; 41 Suppl 1: S38-44.
- 117. National Centre for AIDS and STD Control (NCASC). National Estimates of HIV Infections in Nepal 2012. Kathmandu: NCASC, 2012.
- 118. Eller LS, Mahat G. Psychological factors in Nepali former commercial sex workers with HIV. *J Nurs Scholarsh* 2003; 35(1): 53-60.
- 119. Shrestha S, Poudel KC, Poudel-Tandukar K, et al. Perceived Family Support and Depression among People Living with HIV/AIDS in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. J Int Assoc Physicians AIDS Care (Chic) 2012. doi: 10.1177/1545109712456741.
- 120. Agrawal H, Mourya R, Shrestha RK, Agrawal S. Quality of Life Among HIV Positive Individuals in Kathmandu Valley and Eastern Region of Nepal. *Kathmandu* Univ Med J (KUMJ) 2012; 10(40): 3-7.
- 121. Bruckner TA, Scheffler RM, Shen G, et al. The Mental Health Workforce Gap in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Needs-Based Approach. Geneva: WHO, 2011.
- 122. Wang PS, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, et al. Use of mental health services for anxiety, mood, and substance disorders in 17 countries in the WHO world mental health surveys. *Lancet* 2007; 370(9590): 841-50.
- 123. Patel V, Prince M. Global mental health: a new global health field comes of age. *JAMA* 2010; 303(19): 1976-7.
- 124. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). Human Development Report 2013. The Rise of the South: Human Progress in a Diverse World. New York: UNDP, 2013.
- 125. Regmi SK, Pokharei A, Ojha SP, Pradhan SN, Chapagain GNmhcpIRP. Nepal mental health country profile. *Int Rev Psychiatry* 2004; 16(1-2): 142-9.
- 126. WHO. Mental Health System in Nepal. Kathmandu: Ministry of Health and Population Nepal, 2006.
- 127. WHO, Ministry of Health Nepal. WHO-AIMS Report on Mental Health System in Nepal. Kathmandu: WHO, 2006.
- 128. Kohrt B, Perera E, Jordans M, et al. Psychosocial Support Model for Children Associated with Armed Forces and Armed Groups in Nepal. Kathmandu: Transcultural Psychosocial Organization, 2010.

- 129. Tsai JL, Chentsova-Dutton Y. Understanding depression across cultures. In: Gotlib IH, Hammen CL, eds. Handbook of Depression. New York: Guilford; 2002: 467-91.
- 130. Kohrt BA, Harper I. Navigating diagnoses: understanding mind-body relations, mental health, and stigma in Nepal. *Cult Med Psychiatr* 2008; 32(4): 462-91.
- 131. Lee EE, Farran CJ. Depression among Korean, Korean American, and Caucasian American family caregivers. *J Transcult Nurs* 2004; 15(1): 18-25.
- 132. Yeung A, Neault N, Sonawalla S, Howarth S, Fava M, Nierenberg AA. Screening for major depression in Asian-Americans: a comparison of the Beck and the Chinese Depression Inventory. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 2002; 105(4): 252-7.
- 133. Kohrt BA, Hruschka DJ. Nepali concepts of psychological trauma: the role of idioms of distress, ethnopsychology and ethnophysiology in alleviating suffering and preventing stigma. *Cult Med Psychiatr* 2010; 34(2): 322-52.
- 134. Pach A. Narrative constructions of madness in a Hindu village in Nepal. In: Skinner D, Pach III A, Holland D, eds. Selves in Time and Place: Identities, Experience, and History in Nepal. New York: Rowman & Littlefield; 1998: 111-28.
- 135. Jha C. Reconstructing the Self: A Nepalese Context of Living with Stigma, HIV and Marginality. Armidale: University of New England; 2006.
- 136. Jha CK, Madison J. Disparity in health care: HIV, stigma, and marginalization in Nepal. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2009; 12: 16. doi: 10.1186/1758-2652-12-16.
- 137. Neupane D, Khanal V, Sharma S, Aro AR. Perceived discrimination among people living with HIV in Nepal. *J Nepal Health Res Counc* 2012; 10(21): 136-40.
- 138. Family Health International. Women and HIV/AIDS: Experience and Consequences of Stigma and Discrimination-Nepal. Kathmandu: Family Health International, 2003.
- 139. Cohen S, Wills TA. Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychol Bull* 1985; 98(2): 310-57.
- 140. Cohen S, Underwood LG, Gottlieb BH. Social Support Measurement and Intervention: A Guide for Health and Social Scientists. New York: Oxford University Press; 2000.
- 141. Heitzmann CA, Kaplan RM. Assessment of methods for measuring social support. *Health Psychol* 1988; 7(1): 75-109.
- 142. House JS, Landis KR, Umberson D. Social relationships and health. *Science* 1988; 241(4865): 540-5.
- 143. Helgeson VS, Cohen S. Social support and adjustment to cancer: reconciling descriptive, correlational, and intervention research. *Health Psychol* 1996; 15(2): 135-48.

- Murrell SA, Norris FH, Chipley QT. Functional versus structural social support, desirable events, and positive affect in older adults. *Psychol Aging* 1992; 7(4): 562-70.
- 145. Thoits PA. Stress, coping, and social support processes: where are we? What next? *J Health Soc Behav* 1995; Spec No: 53-79.
- 146. Seeman TE, Syme SL. Social networks and coronary artery disease: a comparison of the structure and function of social relations as predictors of disease. *Psychosom Med* 1987; 49(4): 341-54.
- 147. McDowell TL, Serovich JM. The effect of perceived and actual social support on the mental health of HIV-positive persons. *AIDS Care* 2007; 19(10): 1223-9.
- 148. Baumeister RF, Leary MR. The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychol Bull* 1995; 117(3): 497-529.
- 149. Ryan RM, La Guardia JG, Solky-Butzel J, Chirkov VI, Kim Y. On the interpersonal regulation of emotions: emotional reliance across gender, relationships, and culture. *Pers Relationship* 2005; 12(1): 146-63.
- 150. Sarason IG, Sarason BR, Pierce GR. Anxiety, cognition interference, and performance. *J Soc Behav Pers* 1990; 5(2): 1-18.
- 151. Callaghan P, Morrissey J. Social support and health: a review. *J Adv Nurs* 1993; 18(2): 203-10.
- 152. House JS. Work Stress and Social Support. Reading: Addison-Wesley; 1981.
- 153. Bruhn JG, Philips BU. Measuring social support: a synthesis of current approaches. *J Behav Med* 1984; 7(2): 151-69.
- 154. Lin N. Conceptualizing social support. In: Lin N, Dean A, Ensel WM, eds. Social Support, Life Events, and Depression. Orlando: Academic Press; 1986: 17-30.
- 155. Cobb S. Presidential Address-1976. Social support as a moderator of life stress. *Psychosom Med* 1976; 38(5): 300-14.
- 156. Achat H, Kawachi I, Levine S, Berkey C, Coakley E, Colditz G. Social networks, stress and health-related quality of life. *Qual Life Res* 1998; 7(8): 735-50.
- 157. Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Layton JB. Social relationships and mortality risk: a metaanalytic review. *PLoS Med* 2010; 7(7): e1000316.
- 158. Lyyra TM, Heikkinen RL. Perceived social support and mortality in older people. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci* 2006; 61(3): S147-52.
- 159. Seeman TE. Health promoting effects of friends and family on health outcomes in older adults. *Am J Health Promot* 2000; 14(6): 362-70.
- 160. Seeman TE, McEwen BS. Impact of social environment characteristics on neuroendocrine regulation. *Psychosom Med* 1996; 58(5): 459-71.

- 161. Uchino BN. Social support and health: a review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes. *J Behav Med* 2006; 29(4): 377-87.
- 162. Penwell LM, Larkin KT. Social support and risk for cardiovascular disease and cancer: a qualitative review examining the role of inflammatory processes. *Health Psychol Rev* 2010; 4(1): doi: 10.1080/17437190903427546.
- 163. Jackson T. Relationships between perceived close social support and health practices within community samples of American women and men. J Psychol 2006; 140(3): 229-46.
- 164. DiMatteo MR. Social support and patient adherence to medical treatment: a metaanalysis. *Health Psychol* 2004; 23(2): 207-18.
- 165. Honda K, Kagawa-Singer M. Cognitive mediators linking social support networks to colorectal cancer screening adherence. *J Behav Med* 2006; 29(5): 449-60.
- 166. Gonzalez JS, Penedo FJ, Antoni MH, et al. Social support, positive states of mind, and HIV treatment adherence in men and women living with HIV/AIDS. *Health Psychol* 2004; 23(4): 413-8.
- Helgeson VS. Social support and quality of life. *Qual Life Res* 2003; 12 Suppl 1: 25-31.
- 168. Keyes CL, Michalec B, Kobau H, Zack MM, Simoes EJ. Social support and healthrelated quality of life among older adults. *MMWR* 2005; 54(17): 433-6.
- 169. Yamamoto SY. The relationship among perceived satisfaction from social support, hope and quality of life (QOL) of people living HIV/AIDS (PLWHA): a case study from Nepal. *Forum Int Dev Stud* 2011; 40: 233-57.
- 170. Bekele T, Rourke SB, Tucker R, et al. Direct and indirect effects of perceived social support on health-related quality of life in persons living with HIV/AIDS. *AIDS Care* 2013; 25(3): 337-46.
- 171. Soykan A, Arapaslan B, Kumbasar H. Suicidal behavior, satisfaction with life, and perceived social support in end-stage renal disease. *Transplant Proc* 2003; 35(4): 1290-1.
- 172. Maulik PK, Eaton WW, Bradshaw CP. The effect of social networks and social support on common mental disorders following specific life events. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 2010; 122(2): 118-28.
- 173. Panagioti M, Gooding PA, Taylor PJ, Tarrier N. Perceived social support buffers the impact of PTSD symptoms on suicidal behavior: Implications into suicide resilience research. *Compr Psychiatry* 2014; 55(1): 104-12.
- 174. Gülpek D, Bolat E, Mete L, Arici S, Celebisoy M. Psychiatric comorbidity, quality of life and social support in epileptic patients. *Nord J Psychiatry* 2011; 65(6): 373-80.

- 175. Holahan CJ, Moos RH, Holahan CK, Brennan PL. Social context, coping strategies, and depressive symptoms: an expanded model with cardiac patients. *J Pers Soc Psychol* 1997; 72(4): 918-28.
- 176. Cohen S, Doyle WJ, Skoner DP, Rabin BS, Gwaltney JM. Social ties and susceptibility to the common cold. *JAMA* 1997; 277(24): 1940-4.
- 177. Corrigan PW, Phelan SM. Social support and recovery in people with serious mental illnesses. *Community Ment Health J* 2004; 40(6): 513-23.
- Bisschop MI, Kriegsman DM, Beekman AT, Deeg DJ. Chronic diseases and depression: the modifying role of psychosocial resources. *Soc Sci Med* 2004; 59(4): 721-33.
- 179. Patel SS, Peterson RA, Kimmel PL. The impact of social support on end-stage renal disease. *Semin Dial* 2005; 18(2): 98-102.
- Greenwood DC, Muir KR, Packham CJ, Madeley RJ. Coronary heart disease: a review of the role of psychosocial stress and social support. *J Public Health Med* 1996; 18(2): 221-31.
- 181. Gallant MP. The influence of social support on chronic illness self-management: a review and directions for research. *Health Educ Behav* 2003; 30(2): 170-95.
- 182. Uchino BN, Cacioppo JT, Kiecolt-Glaser JK. The relationship between social support and physiological processes: a review with emphasis on underlying mechanisms and implications for health. *Psychol Bull* 1996; 119(3): 488-531.
- 183. Uchino BN. Social Support and Physical Health: Understanding the Health Consequences of Relationships. New Haven, CT: Yale University; 2004.
- 184. Allgöwer A, Wardle J, Steptoe A. Depressive symptoms, social support, and personal health behaviors in young men and women. *Health Psychol* 2001; 20(3): 223-7.
- 185. Decker CL. Social support and adolescent cancer survivors: A review of the literature. *Psychooncology* 2007; 16(1): 1-11.
- 186. Barth J, Schneider S, von Känel R. Lack of social support in the etiology and the prognosis of coronary heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychosom Med* 2010; 72(3): 229-38.
- 187. Hudson AL, Lee KA, Miramontes H, Portillo CJ. Social interactions, perceived support, and level of distress in HIV-positive women. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care 2001; 12(4): 68-76.
- Serovich JM, Kimberly JA, Mosack KE, Lewis TL. The role of family and friend social support in reducing emotional distress among HIV-positive women. *AIDS Care* 2001; 13(3): 335-41.
- 189. Smith R, Rossetto K, Peterson BL. A meta-analysis of disclosure of one's HIVpositive status, stigma and social support. *AIDS Care* 2008; 20(10): 1266-75.

- 190. Vyavaharkar M, Moneyham L, Corwin S, Saunders R, Annang L, Tavakoli A. Relationships between stigma, social support, and depression in HIV-infected African American women living in the rural Southeastern United States. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care 2010; 21(2): 144-52.
- 191. Friedland J, Renwick R, McColl M. Coping and social support as determinants of quality of life in HIV/AIDS. *AIDS Care* 1996; 8(1): 15-31.
- 192. WHO. Psychosocial Support. 2013. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/psychosocial/support/en/print.html</u> (Accessed December 6, 2013).
- 193. Khamarko K, Myers JJ. The Influence of Social Support on the Lives of HIVinfected Individuals in Low- and Middle-Income Countries (WHO/HIV/2013.51). Geneva: WHO, 2013.
- 194. Adewuya AO, Afolabi MO, Ola BA, Ogundele OA, Ajibare AO, Oladipo BF. Psychiatric disorders among the HIV-positive population in Nigeria: a control study. *J Psychosom Res* 2007; 63(2): 203-6.
- 195. Nakimuli-Mpungu E, Musisi S, Katabira E, Nachega J, Bass J. Prevalence and factors associated with depressive disorders in an HIV+ rural patient population in southern Uganda. *J Affect Disord* 2011; 135(1-3): 160-7.
- 196. Rotheram-Borus MJ, Stein JA, Jiraphongsa C, Khumtong S, Lee SJ, Li L. Benefits of family and social relationships for Thai parents living with HIV. *Prev Sci* 2010; 11(3): 298-307.
- 197. Safren SA, Radomsky AS, Otto MW, Salomon E. Predictors of psychological wellbeing in a diverse sample of HIV-positive patients receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Psychosomatics* 2002; 43(6): 478-85.
- 198. Turner-Cobb JM, Gore-Felton C, Marouf F, et al. Coping, social support, and attachment style as psychosocial correlates of adjustment in men and women with HIV/AIDS. *J Behav Med* 2002; 25(4): 337-53.
- 199. Catz SL, Gore-Felton C, McClure JB. Psychological distress among minority and low-income women living with HIV. *Behav Med* 2002; 28(2): 53-60.
- 200. Hays RB, Turner H, Coates TJ. Social support, AIDS-related symptoms, and depression among gay men. *J Consult Clin Psychol* 1992; 60(3): 463-9.
- Shor E, Roelfs DJ, Yogev T. The strength of family ties: A meta-analysis and metaregression of self-reported social support and mortality. *Social Networks* 2013; 35(4): 626-38.
- Christensen AJ, Wiebe JS, Smith TW, Turner CW. Predictors of survival among hemodialysis patients: effect of perceived family support. *Health Psychol* 1994; 13(6): 521-5.

- 203. Primomo J, Yates BC, Woods NF. Social support for women during chronic illness: the relationship among sources and types to adjustment. *Res Nurs Health* 1990; 13(3): 153-61.
- 204. Indrayani NAR. The Relationship Between Family Support And Levels of Depression In Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease Who Undergo Hemodialysis Therapy in RSUP Sanglah Hospital Denpasar. *COPING* 2013; 1(1).
- 205. Baider L, Ever-Hadani P, Goldzweig G, Wygoda MR, Peretz T. Is perceived family support a relevant variable in psychological distress?. A sample of prostate and breast cancer couples. *J Psychosom Res 2003*; 55(5): 453-60.
- 206. Christensen AJ, Turner CW, Slaughter JR, Holman JM. Perceived family support as a moderator psychological well-being in end-stage renal disease. *J Behav Med* 1989; 12(3): 249-65.
- 207. Abram HS, Moore GL, Westervelt FB. Suicidal behavior in chronic dialysis patients. *Am J Psychiatry* 1971; 127(9): 1199-204.
- 208. Foster FG, McKegney FP. Small group dynamics and survival on chronic hemodialysis. *Int J Psychiatry Med* 1977; 8(2): 105-16.
- 209. Frumence G, Killewo J, Kwesigabo G, Nyström L, Eriksson M, Emmelin M. Social capital and the decline in HIV transmission A case study in three villages in the Kagera region of Tanzania. SAHARA J 2010; 7(3): 9-20.
- 210. Ware NC, Idoko J, Kaaya S, et al. Explaining adherence success in sub-Saharan Africa: an ethnographic study. *PLoS Med* 2009; 6(1): e11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000011
- 211. Ruehlman LS, Karoly P. With a little flak from my friends: development and preliminary validation of the test of negative social exchange (TENSE). *J Consult Clin Psych* 1991; 3(1): 97-104.
- Lincoln KD, Taylor RJ, Chatters LM. Correlates of emotional support and negative interaction among older Black Americans. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci* 2003; 58(4): S225-33.
- 213. Krause N. Negative interaction and heart disease in late life: exploring variations by socioeconomic status. *J Aging Health* 2005; 17(1): 28-55.
- Okun MA, Keith VM. Effects of positive and negative social exchanges with various sources on depressive symptoms in younger and older adults. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci* 1998; 53(1): P4-20.
- 215. Zlotnick C, Kohn R, Keitner G, Della Grotta SA. The relationship between quality of interpersonal relationships and major depressive disorder: findings from the National Comorbidity Survey. *J Affect Disord* 2000; 59(3): 205-15.
- 216. Lincoln KD, Chatters LM, Taylor RJ, Jackson JS. Profiles of depressive symptoms among African Americans and Caribbean Blacks. *Soc Sci Med* 2007; 65(2): 200-13.

- 217. Bertera EM. Mental health in U.S. adults: the role of positive social support and social negativity in personal relationships. *J Soc Pers Relat* 2005; 22: 33-48.
- 218. Newsom JT, Nishishiba M, Morgan DL, Rook KS. The relative importance of three domains of positive and negative social exchanges: a longitudinal model with comparable measures. *Psychol Aging* 2003; 18(4): 746-54.
- 219. Rook KS. The negative side of social interaction: impact on psychological wellbeing. *J Pers Soc Psychol* 1984; 46(5): 1097-108.
- 220. Seeman T, Chen X. Risk and protective factors for physical functioning in older adults with and without chronic conditions: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci* 2002; 57(3): S135-44.
- Tanne D, Goldbourt U, Medalie JH. Perceived family difficulties and prediction of 23-year stroke mortality among middle-aged men. *Cerebrovasc Dis* 2004; 18(4): 277-82.
- 222. Bolger N, DeLongis A, Kessler RC, Schilling EA. Effects of daily stress on negative mood. *J Pers Soc Psychol* 1989; 57(5): 808-18.
- 223. Zautra AJ, Burleson MH, Matt KS, Roth S, Burrows L. Interpersonal stress, depression, and disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis patients. *Health Psychol* 1994; 13(2): 139-48.
- 224. Ingram KM, Jones DA, Fass RJ, Neidig JL, Song YS. Social support and unsupportive social interactions: their association with depression among people living with HIV. *AIDS Care* 1999; 11(3): 313-29.
- 225. Schuster TL, Kessler RC, Aseltine RH. Supportive interactions, negative interactions, and depressed mood. *Am J Community Psychol* 1990; 18(3): 423-38.
- 226. Siegel K, Raveis VH, Karus D. Psychological well-being of gay men with AIDS: contribution of positive and negative illness-related network interactions to depressive mood. *Soc Sci Med* 1994; 39(11): 1555-63.
- 227. Vinokur AD, Price RH, Caplan RD. Hard times and hurtful partners: how financial strain affects depression and relationship satisfaction of unemployed persons and their spouses. *J Pers Soc Psychol* 1996; 71(1): 166-79.
- 228. Ingersoll-Dayton B, Morgan D, Antonucci T. The effects of positive and negative social exchange in aging adults. *J Gerontol Soc Sci* 1997; 52B: 5190-9.
- 229. Cranford JA. Stress-buffering or stress-exacerbation? Social support and social undermining as moderators of the relationship between perceived stress and depressive symptoms among married people. *Pers Relationship* 2004; 11(1): 23-40.
- 230. Rauktis ME, Koeske GF, Tereshko O. Negative social interactions, distress, and depression among those caring for a seriously and persistently mentally ill relative. *Am J Community Psychol* 1995; 23(2): 279-99.

- Walen HR, Lachman ME. Social support and strain from partner, family, and friends: costs and benefits for men and women in adulthood. *J Soc Pers Relat* 2000; 17(1): 5-30.
- 232. Li L, Wu Z, Wu S, Jia M, Lieber E, Lu Y. Impacts of HIV/AIDS Stigma on Family Identity and Interactions in China. *Fam Syst Health* 2008; 26(4): 431-42.
- 233. Emlet CA. An examination of the social networks and social isolation in older and younger adults living with HIV/AIDS. *Health Soc Work* 2006; 31(4): 299-308.
- 234. Sun H, Zhang J, Fu X. Psychological status, coping, and social support of people living with HIV/AIDS in central China. *Public Health Nurs* 2007; 24(2): 132-40.
- 235. Mavandadi S, Zanjani F, Ten Have TR, Oslin DW. Psychological well-being among individuals aging with HIV: the value of social relationships. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2009; 51(1): 91-8.
- 236. Mohanan P, Kamath A. Family support for reducing morbidity and mortality in people with HIV/AIDS. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009; (3): CD006046.
- 237. Kowalewski MR. Double stigma and boundary maintenance: how gay men deal with AIDS. *J Contemp Ethnogr* 1988; 17(2): 211-28.
- 238. Herek GM, Glunt EK. An epidemic of stigma. Public reactions to AIDS. *Am Psychol* 1988; 43(11): 886-91.
- 239. Miller D. HIV and social psychiatry. Br Med Bull 1988; 44(1): 130-48.
- Longo MB, Spross JA, Locke AM. Identifying major concerns of persons with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome: a replication. *Clin Nurse Spec* 1990; 4(1): 21-6.
- 241. Majumdar B. An exploration of socioeconomic, spiritual, and family support among HIV-positive women in India. *J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care* 2004; 15(3): 37-46.
- 242. Dyer TP, Stein JA, Rice E, Rotheram-Borus MJ. Predicting depression in mothers with and without HIV: the role of social support and family dynamics. *AIDS Behav* 2012; 16(8): 2198-208.
- Sarna L, van Servellen G, Padilla G. Comparison of emotional distress in men with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome and in men with cancer. *Appl Nurs Res* 1996; 9(4): 209-12.
- 244. Neaigus A, Friedman SR, Curtis R, et al. The relevance of drug injectors' social and risk networks for understanding and preventing HIV infection. Soc Sci Med 1994; 38(1): 67-78.
- 245. Reinhardt JP. Social support and well-being in later life: studying the negative with the positive. *Applied Development Science* 2001; 5(2): 66-7.

- 246. Jones DJ, Beach SR, Forehand R, Foster SE. Self-reported health in HIV-positive African American women: the role of family stress and depressive symptoms. *J Behav Med* 2003; 26(6): 577-99.
- 247. Rotheram-Borus MJ, Robin L, Reid HM, Draimin BH. Parent-adolescent conflict and stress when parents are living with AIDS. *Fam Process* 1998; 37(1): 83-94.
- 248. Semple SJ, Patterson TL, Temoshok LR, et al. Identification of psychobiological stressors among HIV-positive women. HIV Neurobehavioral Research Center (HNRC) Group. *Women Health* 1993; 20(4): 15-36.
- 249. Chandra PS, Deepthivarma S, Jairam KR, Thomas T. Relationship of psychological morbidity and quality of life to illness-related disclosure among HIV-infected persons. *J Psychosom Res* 2003; 54(3): 199-203.
- 250. Au A, Chan I, Li P, Chung R, Po LM, Yu P. Stress and health-related quality of life among HIV-infected persons in Hong Kong. *AIDS Behav* 2004; 8(2): 119-29.
- 251. Sun YH, Sun L, Wu HY, et al. Loneliness, social support and family function of people living with HIV/AIDS in Anhui rural area, China. *Int J STD AIDS* 2009; 20(4): 255-8.
- 252. Dyer AR, Elliott P, Shipley M. Urinary electrolyte excretion in 24 hours and blood pressure in the INTERSALT Study. II. Estimates of electrolyte-blood pressure associations corrected for regression dilution bias. The INTERSALT Cooperative Research Group. *Am J Epidemiol* 1994; 139(9): 940-51.
- Nazik E, Arslan S, Nazik H, et al. Determination of quality of life and their perceived social support from family of patients with HIV/AIDS. *Sex Disabil* 2013; 31(3): 264-74.
- 254. Mortazavi S. The Iranian family in a context of cultural diversity. In: Georgas J, J Wvan de Vijver, F J RKagitcibasi, CPoortinga, Y H, ed. Families Across Cultures: A 30-nation Psychological Study. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2006: 378-85.
- 255. Muramoto Y. Japan: tradition and change in the Japanese family. In: Georgas J, Berry JW, van de Vijver FJR, Kagitcibasi C, Poortinga YH, eds. Families Across Cultures: A 30-nation Psychological Study. New York: Cambridge University Press; 2006: 386-93.
- 256. Kim HS, Sherman DK, Taylor SE. Culture and social support. *Am Psychol* 2008; 63(6): 518-26.
- 257. Uchida Y, Kitayama S, Mesquita B, Reyes JA, Morling B. Is perceived emotional support beneficial? Well-being and health in independent and interdependent cultures. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull* 2008; 34(6): 741-54.
- 258. Taylor SE. Social support. In: Friedman HS, Silver RC, eds. Foundations of Health Psychology. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press; 2007: 145-71.

- 259. Markus HR, Kitayama S. Culture and the self: implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychol Rev* 1991; 98(2): 224-53.
- Suh E, Diener E, Oishi S, Triandis HC. The shifting basis of life satisfaction judgments across cultures: emotions versus norms. *J Pers Soc Psychol* 1998; 74(2): 482-93.
- Oyserman D, Coon HM, Kemmelmeier M. Rethinking individualism and collectivism: evaluation of theoretical assumptions and meta-analyses. *Psychol Bull* 2002; 128(1): 3-72.
- 262. Abe JA. Self-esteem, perception of relationships, and emotional distress: a crosscultural study. *Pers Relationship* 2004; 11(2): 231-47.
- 263. Hamdan-Mansour AM, Dawani HA. Social support and stress among university students in Jordan. *Int J Ment Health* 2008; 6(3): 442-450.
- 264. Amiya RM, Poudel KC, Poudel-Tandukar K, Kobayashi J, Pandey BD, Jimba M. Physicians are a key to encouraging cessation of smoking among people living with HIV/AIDS: a cross-sectional study in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. *BMC Public Health* 2011; 11: 677. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-677.
- 265. Poudel-Tandukar K, Poudel KC, Jimba M, Kobayashi J, Johnson CA, Palmer PH. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d levels and C-reactive protein in persons with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 2013; 29(3): 528-34.
- 266. Poudel KC, Palmer PH, Jimba M, Mizoue T, Kobayashi J, Poudel-Tandukar K. Coinfection of hepatitis C virus among HIV-positive people in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care 2013. doi: 10.1177/2325957413500989.
- 267. Bhatta SD, Sharma SK. The Determinants and Consequences of Chronic and Transient Poverty in Nepal (Working Paper 66). Manchester: Chronic Poverty Research Centre, 2006.
- 268. World Bank. Nepal at a glance. 2013 Available at: http://devdata.worldbank.org/AAG/npl_aag.pdf (Accessed December 5, 2013).
- NCASC. National estimates of HIV infections in Nepal 2012. Kathmandu: NCASC, 2012.
- Ministry of Health and Population. Nepal Country Progress Report 2012. Kathmandu: MOHP, 2012.
- 271. NCASC. National Estimates of HIV infections, Nepal. Kathmandu: NSASC, 2007.
- 272. Central Bureau of Statistics. Population Census 2011, Preliminary Results. Kathmandu: Central Bureau of Statistics Nepal, 2011.
- 273. X-rates.com. Historic lookup. Available at: <u>http://www.x-rates.com/cgi-bin/hlookup.cgi.</u> (Accessed January 7, 2011).

- 274. Solomon A, Haaga DA, Arnow BA. Is clinical depression distinct from subthreshold depressive symptoms? A review of the continuity issue in depression research. J Nerv Ment Dis 2001; 189(8): 498-506.
- 275. Kohrt BA, Kunz RD, Koirala NR, Sharma VD, Nepal MK. Validation of a Nepali version of the Beck Depression Inventory. *Nep J Psychiatry* 2002; 2(4): 123-30.
- 276. Kohrt BA, Speckman RA, Kunz RD, et al. Culture in psychiatric epidemiology: using ethnography and multiple mediator models to assess the relationship of caste with depression and anxiety in Nepal. *Ann Hum Biol* 2009; 36(3): 261-80.
- 277. Simoni JM, Wiebe JS, Sauceda JA, et al. A preliminary RCT of CBT-AD for adherence and depression among HIV-positive Latinos on the U.S.-Mexico border: the Nuevo Día study. *AIDS Behav* 2013; 17(8): 2816-29.
- 278. American Psychiatric Association (APA). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder (4th edn) (DSM-IV): APA; 1994.
- 279. Giltay EJ, Tishova YA, Mskhalaya GJ, Gooren LJ, Saad F, Kalinchenko SY. Effects of testosterone supplementation on depressive symptoms and sexual dysfunction in hypogonadal men with the metabolic syndrome. *J Sex Med* 2010; 7(7): 2572-82.
- 280. Klomek AB, Kleinman M, Altschuler E, Marrocco F, Amakawa L, Gould MS. Suicidal adolescents' experiences with bullying perpetration and victimization during high school as risk factors for later depression and suicidality. *J Adolesc Health* 2013; 53(1 Suppl): S37-42.
- Perry S, Jacobsberg L, Fishman B. Suicidal ideation and HIV testing. JAMA 1990; 263(5): 679-82.
- 282. Kohrt BA. Political Violence and Mental Health in Nepal: War in Context, Structural Violence, and the Erasure of History. Atlanta: Emory University; 2009.
- 283. House JS, Kahn RL, McLeod JD, Williams D. Measures and concepts of social support. In: Cohen S, Syme SL, eds. Social Support and Health. New York: Academic Press; 1985: 83-108.
- Sallis JF, Grossman RM, Pinski RB, Patterson TL, Nader PR. The development of scales to measure social support for diet and exercise behaviors. *Prev Med* 1987; 16(6): 825-36.
- 285. Kaiser H. A second generation Little Jiffy. Psychometrika 1970; 35: 401-15.
- 286. Kaiser H. An index of factorial simplicity. Psychometrika 1974; 39: 31-6.
- 287. Bartlett MS. A note on the multiplying factors for various chi square approximations. *J R Stat Soc Ser B Stat Methodol* 1954; 16: 296-8.
- 288. Catell RB. The scree test for number of factors. Multivar Behav Res 1966; 1: 245-76.
- 289. Thurstone LL. Multiple Factor Analysis. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 1947.

- 290. Consultation WE. Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies. *Lancet* 2004; 363(9403): 157-63.
- 291. Justice AC, Holmes W, Gifford AL, et al. Development and validation of a selfcompleted HIV symptom index. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2001; 54 Suppl 1: S77-90.
- 292. Justice AC, Rabeneck L, Hays RD, Wu AW, Bozzette SA. Sensitivity, specificity, reliability, and clinical validity of provider-reported symptoms: a comparison with self-reported symptoms. Outcomes Committee of the AIDS Clinical Trials Group. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1999; 21(2): 126-33.
- 293. Simbayi LC, Kalichman S, Strebel A, Cloete A, Henda N, Mqeketo A. Internalized stigma, discrimination, and depression among men and women living with HIV/AIDS in Cape Town, South Africa. Soc Sci Med 2007; 64(9): 1823-31.
- 294. Kalichman SC, Simbayi LC, Jooste S, et al. Development of a brief scale to measure AIDS-related stigma in South Africa. *AIDS Behav* 2005; 9(2): 135-43.
- 295. Steward WT, Herek GM, Ramakrishna J, et al. HIV-related stigma: adapting a theoretical framework for use in India. *Soc Sci Med* 2008; 67(8): 1225-35.
- 296. Greenland S. Modeling and variable selection in epidemiologic analysis. *Am J Public Health* 1989; 79(3): 340-9.
- 297. Greenland S, Neutra R. Control of confounding in the assessment of medical technology. *Int J Epidemiol* 1980; 9(4): 361-7.
- 298. Dales LG, Ury HK. An improper use of statistical significance testing in studying covariables. *Int J Epidemiol* 1978; 7(4): 373-5.
- 299. Babyak MA. What you see may not be what you get: a brief, nontechnical introduction to overfitting in regression-type models. *Psychosom Med* 2004; 66(3): 411-21.
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang AG. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav Res Methods* 2009; 41(4): 1149-60.
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum; 1988.
- 302. Kohrt BA, Speckman RA, Kunz RD, et al. Culture in psychiatric epidemiology: using ethnography and multiple mediator models to assess the relationship of caste with depression and anxiety in Nepal. *Ann Hum Biol* 2009; 36(3): 261-80.
- 303. Hiroe T, Kojima M, Yamamoto I, et al. Gradations of clinical severity and sensitivity to change assessed with the Beck Depression Inventory-II in Japanese patients with depression. *Psychiatry Res* 2005; 135(3): 229-35.
- 304. Lincoln KD. Social support, negative social interactions, and psychological wellbeing. *Soc Serv Rev* 2000; 74(2): 231-52.

- 305. Shacham E, Nurutdinova D, Satyanarayana V, Stamm K, Overton ET. Routine screening for depression: identifying a challenge for successful HIV care. AIDS Patient Care STDs 2009; 23(11): 949-55.
- 306. Cohen S. Psychosocial models of the role of social support in the etiology of physical disease. *Health Psychol* 1988; 7(3): 269-97.
- 307. Crystal S, Kersting RC. Stress, social support, and distress in a statewide population of persons with AIDS in New Jersey. *Soc Work Health Care* 1998; 28(1): 41-60.
- 308. Shippy RA. Taking care of each other. GMHC Treat Issues 2007; 21(2): 7-8.
- 309. Rosenberg M, McCullough BC. Mattering: inferred significance and mental health outcomes among adolescents. *Res Comm Mental Health* 1981; 2: 163-82.
- 310. Kaushik S, Arun P. Psychiatric morbidity and psychotherapeutic interventions in cancer survivors. *Journal of Mental Health and Human Behavior* 2010; 15(2): 77-87.
- 311. Milner A, Page A, LaMontagne AD. Long-term unemployment and suicide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* 2013; 8(1): e51333. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051333.
- 312. Rueda S, Raboud J, Mustard C, Bayoumi A, Lavis JN, Rourke SB. Employment status is associated with both physical and mental health quality of life in people living with HIV. *AIDS Care* 2011; 23(4): 435-43.
- 313. Jahoda M. Work, employment, and unemployment: values, theories, and approaches in social research. *Am Psychol* 1981; 36(2): 184-91.
- 314. Hesselius P. Does sick absence increase the risk of unemployment? J Socio-Economics 2007; 36(2): 288-310.
- 315. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. Substance Abuse and Suicide Prevention: Evidence and Implications - A White Paper. Rockville: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2008.
- 316. Blashill AJ, O'Cleirigh C, Mayer KH, Goshe BM, Safren SA. Body mass index, depression and sexual transmission risk behaviors among HIV-positive MSM. AIDS Behav 2012; 16(8): 2251-6.
- 317. Siddiqui J, Phillips AL, Freedland ES, Sklar AR, Darkow T, Harley CR. Prevalence and cost of HIV-associated weight loss in a managed care population. *Curr Med Res Opin* 2009; 25(5): 1307-17.
- 318. Tsai AC, Bangsberg DR, Frongillo EA, et al. Food insecurity, depression and the modifying role of social support among people living with HIV/AIDS in rural Uganda. Soc Sci Med 2012; 74(12): 2012-9.
- 319. Low-Beer S, Chan K, Wood E, et al. Health related quality of life among persons with HIV after the use of protease inhibitors. *Qual Life Res* 2000; 9(8): 941-9.

- 320. Muñoz M, Finnegan K, Zeladita J, et al. Community-based DOT-HAART accompaniment in an urban resource-poor setting. *AIDS Behav* 2010; 14(3): 721-30.
- 321. Nieuwkerk PT, Gisolf EH, Colebunders R, Wu AW, Danner SA, Sprangers MA. Quality of life in asymptomatic- and symptomatic HIV infected patients in a trial of ritonavir/saquinavir therapy. The Prometheus Study Group. *AIDS* 2000; 14(2): 181-7.
- 322. Rabkin JG, Ferrando SJ, Lin SH, Sewell M, McElhiney M. Psychological effects of HAART: a 2-year study. *Psychosom Med* 2000; 62(3): 413-22.
- 323. Nepal VP, Ross MW. Issues related to HIV stigma in Nepal. *Int J Sex Health* 2010; 22(1): 20-31.
- 324. Jorm AF. Does old age reduce the risk of anxiety and depression? A review of epidemiological studies across the adult life span. *Psychol Med* 2000; 30(1): 11-22.
- 325. Lepore SJ. Social conflict, social support, and psychological distress: evidence of cross-domain buffering effects. *J Pers Soc Psychol* 1992; 63(5): 857-67.
- 326. Hobfoll SE. Conservation of resources. A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *Am Psychol* 1989; 44(3): 513-24.
- 327. Bandura A. Social Foundations of Though and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall; 1986.
- 328. Culbertson FM. Depression and gender. An international review. *Am Psychol* 1997; 52(1): 25-31.
- 329. Sherr L, Clucas C, Lampe F, et al. Gender and mental health aspects of living with HIV disease and its longer-term outcomes for UK heterosexual patients. *Women Health* 2012; 52(3): 214-33.
- 330. Cederfjäll C, Langius-Eklöf A, Lidman K, Wredling R. Gender differences in perceived health-related quality of life among patients with HIV infection. AIDS Patient Care STDs 2001; 15(1): 31-9.
- 331. Moneyham L, Seals B, Demi A, Sowell R, Cohen L, Guillory J. Perceptions of stigma in women infected with HIV. *AIDS Patient Care STDs* 1996; 10(3): 162-7.
- 332. Hurdle DE. Social support: a critical factor in women's health and health promotion. *Health Soc Work* 2001; 26(2): 72-9.
- 333. Farmer P. Women, poverty, and AIDS. In: Farmer P, Connors M, Simmons J, eds. Women, Poverty and AIDS: Sex, Drugs, and Structural Violence. Monroe: Common Courage Press; 1996: 3-38.
- 334. Fincham F, Bradbury T. Social support in marriage: the role of social cognition. *J Soc Clin Psychol* 1990; 9(1): 31-42.
- 335. Folkman S, Lazarus RS, Dunkel-Schetter C, DeLongis A, Gruen RJ. Dynamics of a stressful encounter: cognitive appraisal, coping, and encounter outcomes. J Pers Soc Psychol 1986; 50(5): 992-1003.

- 336. Barrera M. Distinctions between social support concepts, measures, and models. *Am J Community Psychol* 1986; 14(4): 413-45.
- 337. Turner HA, Hays RB, Coates TJ. Determinants of social support among gay men: the context of AIDS. *J Health Soc Behav* 1993; 34(1): 37-53.
- 338. Wethington E, Kessler RC. Perceived support, received support, and adjustment to stressful life events. *J Health Soc Behav* 1986; 27(1): 78-89.
- 339. Freeman M, Patel V, Collins PY, Bertolote J. Integrating mental health in global initiatives for HIV/AIDS. *Br J Psychiatry* 2005; 187: 1-3.
- 340. Tostes MA, Chalub M, Botega NJ. The quality of life of HIV-infected women is associated with psychiatric morbidity. *AIDS Care* 2004; 16(2): 177-86.
- 341. Keogh P, Allen S, Almedal C, Temahagili B. The social impact of HIV infection on women in Kigali, Rwanda: a prospective study. *Soc Sci Med* 1994; 38(8): 1047-53.
- 342. Manopaiboon C, Shaffer N, Clark L, et al. Impact of HIV on families of HIVinfected women who have recently given birth, Bangkok, Thailand. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol* 1998; 18(1): 54-63.
- 343. Carrico AW, Antoni MH, Weaver KE, Lechner SC, Schneiderman N. Cognitivebehavioural stress management with HIV-positive homosexual men: mechanisms of sustained reductions in depressive symptoms. *Chronic Illn* 2005; 1(3): 207-15.
- 344. Cruess S, Antoni M, Cruess D, et al. Reductions in herpes simplex virus type 2 antibody titers after cognitive behavioral stress management and relationships with neuroendocrine function, relaxation skills, and social support in HIV-positive men. *Psychosom Med* 2000; 62(6): 828-37.
- 345. Lechner SC, Antoni MH, Lydston D, et al. Cognitive-behavioral interventions improve quality of life in women with AIDS. *J Psychosom Res* 2003; 54(3): 253-61.
- 346. Szapocznik J, Feaster DJ, Mitrani VB, et al. Structural ecosystems therapy for HIVseropositive African American women: effects on psychological distress, family hassles, and family support. *J Consult Clin Psychol* 2004; 72(2): 288-303.
- Chan I, Kong P, Leung P, et al. Cognitive-behavioral group program for Chinese heterosexual HIV-infected men in Hong Kong. *Patient Educ Couns* 2005; 56(1): 78-84.
- 348. Brand EF, Lakey B, Berman S. A preventive, psychoeducational approach to increase perceived social support. *Am J Community Psychol* 1995; 23(1): 117-35.
- 349. Smith Fawzi MC, Eustache E, Oswald C, et al. Psychosocial support intervention for HIV-affected families in Haiti: implications for programs and policies for orphans and vulnerable children. *Soc Sci Med* 2012; 74(10): 1494-503.
- 350. Li L, Ji G, Liang LJ, Ding Y, Tian J, Xiao Y. A multilevel intervention for HIVaffected families in China: Together for Empowerment Activities (TEA). *Soc Sci Med* 2011; 73(8): 1214-21.

351. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Health and Behavior: Research, Practice, and Policy. Individuals and families: models and interventions. In: Health and Behavior: The Interplay of Biological, Behavioral, and Societal Influences. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2001: 183-240.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Map of the study area



Appendix 2: Ethical approval from the Nepal Health Research Council

Nepal Health Research Council Estd. 1991 TD 1 NHRC December 11, 2009 Dr. Krishna Chandra Poudel Ref. No. 608 . STD Principal Investigator University of Tokyo, Japan. Approval of Research Proposal: "Healthy living Intervention among People living Ref: **Executive Committee** with HIV/AIDS in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal" Dear Dr. Poudel, **Executive Chairman** This is to inform you that the above mentioned proposal submitted by you has been approved by NHRC Ethical Review Board on 29 November 2009 (2066-8-14). This also Dr. Chop Lal Bhusal certifies that there is no ethical objection. As per NHRC regulation the investigator have to strictly follow the protocol stipulated in Vice - Chairman your proposal. Any changes in objective(s), problem statement, research question or Dr. Rishi Ram Koirala hypothesis, methodology, implementation procedure, date management and budget that may be necessary in course of the implementation of the research proposal can only be made so and implemented after prior approval from this council. Thus, it is compulsory to submit here the detail of such changes intended or desired with justification prior to Member-Secretary instituting actual change. Dr. Shanker Pratap Singh Further, the researchers are directed to strictly abide by the National Ethical Guidelines published by NHRC during the implementation of your research proposal. Members Lastly the researcher, as principal investigator is obliged to submit periodic progress report Dr. Narendra Kumar Singh every 3 months and there copies of the final research report with brief presentation of the Dr. Meeta Singh findings and the financial statement of expenditure if funded by NHRC. If an article based upon that research is likely to be published, you must take prior permission of NHRC if Dr. Suman Rijal funded for the same. Dr. Samjhana Dhakal As per your research proposal, your total research amount is US\$ 9,995.00 and NHRC processing fee is NRs. 7,429.00. Dr. Devi Gurung If you have any question, please contact our research officers. Representative Thanking you for your kind cooperation **Ministry of Finance** Sincerely yours, National Planning Commission **Ministry of Health & Population** Dr. Shanker Pratap Singh Chief, Research Committee, IOM Member-Secretary Chairman, Nepal Medical Council Tel. +977-1-4254220, 4227460, Fax: +977-1-4262469, Ramshah Path, P.O. Box 7626, Kathmandu, Nepal. Website: http://www.nhrc.org.np, Email: nhrc@healthnet.org.np

Appendix 3a: Information sheet for participants (English)

Study Information for Participants

Research title: Healthy Living Intervention Among People Living With HIV/AIDS in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal

Introduction:

This document explains the details of the above-written study, in which we are requesting your cooperation as a voluntary participant. Therefore, please read the following information carefully so that you are fully aware of the research process. If necessary, we may also read this sheet aloud to you. There may be some words in this text with which you are unfamiliar. If so, please feel free to ask about such words or anything else that may be unclear to you.

Objectives of the study:

The overall objective of this intervention study will be to a) improve the HIV-related knowledge, attitudes, and practices, including safer sexual behaviours, b) reduce the prevalence of sexually transmitted infections, and c) explore the health status, mental health status, nutritional status, and smoking status among the HIV -positive people in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal.

Research Methods:

If you decide to participate in this study, we will contact you 4 times over the next 1-year period. In the first contact (today), we will request roughly 60 minutes of your time. During that time, we will ask you several questions about yourself and your background, including basic sociodemographic characteristics, information pertaining to your HIV diagnosis and current antiretroviral (ARV) regimen, alcohol and drug use, and feelings about your life, physical condition, and emotional state.

We will ask a series of questions as detailed above and record your answers manually in a questionnaire. We will not record your name on the questionnaire. In place of personal identifying information, we will assign one identification code number to each participant. Thus, please be assured of the confidentiality of any information you may provide.

At the second contact, we will organize a 2-day training for you in a small group setting. You will have the opportunity to attend either a risk reduction training (contents: HIV/AIDS-related knowledge, superinfection, self-efficacy, social support, etc.) or health promotion training (contents: mental health, ART, smoking, etc.).

At the third contact, we will contact you approximately 6 months after the training and ask the same questions as before. However, we will not collect your blood and urine this time. Finally, we will contact you approximately 12 months after the training and ask you similar questions. We will also collect your blood and urine samples for the tests we have described above.

Possible risks:

Some of the questions that we will ask may cause you discomfort or make you hesitate to answer. You are free to skip such questions or to withdraw yourself entirely from participation in the study at any time.

Benefits:

The information obtained from you will help us to understand more about this important topic. We hope that such information will be useful to design specific interventions to improve the lives of people living with HIV/AIDS. Besides, you will have the opportunity to learn about various issues pertaining to HIV/AIDS during the 2-day training. We will provide you NRS 100 and snacks each time/day for your participation in the survey and 2-day training. We will give you the results of all of your blood and urine test results for free. We will also provide you with free treatment if you test positive for syphilis, chlamydia, or gonorrhoea.

Confidentiality:

All the information collected during the study will remain confidential. Data will be stored securely and will be made available only to the concerned persons. We will not record your name in the questionnaire. Instead, we will use an identification code for every participant. Thus, your name will not appear in any of the reports we write or publish out of this study.

Funding:

This study is financially supported by the University of Tokyo.

Withdrawal from participation in the research:

You are free to withdraw yourself from the research at any time. Moreover, you are free to decide whether or not to participate in this research in the first place. You have the right to disagree to participate in this study, and it is guaranteed, even after entering the study, that you may quit at any time without facing any penalty.

Voluntary agreement:

If you understand fully what this study involves and agree to participate, you are welcome to join as a participant. If you do not wish to participate, you are free to decline and need not provide any information nor put your signature on any part of this or any of the attached documents.

After reading and fully understanding the contents of this sheet, you are free to offer your decision regarding participation in this study. If you decide to participate, you may indicate your consent by putting your signature on the attached consent form.

Should you have any further questions, please contact the following persons:

- a) <u>Dr. Krishna C. Poudel, Rachel M. Amiya</u>, The University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan. Department of Community and Global Health, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo, 7-3-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan. Tel: 81-3-5841-3698; Fax: 81-3-5841-3422; email: <u>krishna@m.u-tokyo.ac.jp</u>, rachel.amiya@gmail.com
- b) <u>Dr. Basu Dev Pandey</u>, Sukraraj Tropical and Infectious Disease Hospital, Teku, Kathmandu, Tel: 4253395; e-mail: drbasupandey2003@yahoo.com
Appendix 3b: Information sheet for participants (Nepalese)

अध्ययन वारे जानकारी

<u>अध्ययनको शिर्षक</u>ः काठमाण्डौमा रहेका एच.आई.भी.तथा एड्स संक्रमित व्यक्तिहरुमा नियमित धुम्रपान र धुम्रपान त्याग्ने तत्पर्ता बारेको अध्ययन ।

परिचयः

यस लेखमा माथि उल्लेखित अध्ययनको वारेमा उल्लेख गरिएको छ । यहां हामी तपाईलाई यस अध्ययनमा स्वईच्छाले सहभागी भई सहयोग गरिदिनु हुनको लागि अनुरोध गरिरहेका छौ । त्यसकारणले तपाईलाई यो लेख राम्रोसग पढिदिनुहुनको लागि अनुरोध गर्दछौ । यदि तपाई पढ्न सक्नु हुन्न भने हामी नै यहा लेखिएका कुराहरु राम्ररी पढेर स्पष्ट पारिदिने छौ । यस लेखका कुनै शव्दहरु तपाईलाई वुभुन गाह्रो भएमा कृपया हामीलाई सोध्नुहोस। तपाईले नबुभोका वा अन्य कुनै पनि प्रश्न भएमा पनि हामी तपाईलाई प्रष्ट पारीदिनेछौ।

<u>अध्ययनको उद्देश्यः</u>

यस अध्ययनवाट हामीले काठमाण्डौमा रहेका एच.आई.भी.तथा एड्स संक्रमित व्यक्तिहरुमा १) धुम्रपानको प्रयोग र धुम्रपान गर्नुका कारणहरु पत्ता लगाउने २) चिकित्सकबाट दिइने धुम्रपान सम्बन्धी सल्लाह र सुफावहरुको नियमितताको आँकलन गर्ने ३) धुम्रपान छोड्न चिकित्सकबाट दिइने सल्लाह र सुफावहरुको प्रभाव पत्ता लगाउने लक्ष्य लिएका छौ ।

अध्ययनको प्रकृयाः

यदि तपाई यो अध्ययनमा सहभागी हुन मञ्जुर हुनुहुन्छ भने, हामी तपाईलाई जम्मा १ पटक सम्पर्क गर्ने छौं । सो सम्पर्क (आज) मा, हामी तपाईको ६० मिनेट लिने छौं । यो अवधिमा प्रश्नकर्ताले तपाईलाई व्यक्तिगत जीवन, तपाईको एच.आई.भी. सम्बन्धी केही जानकारीहरु, एच.आई.भी. संक्रमित प्रति हुने भेदभाव, तपाईको जीवन प्रतिको तपाईको धारणा, स्वास्थ्य सम्बन्धी समस्याहरु, औषधी सेवन, धुम्रपान र लागू औषधीको प्रयोगका बारेमा प्रश्नहरु गर्नुहुनेछ । हामी तपाईलाई प्रश्न सोध्ने छौं र तपाईको उत्तरलाई प्रश्नावलीमा टिप्ने छौं । तर हामी तपाईको नाम प्रश्नावलीमा लेख्ने छैनौं । हामी यसको लागि कोड नम्बरको प्रयोग गर्नेछौ । हामी तपाईलाई अन्य सहभागीहरुलाई जस्तै एउटा नम्बर दिनेछौ र प्रतिवेदनहरुमा यहि नम्बरको प्रयोग गर्नेछौं ।

सम्भाव्य खतराहरुः

हामीले सोध्ने केहि प्रश्नहरुको उत्तर दिन तपाईलाई केहि असजिलो लाग्न पनि सक्नेछ । तपाईलाई असजिलो लागेमा यस्ता प्रश्नहरुको उत्तर नदिन पनि सक्नुहुन्छ अथवा सम्पूर्ण अध्ययनवाट अलगिन पनि सक्नुहुनेछ ।

फाईदाहरुः

तपाईले दिनु भएको जानकारीबाट हामीलाइ यो विषयलाइ बुभ्तने अवसर मिल्नेछ । तपाईहरुले पुऱ्याउनु भएको सहयोगको कदर गर्दै सर्वेक्षण र तालिममा हामी तपाईहरुलाई रु १००/- (एक सय रुपियाँ मात्र) प्रति व्यक्ति प्रति दिन प्रदान गर्ने छौं साथै खाजाको पनि व्यवस्था गर्ने छौं ।

गोपनियताः

अध्ययनको कममा संकलन गरिएका संपूर्ण तथ्यांकहरु गोप्य राखिनेछन । यी तथ्यांकहरु अध्ययनमा संलग्न व्यक्तिहरु र अन्य सम्वन्धित व्यक्तिहरुले मात्र प्रयोग गर्नेछन । हामी सहभागीहरुसंग सम्वन्धित सवै प्रश्नावलीको नतिजा तयार गरीने कागजहरुमा कोड नम्वर नै प्रयोग गर्ने छौ । हामीले यस तथ्यांक प्रयोग गरी वनाउने वा छपाउने कुनैपनि प्रतिवेदनमा तपाईको नाम हुनेछैन ।

अध्ययनवाट हट्ने प्रावधानः

तपाईलाई यस अध्ययनमा भाग लिन मन नलागेमा भाग नलिन पनि सक्नुहुनेछ र भाग लिएर विचमा छोड्न मन लागेमा पनि कुनै पनि वेला छोड्न सक्नुहुनेछ । तपाईलाई यस अध्ययनमा सहभागी नहुने निर्णय गर्नको लागि पनि पूर्ण अधिकार छ। त्यसै गरी तपाई अध्ययनमा सहभागी भएर मन नपरेको खण्डमा कुनैपनि समयमा विनाकारण सहमती पत्र खारेज गरी यस अध्ययनबाट कुनै दण्ड जरिवना बिना नै सहभागीताबाट हट्न पनि सक्नुहुनेछ ।

कृपया यो अध्ययनको लागि तपाई सहमत हुनुहुन्छ भने मन्जुरीनामा पत्रमा दस्तखत गरीदिनुहोला ।

यदि तपाईंको केही प्रश्नहरु भएमा तलका व्यक्तिहरुलाई सम्पर्क गर्न सक्नु हुनेछ ।

9.) डा कृष्ण पौडेल, राचेल अमिया मारी, सामुदायिक तथा विश्व स्वास्थ्य विभाग, चिकित्सा संकाय, टोकियो विश्वविद्यालय, ठेगाना: ७–३–१ हंगो, बुन्क्यो कु, टोकियो ११३–००३३, जापान । फोन: ८१ ३ ४८४१ ३६८९ इमेल: <u>krishna@m.u-</u> tokyo.ac.jp, rachel.amiya@gmail.com

२) बासुदेव पाण्डे

शुकराज ढोपीकल तथा सरुवा रोग अस्पताल, टेकु, काठमाण्डौं, नेपाल । फोन: ४२५३३९५ इमेल: <u>drbasupandey2003@yahoo.com</u>

Appendix 4a: Informed consent form (English)

Informed Consent Form for Participants

To: The Dean of the Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo Research Title: Healthy Living Intervention Among People Living With HIV/AIDS in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal

I, Mr./Mrs./Ms., have agreed to participate in this research entitled "Healthy Living Intervention Among People Living With HIV/AIDS in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal" as a participant.

The procedures I agree to are as follows:

- a) Baseline survey: I will be asked questions by an interviewer questions about myself and my background, including basic sociodemographic characteristics, information pertaining to my HIV diagnosis and current antiretroviral (ARV) regimen, alcohol and drug use, and feelings about my life, physical condition, and emotional state. I will also be asked for blood and urine samples. The samples will be examined for syphilis, herpes, gonorrhoea, chlamydia, hepatitis C virus, CD4 cell count, haemoglobin, cholesterol, triglyceride, ALT/SGPT, and C-reactive protein. I will receive the results of my blood and urine tests. I will also receive free treatment if I am tested positive for syphilis, chlamydia, or gonorrhoea.
- b) Intervention: I will have an opportunity to attend a 2-day training: either a risk reduction training (contents: HIV/AIDS-related knowledge, superinfection, selfefficacy, social support, etc.) or a health promotion training (contents: mental health, ART, smoking, etc.).
- c) Post-intervention surveys: I will be contacted 6 month after the training and will be asked the same questions as before (baseline). Finally, I will be contacted again 12 months after the training and will be asked a similar set of questions as before. At this time, I will be also asked for blood and urine samples for the tests as before (baseline).

I give this consent voluntarily, after receiving a full explanation from the study team about confidentiality to protect my privacy (my rights will not be jeopardized) and the experimental procedure, including possible risks. I understand the potential benefits of the investigation for myself, for people living with HIV/AIDS, and for other community members. In addition, I understand that the data obtained in this study will be used in a manner consistent with the strict maintenance of confidentiality and personal rights.

Finally, I know that I can withdraw my consent and discontinue my participation at any time without facing any penalty.

Partic	ipant's i	identifying co	de:		Signature:
Witne	ss name				. Signature:
Name	of the p	person who ob	tained consent:		
Date:	Year:		Month:	Day: .	

Appendix 4b: Informed consent form (Nepalese)

मञ्जुरीनामा पत्र

श्रीमान डीन ज्यु,

चिकित्सा शास्त्र संकाय

टोकियो विश्वविद्यालय

अध्ययनको विषय: काठमाण्डौमा रहेका एच.आई.भी.तथा एड्स संक्रमित व्यक्तिहरुमा नियमित धुम्रपान र धुम्रपान त्याग्ने तत्पर्ता बारेको अध्ययन

सर्वेक्षण: मलाई प्रश्नकर्तावाट मेरो व्यक्तिगत जीवन, मेरो जीवन प्रतिको मेरो धारणा, स्वास्थ्य सम्बन्धी समस्याहरु, एच.आई.भी.तथा एडस सम्बन्धि जानकारीहरु र धुम्रपान र लागु औषधीको प्रयोगका वारेमा प्रश्नहरु सोधिनेछ ।

यस अध्ययनमा सहभागी भएर मैले बताएका कुराहरु अनावश्यक ढंगले तोडमोड तथा व्याख्या नगरी गोपनियता पनि भंग गरिने छैन भन्ने कुरा तथा यस अध्ययनको तरीका र संभाव्य खतराहरुसमेत मलाई अनुसन्धानकर्ताहरुले वताईसकेपछि मैले यो मञ्जुरीनामा स्वइच्छाले दिएको छु। यस अध्ययनबाट एच.आई.भी.तथा एड्स संक्रमित व्यक्तिहरुलाई तथा समुदायकै लागि फाईदा हुन्छ भन्ने कुरा पनि मैले वुभोको छु। त्यसैगरी यस अध्ययनमा सहभागी भएर मैले बताएका कुराहरुको गोपनियता भंग नगरीकन र मेरो व्यक्तिगत अधिकारको ख्याल गरी प्रयोग गरिनेछ भन्ने कुरा पनि मैले वभोको छ।

अन्त्यमा, यदि मलाई मन नपरेको खण्डमा कुनैपनि समयमा विनाकारण यो सहमती पत्र खारेज गरी यस अध्ययनबाट कुनै दण्ड जरिवना बिना नै सहभागीताबाट हट्न पनि सक्नेछु भन्ने कुरा पनि मलाई राम्रोसंग थाहा छ।

सहभागीको कोड नं.:	हस्ताक्षर :
साक्षीको नाम:	हस्ताक्षरः
मञ्जुरीनामा लिने व्यक्तिको नामः	
मिति :	

Appendix 5a: Study questionnaire (English)

Interview Questionnaire

Interviewer's name:	Respondent No:			
Date of interview:	Interview starting time:			
Interview ending time:	[Total time spent on interview:]			
[Checked by supervisor: Signature]	Date			
Background characteristics				
1. Marital status	(1) Married(2) Unmarried			

		(2) Unmarried
		(3) Divorced
		(4) Widowed
2.	What is your level of education?	(1) Illiterate
		(2) Informal education
		(months)
		(3) Literate
		(yrs of formal
		education)
		(4) Other (Specify:
)
3.	How much do you earn every month?	NRs
4.	How many family members are currently living with	
	you at your present residence?	persons
5	Have you disclosed your HIV status to any of the	(1) Yes
5.	family members?	(2) No
(De sur herre en ekildren?	(1) Yes (children)
0.	Do you have any children?	(2) No
7	How would you aloggify your sexual orientation?	(1) Heterosexual
/.	How would you classify your sexual orientation?	(2) Homosexual
		(3) Bisexual
HIV-re	lated information	
8.	When did you first come to know of your HIV-	
	positive status?	
	-	Year:Month:Day:
9.	Do you receive ART?	(1) Yes
		(2) No

10. When did you start taking ART?	Year:	Month:	Day:	
Perceived family support (Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale)				
11. How much does your family show love and caring for you?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
12. How much do you feel disliked by your family?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
13. How much do you feel you have an important role in your family?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
14. How much do you feel (emotionally) distant from your family?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
15. How much are you involved in family decision making?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
16. How much are your basic needs (food and clothes) met in your family?	(1) (4) (5) (6)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
17. How much support do you get from family when you are sick?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
18. How much has your family physically (beaten) hurt you?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
19. How much can you share your feelings with your family?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		
20. How much does your family exploit you (such as for labor in the house and/or farming)?	(0) (1) (2) (3)	Not at all Sometimes Often All the time		

HIV/AIDS Internalized Stigma Scale				
Please indicate whether or not you feel that the following statements apply to you.				
21. It is difficult to tell other peop infection.	le about my HIV	(1) Disagree(2) Agree		
22. Being HIV-positive makes me	feel dirty.	(1) Disagree(2) Agree		
23. I feel guilty that I am HIV-pos	itive.	(1) Disagree(2) Agree		
24. I am ashamed that I am HIV-p	ositive.	(1) Disagree(2) Agree		
25. It is my own fault that I am HI	V-positive.	(1) Disagree(2) Agree		
26. I hide my HIV status from oth	ers	(1) Disagree(2) Agree		
27. I sometimes feel worthless bec positive.	cause I am HIV-	(1) Disagree(2) Agree		
Substance use				
28. How often have you had a drink containing alcohol (a glass of beer, wine, a mixed drink, or any kind of alcoholic beverage) in the last 30 days?		 (1) Daily (2) 3 or 4 times a week (3) Once or twice a week (4) 2 or 3 times a month (5) Once a month (6) Never 		
29. Have you ever used injecting drugs in your lifetime?		(1) Yes (2) No		
30. Have you used injecting drugs	in the past 6 months?	(1) Yes (2) No		
31. Have you used marijuana in th	e past 6 months?	(1) Yes (2) No		
32. Have you used any other illicit drug in the past 6 months?		(3) Yes (Indicate:) (4) No		
Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) During the past two weeks, including today, have you been feeling				
33. Sadness?	 (0) I don't feel sad (1) I feel sad much of the time (2) I am sad all the time (3) I am so sad or unhappy that I can't stand it 			
34. Pessimism?(0) I am not discouraged about my future (1) I feel more discouraged about my future than I to be		uraged about my future couraged about my future than I used		

	(2) I do not expect things to work out for me
	(3) I feel that my future is hopeless and will only get
	worse
35 Past failure?	(0) I do not feel like a failure
33. Tast failure:	(1) I have failed more than I should have
	(2) As I look back, I see a lot of failures
	(3) I feel I am a total failure as a person
36 Loss of satisfaction?	(0) I am not particularly dissatisfied
30. Loss of satisfaction?	(1) I am often dissatisfied
	(2) I usually dissatisfied with most aspects of my life
	(3) I am dissatisfied with every single aspect of my life
37 Guilty feelings?	(0) I don't feel particularly guilty
57. Gunty reenings?	(1) I feel guilty over many things I have done or
	should have done
	(2) I feel quite guilty most of the time
	(3) I feel guilty all of the time
38 Dunishment feelings?	(0) I don't feel I am being punished
36. I unisiment reemigs?	(1) I feel I may be punished
	(2) I expect to be punished
	(3) I feel I am being punished
30 Salf dislika?	(0) I feel the same about myself as ever
57. Sen-distike?	(1) I have lost confidence in myself
	(2) I am disappointed in myself
	(3) I dislike myself
40 Self-criticalness?	(0) I don't criticize or blame myself more than usual
to. Sen enticuliess:	(1) I am more critical of myself than I used to be
	(2) I criticize myself for all my faults
	(3) I blame myself for everything bad that happens
41 . Suicidal thoughts or wishes?	(0) I don't have any thoughts of killing myself
(During the past 2 weeks	(1) I have thoughts of killing myself, but I would not
have you thought about	carry them out
ending your life?)	(2) I would like to kill myself
enanig your met)	(3) I would kill myself if I had the chance
42. Crying?	(0) I don't cry any more than I used to
i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	(1) I cry more than I used to
	(2) I cry over every little thing
	(3) I feel like crying, but I can't
43. Irritability?	(0) I am no more irritable than usual
	(1) I am more irritable than usual
	(2) I am much more irritable than usual
	(3) I am irritable all the time
44. Loss of interest?	(0) I have not lost interest in other people or activities
	(1) I am less interested in other people or things than
	before
	(2) I have lost most of my interest in other people or
	things

	(3) It's hard to get interested in anything
45 Indecisiveness?	(0) I make decisions about as well as ever
	(1) I find it more difficult to make decisions than usual
	(2) I have much greater difficulty in making decisions
	than I used to
	(3) I have trouble making any decisions
46. Body image?	(0) I don't feel I look any worse than I used to
	(1) I am worried that I am looking worse than I used to
	(2) I feel that I usually look unattractive
	(3) I feel that I am ugly or repulsive-looking
47. Work inhibition?	(0) I work as well as usual
	(1) I feel that I do not work as well as I used to
	(2) Working for me is very difficult
	(3) I cannot do any work at all
48. Change in sleeping pattern?	(0) I have not experienced any change in my sleeping
	pattern
	(1) I can't sleep as well as I used to
	(2) I wake earlier than I used to
	(3) I wake very early and it's impossible to fall back
	asleep
49. Weight loss?	(0) My weight has not changed
	(1) I have lost about 5 kilos
	(2) I have lost about 10 kilos
	(3) I have lost more than 15 kilos
50. Change in appetite?	(0) I have not experienced any change in my appetite
	(1) My appetite is somewhat less than usual
	(2) My appetite is much less than before
	(3) I have no appetite at all
51. Somatic preoccupation?	(0) I am no more worried about my health than usual
	(1) I am more concerned about my health than I used
	to be
	(2) I am so concerned about my health that it is hard to
	think about anything else
	(3) The only thing I can think about is my health and
	nothing else
52. Tiredness or fatigue?	(0) I am no more tired or fatigued than usual
	(1) I get tired or fatigued more easily than usual
	(2) I am too tired or fatigued to do a lot of the thing I
	(5) I am too ured or fatigued to do most of the things I
	(0) I have not noticed any recent sharped in my interest.
53. Loss of interest in sex?	in sov
	(1) I am loss interacted in one they I and to be
	(1) I am less interested in sex than I used to be

	(2) I am much less interested in sex now		
	(3) I have lost interest in sex completely		
HIV Symptom Index (HSI)			
The following questions ask about sy	mptoms you might have had during the past 4 weeks.		
Please indicate the one response that	best describes how much you have been bothered by each		
symptom.			
	(0) I don't have this problem		
54. Fever, chills, or sweats?	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have this problem and it bothers me a lot		
	(0) I don't have this problem		
55. Feeling dizzy or light-headed?	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me little		
	(3) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have this problem and it bothers me a lot		
56 Pain numbress or tingling in	(0) I don't have this problem		
hands or feet?	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
hands of feet.	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me little		
	(3) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have this problem and it bothers me a lot		
57. Trouble remembering?	(0) I don't have this problem		
	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me little		
	(3) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have this problem and it bothers me a lot		
58. Nausea or vomiting?	(0) I don't have this problem		
	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me little		
	(3) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have this problem and it bothers me a lot		
59. Diarrhea or loose bowel	(0) I don't have this problem		
movements?	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me little		
	(3) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have this problem and it bothers me a lot		
60. Skin problems, such as rash,	(0) I don't have this problem (1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
dryness, or itching?	(1) I have this problem and it betters ma little		
	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have this problem and it bothers me a lot		
	(0) I don't have this problem		
61. Cough or trouble catching you	(0) I don't have this problem and it does not bother me		
breatn?	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me little		

	(3) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me	
	(4) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me a lot	
62 Headache?	(0) I don't ha	we this problem	
	(1) I have thi	s problem and it does not bother me	
	(2) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me little	
	(3) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me	
	(4) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me a lot	
63. Bloating, pain, or gas in your	(0) I don't ha	ve this problem	
stomach?	(1) I have thi	s problem and it does not bother me	
	(2) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me little	
	(3) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me	
	(4) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me a lot	
64. Muscle aches or joint pain?	(0) I don't ha	we this problem	
J 1	(1) I have thi	s problem and it does not bother me	
	(2) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me little	
	(3) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me	
	(4) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me a lot	
65. Changes in the way your body	(0) I don't ha	we this problem	
looks, such as fat deposits or	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
weight gain?	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me little		
	(3) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have thi	s problem and it bothers me a lot	
66. Hair loss or changes in the way	(0) I don't have this problem		
your hair looks?	(1) I have this problem and it does not bother me		
	(2) I have this problem and it bothers me little		
	(3) I have this problem and it bothers me		
	(4) I have the	s problem and it bothers me a lot	
Suicidal ideation/attempts			
	1.0.0	(1) V	
6 7. Have you ever thought about endin	g your life?	(1) Yes	
(0 Hang man and the set of the 1 and 1 a		(2) INO (1) Vac	
oo. Have you ever attempted suicide?		$\begin{array}{c} (1) Y \in S \\ (2) N_2 \end{array}$	
		(2) NO	
browing you were UNV 2	uicide alter	umes	
knowing you were HIV+?			

Appendix 5b: Study questionnaire (Nepalese)

सहभागी नं

अन्तरवार्ताको लागि प्रश्नावली

अन्तरवार्ता लिने व्यक्तिको नाम :..... सहभागीको जिल्ला :

Background characteristics	
1. वैवाहिक स्थिती :	 (1) विवाहित (2) अविवाहित (3) पारपाचुके (4) विदुर
2. तपाईले कति पढ्नु भएको छ ?	 (1) निरक्षर (2) प्रौढ कक्षा: (महिना) (3) स्कूलको शिक्षा:(वर्ष) (4) अन्य (उल्लेख गर्ने)
 तपाईले एक महिनामा जम्मा कति रुपैयां कमाउनु हुन्छ ? 	रु
 तपाईं हाल बस्ने ठाउंमा तपाईंसंग तपाईको परिवारका सदस्यहरु कति जना बस्नुहुन्छ ? 	जना
 तपाई HIV संक्रमित भएको कुरा घरमा कसैलाइ बताउनु भएको छ ? 	(1) छ (2) छैन
 तपाईंको वच्चाबच्चीहरु छन्? 	 (1) छन (जना) (2) छैनन्
7. तपाई आफुलाई कस्तो प्रकारको यौनलिंगी भन्न मनपराउनुहुन्छ?	(1) विपरितलिंगी (2) समलिंगी (3) दुवेै समुहसग यौन संपर्क गर्ने
HIV-related information	
 तपाईले आफुलाई HIV भएको कहिले थाहा पाउनुभयो? 	सालः २०महिनाःगतेःगतेः
 HIV रोगको लागि तपाईले ART खाने गर्नु भएको छ ? 	(1) छ (2) छैन
10. तपाईले ART कहिले देखि खान थाल्नु भएको हो ?	सालगतेमहिनागते

Perceived family support (Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale)

पारिवारीक सहयोग

विगत १ वर्ष भित्रमा तपाईले निम्न लिखित कुराहरु कसरी महसुस गर्नु भएको छ कृपया बताइदिनु होला ।

11 तपार्टको परिवारबार तपार्टले कनिको प्राया/देरविचार	(0) पाएको छैन
गा. रागाइका नारवारवाट रागाइल काराका चावा/हराववार	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
12 तपाईको परिवारबाट तपाईले कत्तिको घणा/अपमान र	(0) पाएको छैन
भेदभाव भएको महशस गर्न भएको छ ?	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
13. परिवारमा तपाईको आफ्नो भूमिका कत्तिको छ जस्तो	(0) पाएको छैन
लाग्छ, ?	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
14. तपाई आफ्नो परिवारबाट कत्तिको तिरस्कृत (मन	(0) पाएको छैन
नपराउने, अपहेलना गर्ने, टाढा रहने) भएको महशुस	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
गर्नु हुन्छ ?	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
15. परिवारमा कुनै पनि कुराको निर्णय लिंदा तपाईलाई	(0) पाएको छैन
कत्तिको सोधखोज गरिन्छ ?	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
16. तपाईको परिवारमा तपाईले अन्य सदस्य सरह खाना	(0) पाएको छैन
खान पाउनु हुन्छ ?	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
17. तपाई बिरामी हुँदा परिवारको सदस्यबाट कत्तिको	(0) पाएको छैन
स्याहार पाउनु हुन्छ ?	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
18. तपाईको परिवारको सदस्यले तपाईलाई कत्तिको	(0) पाएको छैन
कुटपिट गर्नुहुन्छ ?	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
19. तपाई आफ्नो परिवारलाई मनको कुरा (खुसी, पिर,	(0) पाएको छैन
मर्का कत्तिको भन्नु हुन्छ ?	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु

	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु
20. तपाईको परिवारले तपाईलाई कत्तिको शोषण ((0) पाएको छैन
कामको बेला मात्र प्रयोग गर्ने, गरेको कामको जस	(1) अलिअलि पाएको छु
नदिने, बढी काम गराउने गरेको महशुस गर्नुहुन्छ ?	(2) चाहिने जति पाएको छु
	(3) एकदमै धेरै पाएको छु

HIV/AIDS Internalized Stigma Scale

तलका प्रश्नहरुमा तपाईं सहमत वा असहमत के हुनुहुन्छ बताइदिनु होस् ।

20. अरु व्यक्तिलाई आफु HIV संक्रमित भएको कुरा भन्न	(1) असहमत
गाह्रो हुन्छ ।	(2) सहमत
21.म HIVसंक्रमित भएको कारणले आफ् अपवित्र	(1) असहमत
भएको महसुस् हुन्छ ।	(2) सहमत
22. म नराम्रो महसुस गर्छ कि म HIVसंक्रमित छ ।	(1) असहमत
5 5 5	(2) सहमत
23. HIVसंक्रमित भएको कारणले म लज्जित छ ।	(1) असहमत
	(2) सहमत
24. आफ्नो गल्तिको कारणले म HIV संक्रमित भएँ ।	(1) असहमत
	(2) सहमत
25.म HIV संक्रमित भएको करा अरु संग लकाउँछ ।	(1) असहमत
, 5 5 5	(2) सहमत
26. म HIV संक्रमित भएको कारण कहिलेकाहीँ मेरो कनै	(1) असहमत
मुल्य छैन जस्तो महसुस हुन्छ।	(2) सहमत
Substance use	
28 तपाईंले बिगत ३० दिनमा कति पटक मादक	(1) दिन दिनै जसो

28. तपाईंले बिगत ३० दिनमा कति पटक मादक पदार्थ पिउनु भयो ?	 (1) दिन दिने जसो (2) हप्तामा ३-४ पटक (3) हप्तामा १-२ पटक (4) महिनामा २-३ पटक (5) महिनमा १ पटक (6) कहिले पनि पिइन
29. के तपाईंले आफ्नो जिवनमा अहिले सम्म सुइ	(1) थिएँ
मार्फत दिने लागु औषधि लागु प्रयोग गर्नु भयो ?	(2) थिइन
30. के तपाईंले सुइ मार्फत दिने लागु औषधि गत ६	(1) थिएँ
महिना भित्रमा प्रयोग गर्नु भयो ?	(2) थिइन
31. के तपाईंले गाँजा गत ६ महिना भित्रमा प्रयोग	(1) थिएँ
गर्नु भयो ?	(2) थिइन
32. के तपाईले ६ महिना अगाडि कुनै दुर्व्यसनीजन्य लागुपदार्थ सेवन गर्नुभएको थियो?	(1) थिए (खुलाउनुहोस)(2) थिइन

Beck Depression Inventory (BDI)			
कृपया ति लक्षणहरुले तपाईलाई गएको २ हप्तामा कत्तिको	पेरल्यो राम्ररी सोचेर जवाफ दिनु होला ।		
33. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाई कत्तिको उदास हुनुहुन्थ्यो ?	(1)कहिल्यै भईन (2)प्राय भएँ (3)सधैं जसो भएँ (4)असहय भएको थियो		
34. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाई कत्तिको निराश हुनु भयो ? (जस्तै आफ्नो भविष्यको बारेमा सम्भोर)	(1)कहिल्यै भईन (2)प्राय भएँ (3)सधैं जसो भएँ (4)असहय भएको थियो		
35. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाईलाई आफ्नो जिवनमा कत्तिको असफल भएजस्तो लाग्यो?	(1)कहिल्यै लागेन (2)प्राय लाग्यो (3)सधैं जसो लाग्यो (4)पूर्णरुपले असफल भए जस्तो लाग्यो		
36. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाई आफ्नो जिवन देखी कत्तिको असन्तुष्ट हुनुभयो ?	(1)कहिल्यै भईन (2)प्राय भएँ (3)सधैं जसो भएँ (4)जिवनको हरेक कुरामा असन्तुष्ट भएँ		
37. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाईले आफ्नो जिन्दगीको लागि आफुलाई कत्तिको दोषि ठान्नुभयो ?	(1)कहिल्यै ठानिन (2)प्राय ठानें (3)सधैं जसो ठानें (4)जिवनको हरेक कुरामा दोषि ठानें		
38. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाईले आफ्नो जिन्दगीमा कत्तिको दुख या सास्ति भोग्नु भयो ?	(1)कहिल्यै भोगिन (2)प्राय भोगें (3)सधैं जसो भोगें (4)जिवनको हरेक कुरामा सास्ति भोगें		
39. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाईलाई, आफुदेखी आफुलाई कत्तिको वाक्क लाग्यो ?	(1)कहिले लागेन (2)धेरैजसो लाग्यो (3)सधैं लाग्यो (4)आफुलाई नैं घृणा लाग्यो		
40. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाई आफ्नो गल्तिहरु प्रति कत्तिको जिम्मेवार हुनुभयो?	 (1) जिम्मेवार भईन (2) गल्ति र कमजोरीको लागि उत्तरदायी भएँ (3) कमजोरीहरुको निन्दा गरेको थिएँ (4) हरेक नराम्रा कुराप्रति जिम्मेवार भएँ 		
41. गएको दुई हप्तामा तपाईले आफुलाई कत्तिको हानी पुचाउन चाहनु भयो ?	 (1) आफुलाई कुनै पनि हानी पुचाउन चाहीन (2) हानी पुचाउन चाहें तर केही गर्न सकीन (3) म आफुलाई नै मार्न चाहन्थे (4) मैले मौका पाएको भए आत्महत्या गर्थे 		
42. गएको दुई हप्तामा कत्तिको रुनु भयो ?	(1) पाहल भन्दा बढी राइन (2) पहिले भन्दा बढी रोएँ		

п

	(3) हप्तै भरी रोएँ
	(4) चाहेर पनि रुन सकिनं
43 गाको दर्द राजाम जमर्दजार्द कविको भूको जामो?	(1) कहिले लागेन
45. गएका पुरु हर्शामा तपाइलाइ कालका मजक लाग्या!	(2) प्राय लाग्यो
	(3) सधैं जसो लाग्यो
	(4) असहय भएको थियो
	(1) हाँसखेल गर्न मन लाग्यो
44. गएका दुई हत्तामा तपाईलाई अरुसंग कात्तका	(2) पहिले जस्तो गर्न मन
हासखल गन मन लाग्या ?	(3) लागेन बोल्न पनि मन लागेन
	(4) कसैको कनै वास्ता राख्न मन लागेन
45 गणको दर्व वाचाण चणर्वचे शाहचो चित्रचण कविको	(1) सकें
45. गएका पुंच हर्शामा रापाइल जागूना जिवनमा काराका	(2) पहिले जस्तैसकीन
निणय लिन सक्नुभया ?	(3) निकै गाहो भयो
	(4) कनै पनि निर्णय लिन सकीन
	(1) पहिले भन्दा नरामो भर्डन
40. गएका दुइ हप्तामा तपाइलाइ, तपाइ आफु कात्तका	(2) म नरामो हँदै गडरहेको जस्तो लाग्यो
राम्रा भए जस्ता लाग्या ?	(2) म सधैं नरामो नैं भईरहे
	(4) म करुप वा घिन लाग्दो देखिएको थिएँ
	(1) पहिले जत्तिकै सकें
4/. गएका दुइ हप्तामा तपाइल कात्तका काम गन	(2) पहिले जस्तो सकीन
सक्नुभया ?	(2) एकदम गाहो भयो
	(4) केही पनि काम गर्न सकीन
	(1) पहिले जत्तिकै सतें
४४. गएका दुइ हप्तामा तपाइ कात्तका सुत्नु भया ?	(1) पहिले जस्तो सकीन
	(2) पहिले भन्दा अगाडी बिउँभिन्थें र
	निदाउन सकीन
	(4) एकदमै चाँदै बिजँभितन्थें र निदाइन
40 गणनो नर्न नानाम नगर्न उत्तिनो भारत भागे २	(1) थाकिन
49. गएका पुंच हर्णामा तपांच कातका याक्नु मया ?	(2) पहिला भन्दा बढी
	(3)जे गर्दा पनि थाक्दथें
	(4)एकदमै थाकेर केहि पनि गर्न सकीन
50 गाको दर्द दानाम नागर्दसार्द खाना कनिको कत्तीशमो	(1)पहिले जत्तिकै रुची भयो
. गएका पुंड हेर्सामा तपाइलाइ खाना कातका रुपामधा ,	(2) पहिले जति रुची भएन
!	(3)एकदमै कम रुची भयो
	(4)पटक्कै रुची भएन
51 गाको टर्ट टानाण नागर्टको नौच कचिको घरेको	(1)घटेको थिएन
51. गएका पुरु हर्यामा तपाइका ताल कातका घटका किन्नो २	(2) ४ के जी भन्दा बढी घटयो
1 थ या ?	(3) १० के जी भन्दा बढी घटयो
	(4)3.9% के जी भन्दा बढी घटयो
52 गाको हर्न हाताम तमर्मसार्न शास्त्री स्वार्थ्यको	(1) पहिला भन्दा बढी चिन्ता लागेन
32. गर्डका पुरु हरतामा तमाइलाइ जाग्गा त्यात्त्व्यका तित्त्व ततित्वते त्याणो १	(2) दखाई र पिडाले गर्दा चिन्तित थिएँ
ाचन्ता कात्तका लाग्या ?	(3) स्वास्थ्यको कारणले गर्दा अरु केहि
	सोचन सकीन
	(4) स्वास्थ्यको कारणले केही होश नैं भएन
53 गागको दर्द इप्तामा तपार्टले आफनो जिनन साशीको	(1) पहिला जत्तिकै सोचें
२३. पर्यत युर ७ सामा समाइल आपर्गा जिल्म साथापग 	(2) पहिला जत्तिकै सोचीन

बारेमा कत्तिको सोच्नु भयो ?	(3) त्यति वास्ता नैं भएन (4) वास्ता नैं भएन
HIV Symptom Index (HSI)	
54 ज्वरो आउने जाडो हने वा पसिना आउने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
55. रिंगटा लाग्ने वा टाउको हलका हने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
56. हात खट्टा भाम्भामाउने वा दख्ने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
57. सम्भन कठिनाइ हुने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
5	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
58. टाउको दुख्ने वा बान्ता आउने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
59. पखाला वा पातलो दिसा हुने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गदैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
60. उदास हुने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ

61 आत्तिने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
62 निदाउन कठिनाइ हने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
63. छालाको समस्या जस्तै रातो बिबिरा सख्खापन वा	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
, उ चिलाउने	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
64. खोकि वा स्वास फेर्न कठिनाइ	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
65. भोक नलाग्ने वा खानाको स्वादमा परिवर्तन	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
66. मांसपेशी वा र्जोनी दुख्ने	(0) मलाई यस्तो समस्या छैन
	(1) यसले असर गर्दैन
	(2) यसले अलि अलि असर गर्छ
	(3) यसले असर गछ
	(4) यसले धरै असर गछ
Suicidal ideation/attempts	
तपाई HIV पोजेटिभ हुनुभए पछि कहिल्यै यसरी सोच्नु भएको	े छ भने कृपया मलाई भन्नुहोसः
67 तपाईले आफ्नो जीवनको अन्त्य गर्ने भनेर	(1) सोचें
कहिल्यै सोच्नुभयो?	(2) सोचिन
68. तपाईले कहिल्यै आत्महत्या गर्ने कोशिस गर्नुभयो?	(1) गरें (2) गरीन
69. यदि हो भने, तपाईले आफ्नो HIV को बारेमा थाहा पाउनु भए पछि कति पटक कोशिस गर्नुभयो?	पटक

Appendix 6: Scree plot and table of unrotated loadings for principal components analysis with oblimin rotation of two-factor solution of Nepali Family Support and Difficulty Scale



Com	ponent	Matrix ^a
-----	--------	---------------------

	Compo	onent
	1	2
FS7: How much support when sick?	.798	.128
FS4: How much feel (emotionally) distant from family?	798	.228
FS1: How much does family show love and caring?	.774	.223
FS2: How much feel disliked by family?	769	.352
FS5: How much involved in family decision making?	.725	.339
FS3: How much feel have an important role in family?	.655	.306
FS6: How much basic needs met in family?	.645	089
FS9: How much can share feelings with family?	.608	.406
FS10: How much exploited by family?	502	.414
FS8: How much has family physically hurt you?	431	.581

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 2 components extracted.

Appendix 7: Reliability analysis of 7-item version of the AIDS Internalized Stigma Scale

Case Processing Summary			
		Ν	%
Cases	Valid	322	100.0
	Excluded ^a	0	.0
	Total	322	100.0

a. Listwise deletion based on all variables in the procedure.

Reliability Statistics

	Cronbach's	
	Alpha Based on	
Cronbach's	Standardized	
Alpha	Items	N of Items
.745	.743	7

Item Statistics					
	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν		
It is difficult to tell other people about my HIV infection	.69	.469	322		
Being HIV positive makes me feel dirty	.44	.497	322		
I feel guilty that I am HIV positive	.48	.500	322		
I am ashamed that I am HIV positive	.45	.498	322		
It is my own fault that I am HIV positive	.63	.483	322		
I hide my HIV status from others	.67	.471	322		
I sometimes feel worthless because I am HIV positive	.55	.498	322		

	It is difficult to	Being HIV	l feel	l am	It is my own	I hide my	I sometimes
	tell other people	positive	guilty that	ashamed	fault that I	HIV status	feel worthless
	about my HIV	makes me	I am HIV	that I am HIV	am HIV	from	because I am
	infection	feel dirty	positive	positive	positive	others	HIV positive
It is difficult to tell other	1.000	.329	.337	.404	063	.613	.277
people about my HIV							
infection							
Being HIV positive makes	.329	1.000	.590	.572	072	.343	.434
me feel dirty							
I feel guilty that I am HIV	.337	.590	1.000	.577	014	.366	.411
positive							
I am ashamed that I am	.404	.572	.577	1.000	049	.391	.457
HIV positive							
It is my own fault that I	063	072	014	049	1.000	030	016
am HIV positive							
I hide my HIV status from	.613	.343	.366	.391	030	1.000	.287
others							
I sometimes feel	.277	.434	.411	.457	016	.287	1.000
worthless because I am							
HIV positive							

Inter-Item Correlation Matrix

Item-Total Statistics

			Corrected Item-	Squared	Cronbach's
	Scale Mean if	Scale Variance	Total	Multiple	Alpha if Item
	Item Deleted	if Item Deleted	Correlation	Correlation	Deleted
It is difficult to tell other	3.22	3.524	.495	.412	.707
people about my HIV					
infection					
Being HIV positive makes	3.47	3.297	.593	.452	.683
me feel dirty					
I feel guilty that I am HIV	3.43	3.256	.614	.452	.677
positive					
I am ashamed that I am	3.47	3.222	.641	.472	.671
HIV positive					
It is my own fault that I am	3.28	4.496	056	.010	.817
HIV positive					
I hide my HIV status from	3.24	3.486	.516	.415	.702
others					
I sometimes feel worthless	3.36	3.465	.487	.271	.708
because I am HIV positive					

Scale Statistics

Mean	Variance	Std. Deviation	N of Items
3.91	4.615	2.148	7